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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For the year ended 31st March

HK$ million

Revenue

Gross profit

Operating profit

Profit for the year

Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic earnings per ordinary
share (HK cents)

Interim dividend per ordinary
share (HK cent(s))

Proposed final dividend per
ordinary share (HK cents)

Gross profit margin

Operating Profit margin

Net profit margin

ToN
EF
(R
o R F
ARFHA A
FE 33
515 BB AR A
GEAL)
515 AR P HAR
GEAL)
SR A
I B GBAL)
EFE
AR
FAHFIE

2023 2022
HK$ million

FHET FHET
2,658.5 2,807.9
352.0 339.7
180.8 157.0
82.2 63.4
82.8 65.5
12.94 10.22
1.00 1.50
1.50 1.50
13.2% 12.1%
6.8% 5.6%
3.1% 2.3%

-5.3%
+3.6%
+15.2%
+29.5%
+26.5%

+26.6%

-33.3%

N/A 73 A
+11pp ADE

+1.2pp AN
+0.8 p.p. BDE

BIREHZIA

® REVENUE BY LINES OF BUSINESS

> $5 R N TR

EEEM KL T

- Steels Distribution and Processing Business

== Building Products Distribution Business

== Property Investment and Fund Management Business
FHERE RESEEED
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated
financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the respective years as

AFNBHEE

AT REABEERARAR(ARTE ) REKE
RE)(BEIAEE DR TIRFREZREREEM
BMRMPE

hereunder stated.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Year ended Year ended Yearended Yearended Year ended
31st March  31st March ~ 31st March ~ 31st March ~ 31st March
2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-F —E-—F —E-hE
=A=t+-H | =A=t-8A =A=t+-8H =ZR=t-H
LEE LEE LEE HEE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
FET FAET FAET FET FAET
Revenue LON 2,658,481 2,807,900 2,073,632 2,325,031 2,882,605
Operating profit &R 180,778 156,992 96,000 4,812 74,268
Net finance costs FUBER (76,097) (61,436) (62,914) (78,400) (75,718)
Share of results of [iYepre F= YN
investments accounted for JIEEE
using equity method - net —FE (11,297) (12,550) (19,724) (12,947) 19,276
Profit/(loss) before FrPTSTUAT
income tax wH/ (ER) 93,384 83,006 13,362 (86,535) 17,826
Income tax expense BT i (11,201) (19,567) (9,539) (1,616) (13,447)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEN,/(BB) 82,183 63,439 3,823 (88,151) 4,379
Attributable to: e
- Owners of the Company S YNGIE =N 82,846 65,503 1,673 (90,309) 13,888
- Non-controlling interests — IEE I M R (663) (2,064) 2,150 2,158 (9,509)
82,183 63,439 3,823 (88,151) 4,379
Dividends &2 16,010 19,212 6,412 — 12,825
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LFEUHERE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF HREBBAR R R
FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2023 2022 2021
R-E-= R-ZB=Z= RoE=—&
=A=t-H =A=+-B =B=1+-H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,798,799 1,966,749 1,881,726 1,792,413 1,907,672
Current assets MEVEE 1,158,622 1,401,472 1,079,044 940,636 1,088,949
Current liabilities MEBE (1,713,835)  (1,374,122)  (1,065,294) (857,014)  (1,070,938)
Non-current liabilities FREEE (170,933) (879,871) (886,968) (959,267) (812,247)
Net assets BEFH 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768 1,113,436
Equity: R
Share capital A 64,041 64,041 64,123 64,123 64,123
Reserves B 897,108 926,794 823,598 741,722 926,223
Capital and reserves AREHEEBA
attributable to owners of [ R
the Company K 961,149 990,835 887,721 805,845 990,346
Non-controlling interests JEER s 111,504 123,393 120,787 110,923 123,090
Total equity e 1,072,653 1,114,228 1,008,508 916,768 1,113,436
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTEHMES

Road to sustainability with revamped
business model, improved execution,
and decreasing carbon footprint

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present you the audited consolidated results for the year
ended 31st March 2023 (the “Year”).

HETEXEBRIN - ES
a0 KRR i BE

ﬁ%‘%ﬁﬂﬁjﬁﬁ?‘ﬁ

4 Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

BiB K8

B2

BRR

AANERRESHABRARATLANEAA
(BB AEE D2 EFR((BER])  RARE
BE—2-=F=A=t+—ALFER(AFE])
EEIRE ZM -
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ETRMES

Fiscal year 2022/23 was once again a year filled with severe
macro headwinds. On the one hand, the rising geopolitical
tension and lingering COVID-19 have together created a
global supply chain chaos. That resulted in notable changes
in trading patterns, followed by high volatility in commodity
prices such as steel, which posed unwanted uncertainties to
our Steels Distribution and Processing Business. Meanwhile,
the rising interest rate and inflation environment have added
complexity to the problem, with doubts and conservatism
slowly growing into consumer pessimism and investor/
corporate hesitation in making investment/leasing decision,
affecting our Building Products Distribution Business, as well
as Property Investment and Fund Management Business.

Despite that, thanks to our dedication and expertise, we
were able to sufficiently manage the challenges. Although
there was a small drop in sales for our Steels Distribution
and Processing Business during the Year, we still see
a meaningful margin enhancement for the segment,
highlighting the effectiveness of our procurement strategy.
We also saw a growing adoption of offsite rebar fabrication
in Hong Kong, with our delivery quantity recording a 11.6%
growth year-on-year, giving us much optimism for the
future. For our Building Products Distribution Business,
we were able to maintain an adequate business level and
sales performance; and for our Property Investment and
Fund Management Business, we were able to leverage our
COVID-19 experience over the past three years, maintaining
operations and achieving a milestone in occupancy rate that
led to a satisfactory fee income during the Year. Overall,
the Group was able to report a net profit growth of 26.5%
year-on-year to HK$82.8 million during the Year. A lot of the
credit goes to the dedication and hard work of our team, and
the results may have simply validated our capabilities across
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

While we worked hard on the business end, we also
understand the growing expectation on corporate
sustainability. Hence, we completed all phases of solar
photovoltaic system installation for our automated rebar
processing and assembly plant in Tsing Yi in January 2023,
using it to cover approximately 70% of the plant’s electricity
consumption. In addition, our three commercial properties
under management, namely Central Park ¢ Pudong, Central
Park e Jing’an and Central Park e Huangpu, have also
been awarded LEED Gold and WELL Health-Safety Rating
certifications, capable of attracting new tenants and setting
the industry ESG standard of going forward.

Looking into next year, we believe there are ample room
and development opportunities particularly for our Steels
Distribution and Processing Business in Hong Kong. Across
both The Chief Executive's “2022 Policy Address” and
“2023-2024 Budget’, we saw a growing emphasis and
maturing plans to accelerate the development of Northern
Metropolis in the North, as well as the development of Kau Yi
Chau Artificial Islands in the South. Those two are expected
to come with a strong pipeline of infrastructure projects.
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In addition, the “2022 Policy Address” also pinpointed
road network and railway system enhancement as one of
the key infrastructure improvements, with projects such
as Northern Metropolis Highway, Shatin Bypass, TKO-
Yao Tong Tunnel, Hong Kong-Shenzhen Western Rail Link,
Central Rail Link and TKO Line Southern Extension all being
under consideration. In terms of housing supply, it is also
expected that total public housing supply will increase to
approximately 128,000 units in the next five years. After
all, our leading market position in Steels Distribution and
Processing Business in Hong Kong should allow us to
capture more project opportunities in the market, laying a
solid foundation for efficiency and margin enhancement from
our steel operations in the near future.

Besides, as Hong Kong has fully opened its border to the
world, we expect international travellers and economic
activities to return, with venues such as shopping centers,
hotels and conference centers being more incentivised to
invest and renovate on sanitary products. These should also
give us a strong market to tackle in the coming years for our
Building Products Distribution Business, and hopefully we
can have more positive news to share as the year goes by.

Lastly, regarding the Shanghai commercial property market,
we saw stabilising rent rate and recovery in demand in the first
quarter of 2023. Although the expected increase in short-term
office supply may put pressure on occupancy rate and rent
rates, supported by the gradual recovery of Mainland China’s
economy and the proven strategic advantage of Shanghai
being a commercial, financial and technology centre, we
remain confident in the economic development in the region,
as well as its demand of commercial and industrial properties
in the future. From recent figures, we continued to see a
strong rebound in occupancy rate of the hotel at Central Park
* Huangpu, reaching approximately 90% with average room
rate approaching pre-COVID levels, as business travel and
conferences and exhibitions continued to resume in Shanghai.
We believe this should offer us optimism as we march forward.

Over the last three years, we believe that we have learned,
grown, and matured as a team and as a company. There
is no doubt that the economy is evolving, but so as our
business model and daily operations which were able to
deliver sustainable growth. For that, we are grateful to our
business partners, staff and shareholders for their trust,
commitment and support. Going forward, we will focus on
the digitisation of the economy, as well as the use of Internet
of Things (loT) and energy-saving technologies, in order to
better serve our customer’s changing needs. We will continue
to take our business to new heights, and drive greater returns
for our shareholders and the greater community in the future.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2023

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETRMES
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Central Park ® Huangpu, a 53-storey building
located at Huangpu District, Shanghai

B « ERAERIBNAR AN LERFHR




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W RO

Expanding capability and improving

revenue mix to lay foundation
for future development

B W A& B I 38 IR 5
BED REERRER
ETREER

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

FY2022/23 (the “Year”) represents another challenging year
for the Group. During the first three quarters of the Year,
COVID-19 outbreak continued to trouble both Hong Kong
and Mainland China. Various geopolitical events, along
with surging inflation and climbing interest rates, have
also casted doubts over the region’s short-term economic
outlook, leading to a low lease absorption rate in Shanghai,
as well as a decreasing demand for new home renovation
and construction projects in the private sector in Hong
Kong. Luckily, the Year ended on a good note, as the Group
saw recovering momentum in Shanghai's leasing market,
as well as its Steels Distribution and Processing Business
in Hong Kong in the fourth quarter, supported by the
easing pandemic measures and the introduction of various
economic stimulus packages.

Under such challenging circumstances, the Group strives
to maintain a cost-effective steel sourcing mechanism,
enhances its steels processing efficiency, while refining its
leasing strategy and implementing various cost containment
measures. As a result, the Group was able to deliver
another set of satisfactory results for the Year. Revenue
decreased slightly by 5.3% year-on-year, from approximately
HK$2,807.9 million last year to approximately HK$2,658.5
million for the Year, mainly due to the difficult pandemic
situation and the high-base effect of last year. However,
gross profit increased from approximately HK$339.7
million to approximately HK$352.0 million, with gross
profit margin also slightly improved from 12.1% to 13.2%
for the Year. Riding on the increasing economies of scale
and improvement in operational leveraging, the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company reached
approximately HK$82.8 million, representing a notable
improvement of 26.5% as compared with the same period
last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWwNE D

Given the dynamic market situation, the Group’s business
segments also had varying performances during the Year.
Property Investment and Fund Management Business
achieved another milestone in occupancy rate of Central
Park ® Huangpu, which has resulted in an additional fee
income for the Year. The segment’s profit before income
tax also demonstrated a significant growth of 2.1 times as
compared to last year, reaching approximately HK$30.8
million for the Year. Meanwhile, delay in projects delivery
together with the interest rate hikes since the second half of
the Year have put notable pressure on the Group’s Steels
Distribution and Processing Business and Building Products
Distribution Business, resulting in a year-on-year drop of
4.8% and 25.7% in profits before income tax, respectively.
Despite that, these two business segments continued to
demonstrate their resilience, achieving profits before income
tax of approximately HK$84.1 million and HK$32.0 million,
respectively.

For the Year, basic earnings per ordinary share of the
Company was HK12.94 cents, as compared with HK10.22
cents in the same period last year.

The Group also made strides in achieving sustainability.
In particular, the Group’s Automated Rebar Processing
and Assembly Plant in Tsing Yi has completed all phases
of its solar photovoltaic system installation in January
2023, allowing it to cover approximately 70% of the plant’s
electricity consumption through renewable energy. In
addition, the three commercial properties under the Group'’s
management, namely Central Park e Huangpu, Central
Park e Jing’an and Central Park ® Pudong, have all been
awarded LEED GOLD and WELL Health-Safety Rating
certifications, highlighting the Group’s dedicated efforts in
providing green and healthy workspace for its tenants and
business partners.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENwR D

BUSINESS REVIEW
Steels Distribution and Processing Business

Steels Distribution and Processing Business mainly offers
construction and industrial steel in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. During the Year, the segment continued to face
challenges on various fronts. The COVID-19 outbreak in
Shanghai has weaken the demand for its industrial steels in
Mainland China, whereas the delay in construction projects
in Hong Kong has also led to a slow order fulfillment, leading
to a moderate drop in segment revenue from approximately
HK$2,317.1 million last Year, to approximately HK$2,221.3
million for the Year. Nevertheless, as there is an increasing
acceptance of offsite rebar fabrication in Hong Kong,
the delivery quantity of the Group’s construction steels
processing business has increased by 11.6% year-on-year.

Despite the high volatility in steel prices during the Year,
the Group continued to implement its proven procurement
strategy in managing the price risks and was able to record
an improvement in gross profit margin for the Year. That
laid a solid foundation for another set of good results, with
profit before income tax for the Year reaching approximately
HK$84.1 million, as compared to approximately HK$88.4
million in the same period last year. During the Year,
the Group has participated in a number of notable civil
infrastructures works and private projects, including the
construction of Shek Wu Hui Effluent Polishing Plant, public
housing projects in Kwun Tong and Ma On Shan, and private
residential projects in Siu Hong station, Tin Wing station and
Pak Shek Kok, etc.

¥ o RE
Mo R N T

MEOEE N T R EENEERPBEAERME
ERTERRAME - RAFE O BBEEEEZ )
EH B - 2019 MBE /N LBEE - Higg T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENwR DT

Building Products Distribution Business EEMBDHER

Building Products Distribution Business represents a  BEMHSHEER R EABREMLELTAIREE2E
comprehensive value proposition for architects and MEBESTER  BAKE % BWiE - #EEY
designers. It offers an extensive, well-designed, and popular ERHEEE2 RFENEEIEINREEAR
portfolio of branded sanitary wares, smart toilet solutions, as B B taFHEBRARTR  UREHREFEE®
well as fitting and kitchenware products, catering the needs HE - HBORERER - ©F R kElX
of hotels, residential, shopping malls, airport and commercial B2 SR o

buildings. It strives to provide full chain of services covering

design, installation, logistics and technical support.

Amidst the slump in residential property transactions in the B AN ERF EMEMR R - N EEFRAFE
Year, as well as the high base effect brought by certain large- TITHHETARAIAE ERR = ESRE - 259 B85
size projects being completed in the same period last year, the WA #3255 BB BT RBRASHANEFIX32.0 8
segment reported a profit before income tax of approximately 8T MAFRBMBALR393.78E8ETT -
HK$32.0 million, on revenue of approximately HK$325.5 million, BATEMAT RS MA B431 BEBIT « %D BNAK
as compared with a profit before income tax of approximately  FEARXNZEEFBZHMAR - EREESK
HK$43.1 million, on revenue of approximately HK$393.7 million % BEERBROBIE  NBOEE &AL 2 A &)
in the same period last year. Several iconic projects delivered FTTAR o

by the segment in the Year included the renovation work for

Hong Kong Airport, Island Shangri-la Hotel, InterContinental

Hotel and Millennium City in Hong Kong.

Property Investment and Fund Management Business EHERERESELEL

Positioned as a niche market specialist with a proven track EREAEFICREBREATERERITEL
record in asset revitalisation and value optimisation, the Group BHEIMISEER  ASEEEN LERFAE
continues to embrace its “asset-light” model when developing BEIRAREEMEER N_T_=F=H
its investment projects in Shanghai. As at 31st March 2023, =t+—B AEEEENAEEEE(ZEEE])
the Group manages a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of AR161 724 F K - EEEEEBEARIE
approximately 161,724 square meters, with its assets value B EERN (AT EEBE R - PHEE ¢ HE
under management reached approximately HK$9.1 billion. RAEE2ERE  BEEELAFEHSRMEE
Among the three Central Park projects under management, BEWA  TRARRBAERAAEBERT - A5H
Central Park ® Pudong is wholly-owned by the Group, with a MEREMNKREESEE  UEGHEATLEELYE
view to generating sustainable rental and property management BABAR SR ELBNGH  2EPBE o
fee income, as well as achieving fair value appreciation in the B RHBE « ERMEARE(IER -
medium-to-long term. The Group is also partnering with leading

investment funds for the other two revitalisation projects,

namely Central Park e Jing’an and Central Park ® Huangpu,

where the Group takes an equity stake and acts as a general

partner and/or investment manager.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB W&o

Our track record in Shanghai

EMRLBNRERESR

Lujiazui CBD
EREHREEE

O
e \PUAONG ot

LI SR e

-\-\"ﬂ.

BB Huangpu District SHERFHTE Pudong New District

BARKEEGSE
Office & Hotel Complex Office Building
e

R EE Changning District =51 EPEE Putuo District
e =

BERAE R=B—LEAAHE WAl R=B—LE= Al WAl R=F—mE= Bl
Disposed in September 2017 Office Building Disposed in March 2017 Office Building Disposed in March 2014

FZE& Jing'an District

Serviced Apartment

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&EAIERAR AR




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Looking back to the Year, even though the pandemic
prevention measures continued to pose momentary impact
on the Group’s operation and hinder commercial activities
in the region, the Central Park projects were able to carry
on without significant disruption. Rental income of the
Group’s wholly-owned property, Central Park e Pudong,
maintained at approximately HK$48.3 million for the Year,
as compared to HK$49.9 million in the same period last
year; the occupancy rate of Central Park ® Huangpu has also
improved considerably, reaching another milestone that has
resulted in an increase in relevant fee income for the Year.
Leveraging its unique position and proven capability, the
Group’s Property Investment and Fund Management Business
recorded a profit before income tax of approximately HK$30.8
million, on revenue of approximately HK$111.6 million for
the Year, representing a remarkable improvement from the
profit before income tax of approximately HK$10.0 million, on
revenue of approximately HK$97.1 million in the same period
last year.

® GFA UNDER MANAGEMENT

BEEWE D

CEAFE  REFREBEBIASENEEURE
HMEEERBEKNEEYE AP EEBEYAE
REAFE - REEEHRENMETBRE o
REAFEHSRAGBENISIBEEET
EFRPANA 4095 EE T PEE « FHEMNT
MERNMBERS THAFENHBERHRAE
E - BEASEBFENEMREIRIUNGES K
SECEHERERESEEAESNAFEHEIK
AB111.6BEET - MGRAEHRAEF430.87
EETL BREAFRBMOBALI7TIBEST &
BRATSRADEFL 100 BEE L HEEERE -

¥ ASSET UNDER MANAGEMENT
EEEE

= Central ParkeHuangpu
HRBEE « B

EERFEER
I 161,724 \

| Sq.m 1
\161,724F 75K Jy

—= Central ParkeJing’an
PIBE o B2

= Central ParkePudong
HBEE « R

= Central ParkeHuangpu
HhIBHE « B

== Central ParkeJing’an
FRBTE o B2 /[ billion

= Central ParkePudong
HBHE « R

7/ HK$9.1

91f88 T

2022/23 Annual Report | 4




OUTLOOK

Heading into FY2023/24, the Group expects the market to
remain volatile and unpredictable. The lingering effect of
geopolitical events and tension, the low short-term economic
visibility, as well as the expectation of sustained high
interest rates, are all likely to pose sustained impact on
global steel prices, suppressing new home renovation and
private construction demand, and hindering property leasing
decision and investment appetite.

Nonetheless, the Group remains cautiously optimistic on
the economic development of both Shanghai and Hong
Kong. For Hong Kong, it is noted that the Chief Executive’s
2022 Policy Address has highlighted the need to accelerate
the development of the Northern Metropolis, along with a
series of infrastructure projects and initiatives that would
increase overall public housing supply by 50% in the
coming five years. Those projects are expected to boost
the Government’'s annual expenditure on capital works to
over HK$100 billion in the next few years. Compounded
by the contribution from private projects, the annual
total construction volume in Hong Kong is expected to
reach HK$300 billion in the next few years, laying a solid
foundation for the demand of the Group’s Steels Distribution
and Processing Business. In face of the potential surge in
demand, the Group also invested in new machineries for
automated rebar processing, in order to further expand
its processing capacity and gain market share, as well as
playing a more important role in driving local construction
industry transformation.

Regarding the Group’s Property Investment and Fund
Management Business, the Group saw various policies
and domestic measures that have been put forth by the
municipal government in stimulating economic recovery and
restoring market confidence. Shanghai gradually moves out
of the shadow of COVID-19, with the resumption of business
travel as well as conference and exhibitions activities, we
saw a strong rebound of occupancy rate of the hotel in our
Central Park ® Huangpu, reaching approximately 90% with
average room rate approaching pre-COVID level. The Group
believes Shanghai would continue be the ideal destination for
businesses to establish or expand their presence in Mainland
China. The Group will continue to keep a keen eye on
available market opportunities using a light asset approach,
and expand its asset management capability in the future.

Currently, the businesses are well on track to deliver
sustainable profit. The Group will continue to execute its
prudent cost control and capital management measures, so
as to mitigate risks and headwinds ahead; while continue to
drive changes for better serving our customers’ needs and
business growth.
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CORPORATE FINANCE AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial Position

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2022,
the Group's total assets decreased from approximately
HK$3,368.2 million to approximately HK$2,957.4 million
as at 31st March 2023, mainly as a result of translation
difference of the Group’s investments in Mainland China,
and the reduction in working capital. With the softening of
steel price and the arrival of low-cost shipments, the Group’s
inventories decreased from approximately HK$547.5 million
to approximately HK$473.1 million. The average inventory
days of supply increased to 81 days. The Group’s trade
and bill receivables also decreased from approximately
HK$509.6 million to approximately HK$430.7 million, with the
average overall days of sales outstanding increasing to 57
days. Net asset value of the Group reduced to approximately
HK$1,072.7 million, mainly attributable to the translation
difference arisen from the depreciation on Renminbi (“RMB”)
for Group’s net investments in Mainland China. Net asset
value per ordinary share of the Company was equivalent to
approximately HK$1.50 as at 31st March 2023.

Compared with the financial position as at 31st March 2022,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits decreased to approximately HK$159.2 million.
The Group’s borrowings also decreased by approximately
HK$65.6 million to approximately HK$1,433.3 million as at
31st March 2023. Gearing ratio (net debt, which is total
borrowings minus pledged bank deposits and cash and cash
equivalents, divided by capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the Company plus net debt) slightly increased
from 56.1% to 57.0%, mainly contributed by the reduction in
capital and reserves upon currency translation.

As a result of the reclassification of current portion of long-
term bank loans of approximately HK$475.7 million to
current liabilities as at 31st March 2023, the Group’s current
ratio has been reduced to 0.68. To fulfill such short-term
commitment, the Group has received indicative term sheets
for refinancing the aforementioned current portion of long-
term bank loans. The Group is in the process of finalising the
terms and the binding credit facilities agreements with the
banks. In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), after due and careful consideration and taking
into account of the internally generated funds as well as all
the banking facilities presently available to the Group, the
Group has sufficient financial resources to meet its liabilities
as they fall due, and is able to carry on its business without
significant disruption.

EXRBBREREE
BRI

HEE - —F=A=+—RHIBHFEERL
NEBBEEERLNI S 2HABETHE T —=
F=ZA=1+—HWH29574BEB T TEHR
AEBPFEAEZREZEL ZEUREEES
WL ARIBERESREEMNEEARE  ~AEEWD
GERNS47SBEBTRENA7TIABERT
FHYAEEFERAE RS ESI R AEEMNE
WEEF R ZE B #500.6 A& A ITTE A E4430.7
BEBT FHEKREFBEXRHEE57K - K
EENBEFEREN10727AEB T TER
ARAEERFRREZFREERAARBIAR
EDREMEETELZE R_TE-=F=A
=t+—H ARREHRTEBRNEEFEEERY
1.5087T °

M- - F=- A=+ —BNMBEARRAL - K
EEZRe MBS EELREEBRETEIRELD
159 2EBHBIL - AEER T _=F=/A=+—
BZEENRLHI65.6BEBILEA1,433388
B AEABLR(BEFE  BMEBEAFERE
BEFRTERERE MRS EE - BRIALARA
HEABEBRARFEEN EAEFE)HE56.1% 8
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DR -

R RBMRITERZARLN 475 7BEETR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWE D

The Group will continue to closely monitor its liquidity
performance and the turnover of its working capital, and
take various cost containment and efficiency enhancement
measures so as to minimise the impact of macro factors
such as interest rate hike.

Financial Resources

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally
managed and controlled at the corporate level. The
Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on
managing financial risks including interest rate and foreign
exchange risks; cost efficient funding of the Company
and its subsidiaries; and yield enhancement from time to
time when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group
has always adhered to prudent financial management
principles, including the selection of appropriate investment
in securities according to the Group's treasury investment

policy.

The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported
by its bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st
March 2023, about 65.5% of the Group’s interest-bearing
borrowings were denominated in HK dollar, about 33.6%
in RMB and about 0.9% in US dollar. These facilities are
either secured by the Group’s pledged bank deposits and/
or corporate guarantee provided by the Company or the
Group’s machineries. All of the above borrowings were on
floating rate basis except for certain term loans totalling
HK$55.9 million, which are converted to a fixed rate basis
through an interest rate swap arrangement. Interest costs of
import bank loans were levied on interbank offered rates plus
very competitive margin. RMB loans of the Group have been
obtained from domestic and foreign banks in the amount of
RMB419.8 million. Interest costs of RMB banking facilities
were based on standard loan rates set by the People’s Bank
of China/Loan Prime Rate adjusted with competitive margin.
The maturity of the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March
2023 was as follows:

AEEBEETYVRIERBUEREEESBENR
o WERENE R ARG RIEE MRS - AR
BNESEERENTE -

MBER

AEBEZRENEBEDHEEREEEETEENR
B AREZEREELBERE  AIERER
R - BEMNERIMNERE : AADQ R KEHK
BARIRHEANARANBMENR + WRELRE
BEReHRAITHRESREE - KRB -BERER
ENHBERRY  BEREBARENEHRER
REBRQENBHERE -

AEBZESRETERERTES R THENA
B R-TE-=F=ZA=+—8  KNEBH:T
BEERAB65.5%ABTTEE - 89833.6% A A
REAERNE09% UETTHE - ZEMERB
REBECEPRITERE LA R AR Z R EE
RUANEBE 2B IERIIF - BB THEF55.98
EBTHTHEFBAN XIS LS AE T =
BN L EBEEYIRZEFETE - O
FITERZFEBAUBITRERERNESAES
FHZEENE - AEBEEBEEARERINERITHE
BEHEABARKII08HETZARBEER - AR
BIRTTMEZFEBANRTREARRBITEE ZZ
EEFFER " BERMHREFEIABEEZ A
B AEER_ZT-_=F=A=+—HZEXRIEH
BFRIT

Maturity Profile

HEHR

Within 1 year

1-2 years

2-5 years Total

1ER 18285

95.5% 4.4%

2855 @t

0.1% 100%
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Charges on Assets

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had certain charges on
assets which included (i) bank deposits of approximately
HK$11.7 million (31st March 2022: approximately HK$43.1
million) and bill receivables of approximately HK$6.8 million
(31st March 2022: approximately HK$20.7 million), which
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables; (ii)
investment properties of approximately HK$1,376.4 million
(81st March 2022: approximately HK$1,482.1 million) and
building of approximately HK$5.7 million (31st March 2022:
Nil), which was included in property, plant and equipment,
were pledged as collaterals for certain bank borrowings of
the Group; and (iii) machineries of approximately HK$5.5
million (31st March 2022: approximately HK$6.0 million),
which was included in property, plant and equipment, and
was used to secure the Group’s hire purchase liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK
dollars, US dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK
dollars and the US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its
exposure to exchange rate risk arising from US dollars is not
material. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will, among
others, continue to match RMB payments with RMB inflow to
minimise exchange risk exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into
when suitable opportunities arise and when management
of the Group considers appropriate, in order to hedge
against major non-HK dollars currency exposures. It is the
Group’s policy not to enter into any derivative transaction for
speculative purposes.

Capital Expenditure

During the Year, the Group’'s total capital expenditure
amounted to approximately HK$2.8 million (FY2021/22:
approximately HK$9.1 million), which was primarily financed
through cash generated from operating activities.

Capital Commitments
As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s total capital

commitments amounted to approximately HK$130.9 million
(81st March 2022: approximately HK$133.3 million).

EEEHA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERE W RO

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in Note 40 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, as at 31st March 2023, the Group had no
other material contingent liabilities (31st March 2022: Same).
Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and

disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies during
the Year.

PARTICULAR OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s properties held for
investment and their particulars are as follows:

HREE

BRBERT < 475 B TS SRR ML A0 R AT BE & SN - 1
“EC=FZA=t—HB AEEYEEMBERRK
REB(ZT__F=A=+—H: HER) -
ERWBRHESHE

AEENAFEYBEMHHBLAARBEATZ
BARBRHERE
ERYFRZHE

RIZZ=F=ZA=+—8 AEEREREZA
R R EFBEEHIIMT

Property name and
location Existing use Tenure

U L2058 b R AR £ AR

Central Park * Pudong

Approximate
attributable
above-ground
GFA

(square meters)

(excluding Number of
car-parking car park Group’s
spaces) spaces interests
BAREREERR
(FFHK)
(FEREFEMN) FEAHE FEEzER

HABE o« BWR
No. 2399 Zhangyang Road, Commercial  Medium term* 24,752 170 100%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China
TE BT RR [EE3 N hEg
SR 2399 5%
Unit 606, Sanlian Building
=B ARE606 F
No. 8 Huajing Road, Commercial  Medium term* 37.64 — 83.3%
Pudong New Area, offices
Shanghai, China
TE EETRRR BERLE hEg
R 85K
. Medium terms are for lease less than 50 years but not less than 10 THREEDLROFERLRI0E -
years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEB W& D

Central Park ® Pudong HFBLE o B

Central Park ® Pudong is a 12-storey office tower with a total FEE « HRA—EES12EMNRAKNE - i F
above-ground GFA of approximately 24,752 square meters. REEMBELN B24,752F 5K « Z KEMR LB
Situated in Inner Ring Road, a prime location of the Pudong THRNE ARSI - M ERER R
New District, Shanghai, the tower is in close proximity to TR & I8 b 6 SR AR AL ISR Uh -

Luijiazui’s Central Business District and Beiyangjing Road

Station of Line 6 of Shanghai metro.

During the Year, both occupancy and rent rates of Central RAFE - RABE o ARAMEEZERAS KT
Park ® Pudong have remained at steady level, with rental BEEKE  HERAL4835EBT(ZE=—
income of approximately HK$48.3 million (FY2021/22: S FBE 490@BEBIT) ©

HK$49.9 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENwR D

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Central Park ® Jing'an

Central Parke Jing’an is a 29-storey Grade A office
building with a retail podium on the ground floor, totalling
approximately 58,601 square meters in above-ground GFA.
The premises is situated at the junction of Hengfeng Road
and Hanzhong Road, two major pathways across Jing'an
District. Surrounded by metro-connected retail shopping
malls, hotel amenities and a number of Grade A office
buildings, Central Park ¢ Jing’an enjoys locational excellence
with 3 easily-accessible metro lines, and is within 10
minutes’ walking distance to Shanghai Railway Station.

The Group invested in Central Park e Jing'an by partnering
with a leading sovereign wealth fund to form a joint venture,
namely HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited, which the
Group holds an effective 9.3% equity interests. In addition
to the potential value appreciation, the Group also earns
fee income through the provision of management services.
The project underwent revitalisation in September 2018, and
upon completion, it is positioned as a Grade A office with
modernised office and workspace facilities.

During the Year, Central Park ¢ Jing'an recorded an improving
financial performance, with the Group’s share of loss of
investment accounted for using the equity method reduced
to approximately HK$6.7 million (FY2021/22: share of loss of
approximately HK$6.8 million). No gain or loss on disposal
was recorded and no dividend was received during the Year.

FrisEXRRE
HIBE o B

FIBLE « LR —EREF2ENFRMAKE -
ETEBRATERE WLEEEBEAHROAR
58,601 F 1K - ZMEMBEMIGEEHE(EL
B EOZ R ) BB R - AR A s EE R A B YR
5 BEERERZEFRMAKE - FEBE  5F
LA EE3GMER - BT AE00EE A 2
=P NELL - BB RER -

AEBERE—RELETHVEESEE KL
& % A A](BPHSL Shanghai Office Partners |
Limited * R AEERFAEH9.3% BERER ) K
BEhBE « HLXER  BRETLEEBEREAN A&
EMEAREEERGERERRA - ZIBERZ
T N\FNA#ETEIARIR  BHEEENLS
R ARE  RERR(COPFRFRHE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Central Park ¢ Huangpu

Central Park ® Huangpu is a 53-storey high-rise landmark
located at the heart of Huangpu’s central business district,
near the intersection of Dapu Road and Xujiahui Road
and a 5-minute-walk from metro station. As a regional
landmark commercial complex with an above-ground GFA of
approximately 78,371 square meters, Central Park ® Huangpu
is the host of Pullman Shanghai Skyway Hotel (a hotel
managed by Accor Hotel Group) with office building,
conference halls, catering facilities and retail outlets.

The Group invested in Central Park e Huangpu through
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited, by partnering with a leading
private equity fund which the Group holds 5% equity
interests. In addition to the potential value appreciation,
the Group also earns fee income through the provision of
management services.

During the Year, the Group’s share of loss of investment
accounted for using the equity method for this project
continued to narrow to approximately HK$4.6 million
(FY2021/22: share of loss of approximately HK$5.8 million).
No gain or loss on disposal was recorded and no dividend
was received during the Year.

BEERWwNE D

hEE o EHE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWMR DN

As at 31st March 2023, the particulars of the significant
investments held by the Group are as follows:

RIZB_=F=A=+—B  FxEEHFZEXK
BRIBEIIWMT

Name of entity

BERaE

As at 31st March 2023

Place of
business/country
establishment/
incorporation

B
B3 A= ER

Unlisted, ordinary shares
LW BER

Carry

amount

fREE

HK$’000

TER

Total number of shares and
percentage of ownership
interest attributable
to the Group
FEEfEROEHR
BEREERAAL
Percentage

to total
assets of
the Group
A EE
BEE#EZ
Aotk

31st March
2023

31st March
2022

———

e =

=A=+-H

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited ~ Mainland China/ 258,557 8.7% 3,690.93 3,690.93
and its subsidiaries (collectively British Virgin shares shares
*HSO Group”) (Note i) Islands and 15% and 15%

HSL Shanghai Office Partners | Limited &2 R EIARE 3,690.93 % 3,690.93 %
HIB AR (RBIHSO KB D) (5D RERTEE % 15% % 15%

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited and Mainland China/ 54,561 1.8% 5 shares 5 shares
its subsidiaries (collectively British Virgin and 5% and 5%
“Skyline Group”) (Note ii) Islands

Skyline Holdings (BVI) Limited & B K RE, 58K 5% 58 5%
HIB AR (Sl Skyline £ B |) (i) REBRLHS

Notes: BT

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 15%
by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62% owned
subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria Private Limited
(an independent third party). As at 31st March 2023, Plentiful has
contributed capital, aggregated to US$36,909,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$289,590,000 (2022: Same) and the investment in
HSO Group is accounted for using equity method in accordance with
HKAS 28 (Amendments) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures.
Please refer to Note 20 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for details.

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment and fund
management business in Mainland China and is owned as to 95%
by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (an independent third party) and
5% by Top Bloom Group Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company). As at 31st March 2023, Top Bloom
has contributed capital, aggregated to US$9,645,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$75,744,000 (2022: US$8,570,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$67,315,000) and the investment in Skyline Group
is accounted for using equity method in accordance with HKAS 28
(Amendments) Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures. Please
refer to Note 20 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for details.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the Group
did not have any material events after the reporting period
(81st March 2022: Same).

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is focusing on nurturing talents to support its
business development. Our growth strategy has always
emphasised our strong commitment to people. We provide
competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate
employees. We always commit to provide a safe and
pleasant working environment with constant learning and
growth opportunities.

The remuneration packages for Directors and employees are
normally reviewed annually and are structured by reference
to prevailing market terms and individual competence,
performance and experience. Other employee benefits
include training subsidy, discretionary bonus, retirement
benefits, insurance, medical coverage and share option
scheme.

As at 31st March 2023, the Group employed 226 staff (2022:
235 staff). Total staff costs during the Year, including the
contribution to retirement benefit schemes and the wage
subsidies granted from the Employment Support Scheme
under Anti-Epidemic Fund, amounted to approximately
HK$117.7 million. During the Year, no option has been
offered and/or granted to its Directors and employees under
the share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERHmSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance.
It believes that high standards of corporate governance
provide a framework and solid foundation for the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) to manage
business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’
interest in general. The Company has applied the principles
and complied with all the applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), except for CG Code
provision C.2.1 for the year ended 31st March 2023 (the
“Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of
the Company to ensure that business activities and
decision-making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner, and aligning the corporate culture
of good governance with the Group’s purposes, values
and strategies, thereby meeting the expectations of the
stakeholders. The Group also strives to embed its core
values for sustainable developments into its day-to-
day operation. Our vision, mission and values as well as
strategies adopted for the environmental and social areas
are made available at the Company’s website.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, as amended from time to
time, as its own code of conduct (the “Company’s Model
Code”) regarding securities transactions by the directors of
the Company (the “Directors”). Having made specific enquiry
of all Directors, they all confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Company’s Model
Code during the Year. The Company’s Model Code also
applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group,
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, in respect of their dealings in the securities of
the Company.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors and four Independent Non-executive
Directors. The composition of the Board during the Year and
up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
71 to 74 of this annual report.

Board Process

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors
exceeding one-third of the Board. At least one of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
made an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the
view that all Independent Non-executive Directors meet the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines. In addition, any further re-appointment
of an Independent Non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than nine (9) years will be subject to
separate resolution to be approved by shareholders of the
Company. The Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material relationships with each other.
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The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the
overall business. They are mainly involved in the formulation
and execution of the corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-executive Directors consist of eminent business
executives from Hong Kong and Mainland China, who
provide independent advices to the management through
their wide range of skills and experiences. The Executive
Directors have regular meetings with general managers of
respective business units and key staff of support units to
discuss major business plans and review operational and
financial performance. The Independent Non-executive
Directors are also invited to participate in special review
meetings.

The Company has established four Board Committees,
namely Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee to oversee
various aspects of the affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration
matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy,
annual operating budget, annual and interim results,
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the
recommendations made by the Nomination Committee),
material contracts and transactions, corporate governance
practices and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
performance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The daily operations of the Group’s business are
executed by the management of the respective business
units under the instruction and supervision of the Executive
Committee which has its specific written terms of reference.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and
interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be
dealt with. Individual attendance records of each Director at
the meetings of the Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee as well as the general
meeting during the Year are set out below:

TEERHE

EXer AR NIRAREZBEREIAL
LELMBRE  UEHEHERAEE 2 2F &P
HEENEMAREZFHNER - RAFE &
ENEER  FMEZEE FXRZESRREZEER
e UMBRAG ZER L FELSHENIT

Number of meetings attended/held

HE/ BIEEZAH
Remuneration Audit Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Name of Directors FMEES ERZEE REZEE REAE
Executive Directors: HITEE
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew HAREE 4/4 il N/A A 11 11
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFREEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Ardtst 414 NATER  NATER  NATEA 111
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUHHTEE -
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EHELE 4/4 11 2/2 A 11
Mr. Xu Lin Bao FHEELE 4/4 11 2/2 11 111
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike Ly 44 N/A NER 2/2 11 11
Mr. Li Yinquan FE|REE 4/4 il 212 N/A TER 11
Total number of meetings held BIERAY 4 1 2 1 1

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to give all Directors an opportunity to attend, and
are structured to encourage open discussion. At least 14
days’ notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all
Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters
for discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting are circulated to all Directors for their comment
before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes and written resolutions of the Board are
taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes
and written resolutions, together with any supporting board
papers, are open for inspection at any reasonable time on
reasonable notice by any Director.
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The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely
basis. The Directors are free to have access to the
management for enquiries and to obtain further information
when required. The Directors are encouraged to update their
skills and knowledge, and familiarity with the Group through
ongoing participation at Board and Board Committees
meetings.

The Company has adopted a procedure for Directors to
seek independent professional advice. All Directors, in the
discharge of their duties from time to time, may request the
Company to pay for independent professional advice for the
Directors in appropriate circumstances, such request must
be made by the relevant Directors to the Company Secretary
in writing and with stated reasons for the request.

The Company Secretary shall then make the necessary
arrangements for professional advisor(s) proposed to be
appointed and the associated fees to be borne by the
Company. The Company Secretary shall inform and make
such proposed arrangements to the Board.

The Board shall consider the request and the reasons
provided by the relevant Director and the arrangements
proposed by the Company Secretary. The Board may resolve
to obtain independent professional advice to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company if
the request is considered to be reasonable and appropriate
in the circumstances.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

When appointed as a Director, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policies and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure
that he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
All Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company has been
encouraging the Directors and senior management to
participate in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules,
applicable regulatory requirements, corporate governance
practices and ESG issues organised by professional bodies
and/or independent auditors to further improve their relevant
knowledge and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by attending seminar or conference relating to
the Company’s business or corporate governance and
regulations or by reading materials relevant to their duties
and responsibilities during the Year.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional
development activities for the Year is set out below:

TEERHE

EETRERMICEE - RAINBROZERT LRI
RZHERER  UWEARREFEHEZTSHELAGE
LABEZER - ARR—BEEBEEREREEA
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Attending
workshops,
seminars,
Reading journals, conferences,
updates, articles training
and/or materials and/or forums
BT HE TR .
B E . SIE=AN
XERH g%, &I
Name of Directors HEER &/ SHimiE
Executive Directors: HITESE:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew ki S A 4 v
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (EEFEEHTE)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2 FHBEE v v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BUINTESE:
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny A e v v
Mr. Xu Lin Bao HMERLE v v
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike CES S v v
Mr. Li Yinquan FEIREE v v
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BOARD DIVERSITY

During the Year, the Board conducted an annual review
of the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy, which is made available on the Company’s
website, and is satisfied that the Board Diversity Policy has
been properly implemented and is effective. Under Board
Diversity Policy, the Company recognises and embraces
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. All appointments to the Board
will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against selection criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board and the policy.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which would include but not limited to gender,
age, ethnicity, cultural and educational backgrounds,
professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge,
length of service and other factors that may be relevant from
time to time towards achieving the objective of the Board
diversity. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

Currently, the Board composition reflects various cultural
and educational backgrounds, professional development,
length of service, knowledge of the Company and a broad
range of individual attributes, interests and values.

The Board has reviewed the current composition and is
committed to achieve gender diversity on the Board by
maintaining an appropriate level of female members and to
provide the Company with a good balance and diversity of
skills and experience appropriate to the requirements of its
business. Currently, all Directors are male. The Board has set
down its goals to appoint one female as Board member no
later than 31st December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve
diversity on the Board level. The Nomination Committee will
continue to monitor and actively consider different aspects of
diversity in the boardroom, and recommend further actions
or plan to the Board when necessary.

The diversity policy including the gender diversity was
generally followed in the workforce (including senior
management) throughout the Company for the Year. During
the Year, 60% of the total workforce were male and 40% of
the total workforce were female. The Group shall endeavor
to maintain at least the existing gender ratio in the workforce
and will timely review the employee turnover and recruitment
data basis for adjustment to the recruitment targets, policies
and strategies, if necessary. Further information about the
composition of the Group’s workforce can be found in the
2022/23 ESG Report separately released on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer
(i.e. the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew.
CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Board
believes that the vesting of the roles of both Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him to continue
to provide the Group with strong leadership, efficient usage
of resources, as well as effective planning, formulation and
implementation of the Company’s business strategies. The
day-to-day management and operation of the Group will
continue to be the responsibility of the management team
under the monitoring of the Executive Committee and Mr.
Yao's leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
term of three years and shall determine upon expiry subject
to renewal by mutual agreement prior to the expiry of the
term. All Independent Non-executive Directors (including all
other Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting at least once every
three years according to the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of
which has its specific written terms of reference. Minutes
and written resolutions of all committee meetings are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and, together with any
committee papers, are available to all Board members.
The committees are required to report to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate.

ETRRITHAER AR

iEEEER AESSIREREFUITE (TR
) o EERTABNC21ERTE - EFHE
THEFNACERES - BT ER— ARKR
F-EFgRAE BTREEEIRRIERNTEL
B - BAEBEENEEAAEERBLRMNES
geh - ARFAER - ARBRUMEE - SlERE
MEARRE 2 EBRES - EEERBERTEEGZ
EERREAECEET  BEBEAEBZAEE
BREE -

EEFPTESZEEEH

B FATESZERA=F R EmEREL
HERTR B R ATAR BAR B R BT - PRA B IETT

E=(PEEHEMES)FEEAQR 2 AAIHE]
F=FRRERFREg L2 mESRE—RLAE
BET o

EEZE®

ExgiUEZEZER  BEWTEZEY - HH
ZEg  BERZEORREZLEY  SZEHYMU
EMABYIPEHBESE - TEEESKNEER
ERBANEREIMRECZES SR RE
MARZEARENZEE N - SZESERES

GERERTE MERZ(RER) -

2022/23 Annual Report | 4 5




Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since March
2006 and now consists of two Executive Directors, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew as chairman and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as a
member.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.

The Company has adopted a terms of reference of the
Executive Committee in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties as follows:

(i)  implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations applicable
to the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(iii) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board,;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(vii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out

the duties on the corporate governance functions of the
Company in accordance with its terms of reference.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
July 2005 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, including Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
and Mr. Li Yinquan, all being Independent Non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being an Executive
Director. The Remuneration Committee’s role is to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
structure for Directors and senior management and to ensure
that they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution
to the Group’s overall performance, having regard to the
interests of shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee has to determine, with
delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management as
well as reviewing and approving management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals
and objectives. The Remuneration Committee also makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration of the
Independent Non-executive Directors. No Director or any of
his associates may be involved in any decisions as to his
own remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has specific
written terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are
available both on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and determined the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board as to the
remuneration policy and structure for senior management of
the Company.

Details of the remuneration of every Director and senior
management for the Year are set out in Note 9 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee meeting
is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since December
1998 and as at the date of this report consists of four
Independent Non-executive Directors, including Mr. Tam
King Ching Kenny (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu
Lin Bao, Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike and Mr. Li Yinquan. Mr.
Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Li Yinquan are Independent
Non-executive Directors with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice
a year to review and discuss the various audit issues as
reported by the external auditor. It also reviews the interim
and annual financial statements. Additional meetings may
also be held by the Audit Committee from time to time to
discuss special projects or other issues, which the members
consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and
approved by the Board in relation to various internal control,
risk management and audit issues with a view to further
improve the Company’s corporate governance. The Audit
Committee has specific written terms of reference that is
in compliance with the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

(i) reviewed and discussed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31st March 2022 and recommended to the Board for
approval;

(i) reviewed and discussed the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the six months ended 30th September 2022 and
recommended to the Board for approval,;

(iii) reviewed and discussed with the management and the
external auditor of the Company the accounting policies
and practices which may affect the Group and the
scope of the audit;
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(iv) reviewed reports from the external auditor of the
Company regarding their audit on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31st March 2022 and their review on the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
for the six months ended 30th September 2022;

(v) reviewed and discussed reports from the internal
auditor of the Company regarding their review on the
risk management and internal control systems of the
Group to ensure the effectiveness of the systems;

(vi) reviewed the effectiveness of co-ordination between
the internal and external auditors to ensure the internal
audit function with adequate resources; and

(vii) reviewed and approved the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the Company’s auditors; and
reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on
the re-appointment of the Company’s auditors.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee
meetings were held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Audit Committee meetings is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
March 2012 and as at the date of this report consists of
four members, includes an Executive Director, being Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman of Nomination Committee)
and three Independent Non-executive Directors, being
Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Yeung
Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for formulating policy and making recommendations to the
Board on nominations, appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and Board succession. The principal duties of
the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and
accessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors. The Nomination Committee has specific written
terms of reference that is in compliance with the CG Code.
The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee setting
out its authority, duties and responsibilities are available both
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board,
reviewed and recommended the Board’'s approval for
the proposed resolutions for re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2022 annual general meeting, reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
made recommendations to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the
attendance record of the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website and sets out the
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of
Directors. Below are the criteria to select and recommend
candidates for directorship and nomination procedures and
the process.

Selection criteria

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms
of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, age,
culture, ethnicity and gender diversity. The Nomination
Committee shall evaluate potential candidate(s) for election
as member(s) of the Board on the basis of the entirely of
their credentials and in light of the criteria set forth below:

(i) character and integrity;

(i) accomplishment, qualifications, perspectives, skills and
experience relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

(iii) willingness to devote adequate time to participate in
the Board’s affairs such as attending meetings of the
Board and its committees to discharge his/her duties;

(iv) willingness and ability to represent the general best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole;

(v) diversity criteria set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board;
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

requirements for the Board to have sufficient
independent non-executive directors in accordance
with the Listing Rules and the independence of
the candidates, if applicable, with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

if a proposed candidate will be holding his/her seventh
(or more) listed company directorship, the candidate’s
ability to devote sufficient time to the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

These aforesaid criteria are for reference only, and not
meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it
considers appropriate.

Nomination and Selection Process

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

the Nomination Committee, based upon the needs
of the Board for additional or replacement Board
members, solicits ideas for possible candidates from
a number of sources, including capable individuals
personally known to and recommended by the members
of the Board and research undertaken by or on behalf
of the Nomination Committee or professional firms. The
Nomination Committee also considers recommendations
and nominations made by shareholders of the
Company, as described in (iv) below;

if one or more desirable candidate(s) is/are identified,
the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
candidate(s), based on the criteria set out in above
selection criteria, and determine whether such
candidate(s) is/are qualified for directorship;

the Nomination Committee shall select and rank
desirable candidates by order of preference based on
the needs of the Company, and make recommendations
to the Board for directorship;

any shareholder of the Company who wishes to
nominate a person to stand for election as a Director
at a general meeting must, in addition to compliance
with requirements under the Company’s Bye-laws,
lodge with the Company (a) a written nomination of
the candidate; (b) a written confirmation from such
nominated candidate of his or her willingness to stand
for election; and (c) biographical details of such
nominated candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules; and
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(v) for any person nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at any general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-
laws, the Nomination Committee shall apply the same
criteria as set out in the above selection criteria to
evaluate and determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall make
recommendations to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
Details of the proposed candidate(s) including
his/her/their personal particulars and the Board’s
recommendation(s) will be included in a circular
to be sent to the shareholders for consideration in
accordance with the applicable Listing Rules.

The Board will review the Nomination Policy and make
necessary amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Nomination Policy and compliance with
regulatory requirements and corporate governance practice.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for
the corporate governance functions of the Company, it has
delegated the relevant duties to the Executive Committee
to ensure the proper performance of corporate governance
functions of the Company. In this connection, the terms of
reference of the Executive Committee includes various duties
relating to corporate governance matters which are set out
in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board
and Board Committees by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that Board policy and procedures
are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively and
efficiently. The Company Secretary also advises the Board
on governance matters and facilitates the induction and
professional development of Directors. All Directors may call
upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation
of the Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Wong Yuen Sze is the Company Secretary. She is a
full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Wong undertook no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during
the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for developing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and
internal control procedures and systems of the Group and
reviewing their effectiveness to protect shareholders’ interest
and to safeguard the Group’s assets at least annually. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions.

During the Year, the Company has taken risk management
as a core part of its business activities and operations.
The Company is taking steps to refine its comprehensive
risk management system that is aligned with the strategies
and operations of the Company by standardising its
risk management procedures, adopting qualitative and
quantitative measures to identify, evaluate and mitigate
the identified significant risks (including any ESG risks).
Furthermore, the Company has increased the level of
synergy between risk management and internal audit by
identifying the potential risks by reviewing the internal
control system, policies and/or procedures relating to the
Group’s business operations so as to promote the risk
control capabilities.

Risk Management System

The Group adopts a risk management system which
manages the risk associated with its businesses and
operations. The system comprises the following phases:

° Identification: identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement
of objectives;

° Evaluation: analyse the likelihood and impact of risks
and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly; and

° Management: consider the risk exposures, ensure
effective communication to the Board and monitor the
residual risks on an ongoing basis.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system
which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. The components of the framework are shown as
follows:

° Control environment: a set of standards, processes
and structures that provide the basis for carrying out
internal control across the Group;

° Risk assessment: a dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed;

° Control activities: actions established by policies and
procedures to ensure that management’s directives
to mitigate risks for the achievement of objectives are
carried out;

° Information and communication: internal and external
communications to provide the Group with the
information needed to carry out the daily controls; and

° Monitoring: ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each component of the internal
control system is present and functioning.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm as internal audit advisor (the “Internal
Audit Advisor”) to provide risk management and internal
control assessment services to assist the Board and the
Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring and in performing
the internal audit functions for the Group. The review
included interviews with relevant management and key
process owners and preforming walkthrough tests to identify
the major risk and significant deficiencies, and making
recommendation for approving the internal control system
to the Audit Committee for further approval. The Board,
through the Audit Committee, has reviewed, considered and
discussed the findings and recommendations of the internal
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor for the
Year. Having taken the recommendations in the internal
audit reports into consideration, the Group will continue to
improve its risk management and internal control systems.
In addition, the Internal Audit Advisor has also performed
a follow-up assessment on the findings as identified in the
internal audit reports to assess the remediation status.
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The Board has considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget
of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial
reporting function and those relating to the ESG performance
and reporting, by reviewing the internal audit reports
prepared by the Internal Audit Advisor and management
letters submitted by external auditor, if any. The Board
and the Audit Committee met with the internal and external
auditors and management to discuss the findings from their
works and recommendations.

During the Year, the Board is not aware of any significant
internal control and risk management weaknesses or
inconsistencies with the risk management policies, and
considered that the existing risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Company
has complied with the relevant code provisions of the CG
Code relating to risk management and internal control.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a Whistleblowing Policy, which is
made available at the Company’s website. Such policy aims
to provide reporting channels and guidance to employees
on reporting improper activities, misconduct or malpractice
within the Company or any violation of rules, regulations or
laws relating to fraud against shareholders, and reassurance
to whistleblowers of the protection. The nature, status and
the results of the complaints received under such policy are
reported to the designated executives and/or the chairman
of the Audit Committee, in the case of a report disclosing a
possible criminal offence.

During the Year, no incident of fraud or misconduct that have
material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations has been discovered. The use and effectiveness
of such policy will be monitored and reviewed regularly by
the Audit Committee.
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Anti-Corruption Policy

The Company has adopted a code of business ethics
and anti-corruption policy, which is made available at the
Company’'s website. The Group believes that honesty,
integrity and fair play are its important assets in business. All
Directors and employees (including full-time, part-time and
temporary employees) of the Company should adhere to the
Group’s high standards of business, professional and ethical
conduct in carrying out the Group’s business and familiarise
themselves with integrity and conduct requirements and
other policies that are implemented by the Group from time
to time including but without limitation the Anti-Fraud and
Anti-Money Laundering Policies, Whistleblowing Policy and
other relevant policies.

The Company would review such policy from time to time in
compliance with latest legislation and meets the request of
business needs.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure
obligations as to inside information and has a policy with
regard to the principles and procedures for handling
and disseminating the Company’s inside information in
compliance with the requirements under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives
of the Company are responsible for assisting the Board in
reviewing potential inside information and assessing the
need for disclosure and to oversee the internal reporting
system and procedures. The Company has taken reasonable
precautions for preserving the confidentiality of the inside
information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific
persons on a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;

(iii) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorised use or
disclosure of inside information in employee handbook;
and

(iv) circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors
and specified relevant employees of the Group, who
are considered to be likely in possession of inside
information, of their duties and obligations in respect of
dealings in the securities of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION ZEENEN &

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external RARFE » NA 7 2 INEZERD R ZRGEE TR
auditor of the Company, provided the following services ERRAANEFEIRETYRSES BWE 2 &
to the Group and their respective fees charges are set out =38

below:

Types of services fRi%iEsE HK$'000
FET
Audit fee for the Group AEEEZEA 2,669
Taxation services T IRTE 130
ESG report services R g RERWMERS 100
Total 1EEs 2,899
RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND mERZFEREZEE

REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing EEAARSEEAEREETERREAS L
the accounts which were prepared in accordance with BRIEEE o  INBRZEEI S E 2R EEmEBEH 2 B
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. FHRARER Z B IIAZHENRE N o

A statement by the external auditor about its reporting

responsibilities is set out in the independent auditor’s report

included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events WmEAXTHABESEEFRBER e emEr 2R N A

or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the HERE 788N -
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and
maintaining effective communication with shareholders,
investors, analysts and the press. During the Year, the
Company has reviewed its shareholders communication
policy, which is made available at the Company’s website,
to ensure the effective implementation of such policy
and the effective and timely dissemination of information
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and
plans, material developments, corporate governance and
risk profile) to shareholders and the investment community.
The management from time to time meets with existing and
potential investors to make corporate presentations.

The Group also promotes communications with its
shareholders and the investment community mainly
through (i) Company’s financial reports (interim and annual
reports), corporate governance report, ESG reports,
results announcements, other corporate announcements
and circulars which are published on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange; and (ii) annual general
meetings and other general meetings which may be
convened. Such general meetings are presided over and led
by the Chairman, Board members, in particular, either the
chairmen or deputy chairmen of Board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and external
auditor will attend annual general meetings and/or other
general meetings to answer shareholders’ questions. The
Company’s user-friendly website (https://www.hkshalliance.
com) provides investors with the latest news, corporate
profile, business information and financial information
including announcements, circulars, annual and interim
reports, etc.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has adopted the Amended
and Restated Bye-laws by a special resolution passed at the
annual general meeting held on 18th August 2022. An up-to-
date version of the Company’s Memorandum of Association
and Amended and Restated Bye-laws is available both on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to
attend general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and
the Board Committees should attend annual general meeting
(the “AGM”) to answer questions.

(A) Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended)
of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to
require a special general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a
meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the
requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to
be convened by Directors. Any reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the failure of
the Directors duly to convene a meeting shall be repaid
to the requisitionists by the Company.
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(B) Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company
to give notice to the shareholders in respect of any
resolution which is intended to be moved at an AGM
or circulate a statement in respect of any proposed
resolution or business to be considered at a general
meeting of the Company. Under section 79 of the
Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists
unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall be the
duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(a) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have
notice of any general meeting sent to them any
statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(a) either any number of shareholders representing
not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all the shareholders having at the date
of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to
which the requisition relates; or

(b) not less than one hundred shareholders.
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Notice of any such intended resolution shall be
given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to
shareholders entitled to have notice of the meeting sent
to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement
on each such shareholder in any manner permitted for
service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such
resolution shall be given to any other shareholder by
giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in
any manner permitted for giving him notice of meetings
of the Company, provided that the copy shall be
served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be
given, as the case may be, in the same manner and,
so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of
the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be
served or given at that time, it shall be served or given
as soon as practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions
to be met before the Company is bound to give any
notice of resolution or to circulate any statement.
Pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act, the
Company shall not be bound to give notice of any
resolution or to circulate any statement as mentioned in
the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the
requisitionists, or two or more copies which
between them contain the signatures of all the
requisitionists, is deposited at the registered office
of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of
a resolution, not less than six weeks before
the meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less
than one week before the meeting; and

(b) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
expense in giving effect to the procedures in the
above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or
circulation of statement).
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Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring
notice of a resolution has been deposited at the
registered office of the Company, an AGM is called
for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the
above-mentioned time shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

(C) Making Enquiry

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar and transfer
office of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited of 17M Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. For other enquiries, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103-05, 11th
Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong.

The procedures for proposing a person for election as
a Director are made available at the Company’s website
(https://www.hkshalliance.com).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, which aims
to set out the approach with the objective of achieving right
balance of the amount of dividend and profits retained in the
business for various purposes.

In determining whether to propose a dividend and the
dividend payment ratio in respect of any particular financial
year or period, the Board will take into account a desire to
maintain a constant and stable dividend level with an overall
objective of maximising shareholders’ value over a longer
term while retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future
growth, and will consider the following factors in declaring
or recommending dividend to the shareholders from time to
time:

(i)  financial results of the Group;
(ii) shareholders’ interests;

(iii) general business conditions and strategies;
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(iv) expected financial performance and market conditions;

(v) projected level of capital expenditures and future
investment plans;

(vi) level of cash and retained earnings;
(vii) possible effects on liquidity and financial position;

(viii

=

statutory and regulatory restrictions (including the laws
of Bermuda and the Company’s Bye-laws and any other
applicable laws and regulations);

(ix) tax considerations; and
(x) any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board
for a financial year or period in the form of interim dividend,
final dividend, special dividend and any distribution of net
profits that the Board may deem appropriate. The Company
may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

The actual dividend that the Board may declare or
recommend in respect of any particular financial year or
period will be subject to the factors under this policy and
there can be no assurance that dividend will be declared or
paid in any particular amount for any particular financial year
or period.

The Board will review this policy and make necessary
amendments, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2023
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents its
annual report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March
2023 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in distribution and
processing of construction materials such as steel products;
trading of sanitary wares and kitchen cabinets; and property
investment and fund management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information
by business segments and geographical markets are set
out in Note 5 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 82 of this annual
report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.50 cents per ordinary share for the Year (2022: HK1.50
cents per ordinary share), payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on Wednesday, 30th August 2023,
subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 18th August
2023 (the “2023 AGM"). Final dividend is expected to be
paid on Friday, 8th September 2023.

During the Year, an interim dividend of HK1.00 cent per
ordinary share was paid to the shareholders by the Company
on 30th December 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
during the following periods and during these periods, no
transfer of shares will be registered:

(i) For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM:

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 15th August 2023 to Friday, 18th
August 2023, both days inclusive, for the purpose of
ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2023 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2023 AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited (the “Branch Share Registrar”) of Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Monday, 14th August 2023.

(ify For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the
final dividend:

On the assumption that the resolution for declaring the
final dividend for the Year is duly passed at the 2023
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 28th August 2023 to Wednesday,
30th August 2023, both days inclusive, for the purpose
of ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the
final dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend,
all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Branch Share Registrar for registration no later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 25th August 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622
of the Laws of Hong Kong) covering a review of the Group's
business, an analysis of the Group’s performance using
financial key performance indicators, particulars of important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year and the future development in the
Group’s business, are provided in the sections headed
“Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which shall
form an integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group's financial position, results of
operation and business prospects may be affected by
certain risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining
to the Group’s businesses, some of which are beyond our
control. The followings are the major risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other possible risks
and uncertainties which we are not aware of or which may
not be material at present but may turn out to be material in
the future.

Financial Risks

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus
on managing financial risks including interest rate, foreign
exchange and liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered
to prudent financial management principles. Facing the
volatility of Renminbi (“RMB”), the Group will continue
to match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimise
exchange exposure. Forward foreign exchange contracts
would be entered into when suitable opportunities arise and
when management of the Group considers appropriate, to
hedge against major non-HK dollars currency exposures.
The Group always monitors cash flows and maintains an
adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure the
ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows to mitigate liquidity risk.

Operational Risk

The Group may face operational risk resulting from
inadequate or deficiency in internal processes, people
and systems or from external events. The Group has clear
responsibility and accountability rests with every function at
divisional and departmental levels. The Group are governed
and guided by good standard operating procedures,
proper authorisation policies and reporting framework.
Our management will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time to adjust potential risk response.

Business Risk

The Group’s business performance will be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to economic
conditions, competitive environment of steels and building
materials industry, performance of property markets and
regulatory changes in regions where our business carry on
or investments locate, which would not be mitigated even
with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict
procedure.
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Human Capital and Retention Risk

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract
and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate and
required skills, experience and competence to meet the
business objectives and strategy. We will provide attractive
remuneration package to suitable candidates and personnel.
Through training of existing personnel and hiring of new
personnel that raise the average, we continue to create a
great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great
place to work for our employees.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
Environmental Protection

The Group is committed to achieving environmental
sustainability. Our commitment to protect the environment is
well reflected by our continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote
awareness towards environmental protection to our
employees and other stakeholders. An environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) working group, which is chaired by
an Executive Director, Mr. Lau Chi Chiu, and consists of our
several line managers, has been set up to assist the Board
in enhancing ESG implementation. The Group strives to
reduce its emission intensity in our daily business operations
through various measures, including but not limited to, the
installation of renewable energy facilities, adoption of energy
saving measures for our office as well as properties under
our management, recycling and reducing the use of paper,
metal and plastic in our daily operation.

Community Involvement

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has
sponsored and participated in a wide range of charitable
activities. Our employees have also participated in various
corporate social responsibility initiatives. We care about our
employees. We provide an enjoyable working environment
and an integrity platform to ensure employees’ well-being
and safety.
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We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong
Kong Council of Social Service since 2007, and “Heart to
Heart Company” by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth
Group in 2010.

For further information about the environmental policies and
performance and community involvement of the Group during
the Year, please refer to the ESG report (the “Report”) which
will be separately released on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and
the website of the Company under the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” section, the discussions of which
shall form an integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.

To access the online version of the ESG Report, please refer
to the website address set out in the “Corporate Information”
on page 3 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure
and accountability for implementation of procedures and
monitoring of risk, which helps to ensure adequacy and
effectiveness of controls over the reliability of financial
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders.
We will consistently execute our strategies to provide
desired returns on investment and sustainable growth to
our shareholders. We recognise that employees are our
valuable assets. We hire people for attitude and invest in
development of our employees to create loyalty and love to
the Company. We understand the importance of maintaining
good relationship with our stakeholders (including but not
limited to, employees, customers, suppliers and business
partners) to achieve our long-term goals. To accomplish this,
we continue to get closer to our stakeholders, build lasting
relationship, and keep good communication to understand
their needs and share with them our business development.
During the Year, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2023 and as at the date of this report,
there were 640,414,315 ordinary shares of the Company
issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company
are respectively set out in Notes 33 and 34 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group
and the Company during the Year are respectively set out in
Notes 35 and 41 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st March 2023, approximately HK$53,986,000
(2022: approximately HK$53,986,000) of the reserves
and approximately HK$49,484,000 (2022: approximately
HK$47,940,000) of the retained earnings were available for
distribution to the Company’s owners.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND RIGHT-OF-USE
ASSETS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and right-of-use assets of the
Group during the Year are set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16,
respectively, to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures are set out in Notes 19 and 20, respectively, to
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2023
are set out in Note 32 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes of the Group as at 31st March
2023 are set out in Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders be reason of their holding of
the Company’s securities.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
of approximately HK$2,600,000 (2022: approximately
HK$2,541,000).
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike
Mr. Li Yinquan

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew
and Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny shall retire by rotation. Mr.
Yao Cho Fai Andrew, being eligible, will offer himself for re-
election at the 2023 AGM. Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny has
decided to retire from office with effect from the conclusion
of the 2023 AGM, he will not offer himself for re-election in
order to devote more time for his other personal commitment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company with a
fixed term of office for three years which can be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS EERRG - HEROREERZ
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND ERRAR
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2023, the interests and short positions of RIE_=F=ZA=+—"HH BFENARAIZEH
the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the THABRAARKHEMBEEZBE(EERLES
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company NAEREED (15 R EEEF 1) EXVES) 2 kh -
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of HERD REEFPHER 2 EE AR BIE (a) iR
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) BEARBEEOIEXVEBET7 RESH E AL
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and GARRARERA(BERERS KRB BRI 2%
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part EHTEWEFSIRIERER 2R IKRE) » (b)) &
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which BIIARBEF LB ROIEIS2ETUREZE
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions A k(c)BIE ETRAINEE+ATE 2 ETE
of the SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of  {TAEREITELEFIZFHIZESFE([HZESFR )4
the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or  BHMEAQE MBI ERABEIIWT
(c) were required pursuant to the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:
Long positions in shares and options of the Company ARz REBREZITRE

Number of

Attributable interest Number of  Approximate ~ share options Aggregate

Name of Directors Capacity to the Directors shares  percentage (Note c) interest

BEREHAE
EEE & Sy RG#E  BREMM (W) AitER
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.95% — 89,337,806
BB E Perfect Capital International Corp. (Note a)

55| 2 7] Perfect Capital International Corp.  1RiB{EfA 2 1% (%)
ZiE (Mita)

Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.73% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
542412 7 Huge Top Industrial Ltd. WRIEREE  Ba ()
1&g (WD)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% — 3,918,000
BEREAA 100% (E%)
283,679,806 44.29% — 283,679,806
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,000,000 1,000,000
yihi ERBAA 100% (&%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% - 5,246,622
BHERE BEBEAA 100% (E%)
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Notes:

a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these
shares through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International
Corp. (“Perfect Capital”). Mr. Yao is the sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these shares through his
controlling company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (*Huge Top”). Mr. Yao
directly held approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owned approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top.
Mr. Yao is the sole director of Huge Top.

C. Details of the interest of the Director(s) in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Schemes” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2023, none of
the Directors, chief executives of the Company and their
associates had any personal, family, corporate or other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) were required pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
were required pursuant to the Model Code to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and no Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their respective spouses or
children under the age of 18 had been granted any right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor
exercised any such right.
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PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed
“Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, as at 31st
March 2023, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the following
entities had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

REFSRBEROAEXVEHFE2RE
SOMEAAKRBREBIXRZAL

B EXTEERIRG BB RIS 2R
WA —EHRBREERN R-F-=F= A
=+—F - AR FREES R DI E 336
FERERMZ2S  THEBRBG RABRS
A IREE AR R EXVEE2RESH
EEMAR TS MRS TAE

Number of Approximate
Name Capacity shares percentage
BB E &1 RHEE BOBED
Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.95%
EmBEAA
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.73%
S NP
279,761,806 43.68%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.73%
EmBEAA
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.97%
TR EE EmBEAA
Note: M‘TH .
a. These shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned

approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore
was deemed to be interested in these shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2023, the
Directors were not aware of any other persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) who
had interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
2011 Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11th
August 2011 (the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The
purpose of the 2011 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The participants of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme includes any employee, agents, consultant
or representative, including any executive or non-executive
Director, of any member of the Group or any other person
who satisfies the selection criteria prescribed by the rules of
the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date
(i.e. 11th August 2011) and expired on 10th August 2021.

Before the expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
under the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their discretion, grant options to the participants
who fall within the definition prescribed in the 2011 Share
Option Scheme to subscribe for shares of the Company at
the price not less than the highest of: (a) the closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets on the date of offer of the grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (b) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the grant of the option; and (c) the nominal
value of the shares. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme were contained in the Company’s circular
dated 8th July 2011.

Upon expiration of the 2011 Share Option Scheme, no further
share options will be granted by the Company thereunder
but in all other respects the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain in force and all share options
granted prior to such expiration shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance therewith.

The total number of shares available for issue upon exercise
of all outstanding Share Options already granted under 2011
Share Option Scheme is 3,346,622 shares, representing
0.52% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
date of this annual report. Please refer to Note 34 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for further
details of the 2011 Share Option Scheme.
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A summary of the movements of the outstanding share
options under the 2011 Share Option Scheme during the

Year are as follows:

RAFE - RIE-F——FRBE B R ARTEZ
BREESHHIWT

Number of share options

BREHR
Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled

Name or category Exercise price Beginning during during during during End of

of participant Date of grant Validity period per share Note of the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year

SEREM AN RTEH BHH BRTEE i3 REEY AFERT AFEGE AFEEAN  AFEEH REER

Director:

£

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,246,622 — —  (1,246,622) — -

15th November 2022
ElRy b ZT-ZE+-A+tRE  ZE-Zft-FTAAE  0537B%
—F-—%#+-F+hA
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
“E-RF-ACTH ZT-RF-A-HHE 09287
—Z-R%-AtAR

Sub-total 2,246,622 — —  (1,246,622) — 1,000,000

INeE

Employees:

E8:

In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,2 1,097,027 — —  (1,097,027) — —

15th November 2022
&t ZT-ZE+-A+RE  ZT-Zft-FTRHE 0537#R
—Z--f+-A1HA
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,100,000 — — — — 1,100,000
19th January 2025
it —Z-R5-A=1H “Z-RE-AZ+HE 092881
—Z-RE-A+AR

Sub-total 2,197,027 — —  (1,097,027) — 1,100,000

INE

Others:

Hit:

In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 — — — — 1,246,622

26th November 2023
it ZE-ZFt-AZ B ZE-SHT-ACTEHE 10438
ZE-=F+-AZHRA
Total of 2011 Share 5,690,271 — —  (2,343,649) — 3,346,622
Option Scheme
“Z—ERRE
)

Notes: PE -

1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th 1. R-E—WE+ - A++HARE - ——FERES2
December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were adjusted BHZEREZITEEREEEMRR S —NFE+_A%
for the open offer completed in December 2014. R R EMEL A -

2. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche 2. WS THGEE S —HORREAEBRENTY Z

covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent
of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and
5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th of November in the years
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 respectively and the years onwards

till 15th November 2022.

—(AEZATERARBREN RS Z—)  F— =
E= FNORFRAAHDIR T —=—F - ZFT—=F .=
TF —E-FFR T ANENT—A+ABER
Fi3E BEEE-_—F+—A+HAL -
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3. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the
extent of one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd
and 4th tranche becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th
January 2025.

2021 Share Option Scheme

In view of (a) the expiration of the 2011 Share Option
Scheme on 10th August 2021; and (b) no further share
options can be granted pursuant to the 2011 Share Option
Scheme after its expiration, the Company adopted another
share option scheme on 11th August 2021 (the “2021 Share
Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group. The participants of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme include any employee (whether full time or
part time), executive or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including executive or non-executive Director)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser of
the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other person,
who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the terms of the 2021
Share Option Scheme.

Under the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme,
the Board may, at their discretion, grant options to the
participants who fall within the definition prescribed in
the 2021 Share Option Scheme to subscribe for shares
of the Company at the price not less than the highest of:
(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of offer of the
grant of the option, which must be a business day; (b) the
average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant of
the option; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme was up to 10% of the number
of shares in issue as at 11th August 2021 (i.e. 64,123,231).
The limit on the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2021 Share Option Scheme, together
will all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under any other share option schemes of the Company
and/or its subsidiaries (including the 2011 Share Option
Scheme), must not exceed 30% of the shares in issues from
time to time.

3. BRESNSRE S92 5REARERENDD Z
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—E--FRRETE
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ZEBERERMIZBEHESAEZFHRHE - &
(c)BfrzmEiE -
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64,123,231 1) - REBE-_T - —FHERETEI LK
EETMEMBERESE(BE - —— FERE
FEDERBGTENAB M ARITEEREETE
Al BE B TR AR (D B B MR BSRR I TS HBB TR
BT R 30% ©

2022/23 Annual Report | 4 5




Unless approved by the shareholders of the Company,
the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the share options under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and the share options granted under any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
to each grantee (including both exercised or outstanding
options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the
shares in issue for the time being.

There is no minimum period for which an option under the
2021 Share Option Scheme must be held before such option
be exercised. A non-refundable consideration of HK$10.00
is payable by the grantee to the Company no later than 28
days from the date of grant on acceptance of the offer.

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was effective from 11th
August 2021 and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain valid and effective for the period of ten years
from that date (i.e. 10th August 2031).

No share option has been granted by the Company under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

Further details of the terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme
were contained in the Company’s circular dated 12th July
2021.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group, or subsisted during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or subsisted
at any time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall
be indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they
may incur in connection with their duties. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company,
its subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party or were
parties and in which a Director or any entities connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the Year
are set out in Note 39 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

To the best knowledge of Directors, none of these related
party transactions constitutes a connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling
shareholders or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete
directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or has
any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 31.7% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 48.8% of the Group’s total
purchases. In addition, the largest customer of the Group
accounted for approximately 8.8% of the Group’s total
revenue while the largest supplier of the Group accounted
for approximately 12.1% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest
in the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group.

ESEWE
EERRS  RHFRANLEARS

ARE - BB AR S EER A ARER] L (EFE
ERREEERENERNETEAEARm AR
AEBEEBEERIEEBE - MERNFRERSE
BREAFERNEASHDABRZIEARS &
BEA K -

BT X5

RAFE - NEBEZ BT R H 15NN 2 %
BB MAMEEI

BEEMA ZERBIRZALTER EHRAE
ABRE N RERZFRFERERS -

g E

RAFE  EFHEBRBRRIEESB2EABE
ATHEN TR E X E R NIRRT X
AIREA B F R EARE A T HE A S @ ROT
IR o

FTEREFRHER

RAFE  AEEBERAARTFPEAEBRBKRAL
31.7% @ MAEEE A AEERANE AN EBBRKE
BE4948.8% o WA REBBAZBEFEAERER
WAHI8.8%  MAEEZFAZHERMNAEER
REBEHN12.1% »

EEF REIBMBEATHEAKRR(EESH
BEEARBRAER A L2 R M EER AL
BERAEPRHER s EEH#S -

2022/23 Annual Report | 4 5

4
-




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the Year have been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and duly
approved by the Board under the recommendation of the
Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their
appointment as the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year
is to be proposed at the 2023 AGM. There was no change in
auditor of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June 2023
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew

aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in December 1994. He became the Chairman
of the Board in July 1999 and Chief Executive Officer in
November 2015. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yao is
an external director of China COSCO Shipping Corporation
Limited, a holding company of certain companies listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”), Shanghai Stock Exchange, Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, Singapore Exchange and Athens Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yao is an independent non-executive director
of China Railway Signal & Communication Corporation
Limited (which is listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and Kader Holdings
Company Limited (which is listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange). He was an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd. (which is
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange). Mr. Yao serves as the Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China, the chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong-Shanghai Associations (formerly known as
Hongkong-Shanghai Economic Development Association),
the vice-chairman of Shanghai Overseas Friendship
Association, the vice-chairman of the Chinese General
Chamber of Commerce Hong Kong, the board member of
Fudan University and the chairman of the council of Lingnan
University. He was awarded “Young Industrialist Award of
Hong Kong” by Federation of Hong Kong Industries in 2004,
Justice of Peace by Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR”) in 2008 and “Bronze Bauhinia Star” by
HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao graduated from the University of
California, Berkeley with a bachelor’s degree in science and
Harvard Graduate School of Business with a master’s degree
in business administration.
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Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director of the
Company in November 2015 and is a director of certain
subsidiaries and the chairman of environmental, social and
governance working group of the Company. He joined the
Group in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the daily
operations of the business of the Group and has held
various sales and marketing and supply chain positions in
the plastics and steels businesses of the Group. He was the
general manager of Group’s plastic business from April 2003
to November 2011 and the general manager of the Group’s
steels business from December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau
graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia
with a bachelor’'s degree in commerce (marketing and
management) and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a master’'s degree in business administration.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny

aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Tam also serves as an independent
non-executive director of other listed companies on the
main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, Capital
Industrial Financial Services Group Limited, Kingmaker
Footwear Holdings Limited, Starlite Holdings Limited, West
China Cement Limited and Wisdom Education International
Holdings Company Limited. He was an independent non-
executive director of other listed companies on the main
board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, CCT
Fortis Holdings Limited and GBA Holdings Limited. He is
a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong,
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam
serves as a member of the Restructuring and Insolvency
Faculty Executive Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He was also a Past President
of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr.
Tam graduated from Concordia University, Canada with a
bachelor’s degree in commerce.
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Mr. Xu Lin Bao

aged 74, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in April 2006. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently the vice chairman of
the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy of Social
Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China Real
Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of
China Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session),
the chairman of Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the
vice chairman of Shanghai Real Estate Trade Association
(the 5th and 6th session) and the chairman of executives of
Yiju China Real Estate Research Center. He graduated from
Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in EMBA. Mr. Xu is
a senior qualified economist.

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2014. He is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung is an independent
non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. He has over 40 years’ working experience
in the banking industry of Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. Mr. Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group
in 1972 and advanced himself in the organisation by taking
up different positions under various business streams
including personal banking, sales and services, operations
as well as branches, regional network and personal wealth
management. Since 2001, Mr. Yeung was relocated to
Shanghai and took up the role of Branch Manager Shanghai
and Head of Personal Financial Services China of HSBC. In
June 2006, he was seconded to Hang Seng Bank (China)
Limited and appointed as the Head of Personal Financial
Service and Wealth Management China. Mr. Yeung was
appointed as Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Head of
Personal Financial Services and Wealth Management in May
2007. He retired from HSBC Group in January 2014. Mr.
Yeung is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber
of Commerce in Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese
People’'s Political Consultative Conference Committee (the
11th and 12th session) in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung was awarded
the “Magnolia Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai
Municipal Government to recognise his outstanding
contributions to the economic and social development, and
international exchanges of Shanghai. He was also awarded a
Professional Diploma in Company Direction and a Certificate
in Sustainability Leadership by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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Mr. Li Yinquan

aged 68, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in July 2018. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Company. Mr. Li serves as an independent non-executive
director of other listed companies on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely, China Everbright Bank
Company Limited (which is also listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange), Genertec Universal Medical Group Company
Limited and Million Cities Holdings Limited. He served
respectively as the general manager of financial department,
chief financial officer, vice president of China Merchants
Group and chief executive officer of China Merchants
Capital Investment Co., Ltd from 2000 to 2017. He also
served as an executive director of other listed companies on
the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely,
China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited and China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited, and as a non-
executive director of China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (which
is also listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as an
independent non-executive director of Kimou Environmental
Holding Limited (which is listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange) and Lizhi Inc. (which is listed
on NASDAQ). Mr. Li also serves as the Hong Kong Deputy
to the 12th, 13th and 14th National People’s Congress of the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Li graduated from Shaanxi
Institute of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’'s degree
in economics. He was also awarded a master's degree
in economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University (formerly known as Graduate School of the
People’'s Bank of China) and a master's degree in banking
and finance for development from Finafrica Institute in Milan,
Italy.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of
senior management of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 82 to
224, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March 2023;

e the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year then ended;

* the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31st March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the
valuation of investment properties.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

BRRFITS=HE)

Valuation of investment properties

RENENGE

Refer to notes 4(a), 15 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements
BB A AN T 4(a) - 15K 20

As at 31st March 2023, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) was approximately HK$1,377.0
million and a fair value loss of approximately
HK$4,206,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement during the year. The Group also
has investment properties held through investments
accounted for using the equity method with the Group’s
share of their carrying amount of HK$695.8 million as
at 31st March 2023 and share of a fair value gain of
approximately HK$249,000 were recognised during the
year. The Group performed valuations on its investment
properties and those held through investments
accounted for using the equity method, with the
assistance of two independent professional valuers
based on the discounted cash flow approach, income
capitalisation approach and/or the direct comparison
approach.

MRZTZ=F=ZA=+—H  EBEEBEFEARLMNEH
(AT E DR EMENRAMBELNA1,377.0 A&E
JT - M#4,206,000 8 TR AR BEBERRIFEENGEES
BRRkPHER R_ZE_=F=A=+—H0  E5EIH
BEERREREZANRNREFANKRENE - B E5H
EHKENREMECS8EE BT MEMFARRIN
BE M E %) 249,000 7T » P4 18 L B 2 L ERD 2 1 8)
T BEERWRBSREE  WABNMUER SEE
HBOEHEREMEREARDEARNREFENRE
WEEITRISG -

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
balance to the financial position of the Group, and the
significant judgement and estimates involved in the
determination of the fair value of investment properties
which is dependent on key assumptions including
market rents, term and reversionary yields and market
prices etc.

BHMEIHEREEENRENMEY SEEENBARRNE
HREEX  URBREVELILABENET Y KEAXAE
Rt MEBRARE THRRR  BREMSHEE - H
R EREUGAEETES -

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuations
of the investment properties included:

HPBEEBEREMENBEMETHRF B

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of valuation
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as significant
judgements involved in determining assumptions to be
applied.

B TETERBHMENNEREZES RTERE - WiEiR
ZRIEET T HEE EMIEE A M H AB B A E e B = A KF
Pl EE R TRERARER S RNERHE - SHETEKX
TR ED B A R o

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.

B EB N EMNBIRE N  EEXERENEEH
Mo

We involved our internal valuation expert in assessing
the methodologies and the key assumptions, including
market rents, term and reversionary yields and market
prices etc, used by the management’s expert by
comparing with relevant comparable market data and
industry research.

BRI EEZRRE B BAER A & LR E IS5 B8R &
TEME BPORMAFIHEEREERN T EZRLEIER
& PREMSEE - R ERREERETES -

Based upon the above, we considered that
management judgement and estimation applied in
respect of the relevant valuation were supportable by
the evidence obtained and procedures performed.
ERU FERNESIET  CERNETRREHIEH
FE R BRI E ) B 12 T R R ER o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

EERBFREEENGAMBRREA
EENEE(E)
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29th June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HZ =&

=F=A=t—HLFE

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET
Revenue YA 5 2,658,481 2,807,900
Cost of sales HEMA 7 (2,306,497) (2,468,207)
Gross profit £ 351,984 339,693
Selling and distribution expenses HERM BT 7 (13,501) (14,776)
Impairment loss on financial assets -net SREEREBE-F8 7 (3,634) (601)
General and administrative expenses —RRTEZ T 7 (153,668) (173,880)
Other gains - net HElhas— 58 6 3,803 5,724
Net fair value (loss)/gain on investment properties Txﬁ%%’/} nEE(BR) W FE 15 (4,206) 832
Operating profit Ry 180,778 156,992
Finance income FBHA 10 755 1,066
Finance costs HBER 10 (76,852) (62,502)
Share of results of investments accounted for Bl RREREAR
using the equity method BRECEE 20 (11,297) (12,550)
Profit before income tax BRATEH AR 93,384 83,006
Income tax expense PR 11 (11,201) (19,567)
Profit for the year FERF 82,183 63,439
Profit/(loss) attributable to: FEEET/ (B8E) -
- Owners of the Company ~KRAEEA 82,846 65,503
- Non-controlling interests —JFEhI R (663) (2,064)
82,183 63,439
Earnings per ordinary share attributable ARRREARGEE
to owners of the Company for the year SREBREHN
Basic earnings per ordinary share BREBRENGH 13 HK12.94 centsi#fli  HK10.22 cents/&{l
Diluted earnings per ordinary share GREBREETER 13 HK12.94 centsi#fli  HK10.22 cents/&{l

The above consolidated income statement should be read in bltaR & R K R B BE P A9 B B — BF RO RE
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME
n‘/-.R %ETD i ;—%

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HEZ - =-=F=A=+—HILFE

2022
—E-=
HK$'000
FET
Profit for the year FERR 82,183 63,439
Other comprehensive income/(loss): HibZ2mEB A (BE) :
Items that may be reclassified HETMEHRSER
subsequently to profit or loss: B#EzEA
- Net fair value change of —iﬁzi\}m%ﬂ?z/&ﬁfgﬁ
cash flow hedge ) HE 484 2,268
- Release of exchange reserve upon — B A R A 2
deregistration of subsidiaries e R EERE = (1,131)
— Currency translation differences —EBENEZ5E (109,035) 60,117
Item that will not be reclassified to TEEHFIEREBERZ
profit or loss: HE
— Change in fair value of financial asset —EBARBEFAHM
at fair value through other PEHBRAZ SREE
comprehensive income NABEES 1,903 (1,454)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FEHMZEM®
for the year (BB]) WA (106,648) 59,800
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FEEXE(ER), WA
for the year W (24,465) 123,239
Total comprehensive (loss)/income BEZE(ER), A
attributable to: wEm
— Owners of the Company L AVNGIE 2= DN (13,676) 119,454
— Non-controlling interests — FEPE MR A (10,789) 3,785
(24,465) 123,239

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income FutiRE

should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

a7 R B B A B R — GBI -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

As at 31st March 2023 W=_ZE=-=F=H=+—H

2022
—=—=
HK$'000
FHE T
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BE R 14 38,766 44,141
Investment properties "EYE 15 1,376,991 1,482,738
Right-of-use assets HRAEEE 16 10,996 28,389
Investments accounted for using ZigaE AR
the equity method s\ 20 313,118 347,775
Prepayments, deposits and TERFIE - EZe &k
other receivables H b pE U BR X 27 11,681 14,499
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISTREE 21 38,894 42,550
Financial asset at fair value through BRANEBEFAER
profit or loss ZEMEE 23 3,701 3,908
Financial asset at fair value through RARBEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WAZ EREE 22 4,652 2,749
Total non-current assets EREEELRRE 1,798,799 1,966,749
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TERHIE - EZe Rk
other receivables H b Uk RN 27 94,058 111,204
Inventories rE 25 473,057 547,466
Trade and bill receivables R BR RN R 26 430,674 509,598
Derivative financial instruments PTEEMIA 24 1,668 1,202
Pledged bank deposits EHIRRITIF K 28 11,680 43,071
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEE 28 147,485 188,931
Total current assets MENEEARER 1,158,622 1,401,472
Total assets EERR 2,957,421 3,368,221
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
maE M ER R

As at 31st March 2023 R=—E-_=F=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E_=4F —E-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M &E TR FHE T
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners of ERTHEEA
the Company bz
Share capital [ 33 64,041 64,041
Reserves 1 35 897,108 926,794
961,149 990,835
Non-controlling interests FEEHIEE S 36 111,504 123,393
Total equity B 1,072,653 1,114,228
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Accrued liabilities and other payables [Ezt & &N EMENIERR 30 8,136 10,403
Deferred income tax liabilities REEFSHAE 21 98,129 102,587
Borrowings BE 32 64,530 762,239
Lease liabilities HERE 16 138 4,642
Total non-current liabilities IEmBEERTE 170,933 879,871
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables BRI R BT 29 204,056 433,562
Contract liabilities AHEE 38,979 78,080
Accrued liabilities and other payables [Ezt & & & E R 30 61,090 61,613
Provisions B 31 25,876 34,362
Derivative financial instruments PTEemT A 24 — 18
Current income tax liabilities EHFEREE 10,563 11,996
Borrowings BE 32 1,368,789 736,719
Lease liabilities HERE 16 4,482 17,772
Total current liabilities mEIBEAR 1,713,835 1,374,122
Total liabilities EEHE 1,884,768 2,253,993
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHAE 2,957,421 3,368,221

The above consolidated statement of financial position it &R A B R AT 35 e ERRE B B B s — E R EE o
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the CABBREDN - E-—F XA -+ hHEES
Board of Directors on 29th June 2023 and were signed on its g WHRERE -

behalf.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew Lau Chi Chiu

PRI HE 278

Chairman Executive Director
EY HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
BERHBBR

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HE T -_=F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTHEAEE

Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserves  earnings Total interest equity
3L 4

BA  Hitfie  RERA BE FEIIMER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THEL TEL TR T
(Note 33)  (Note 35)  (Note 35)
(MzE33)  (FHEEss)  (MiEss)

As at 1st April 2021 RZE--£mE-H 64,123 573,220 250,378 887,721 120,787 1,008,508
Profit for the year FERA — — 65,503 65,503 (2,064) 63,439
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Ett2ERA/(BHE)
- Release of exchange reserve -MBRAEEERREL
upon deregistration of subsidiaries B GREL — (1,131) — (1,131) — (1,131)
— Net fair value change of -ReRamrz M hER
cash flow hedge 2838 - 2,268 — 2,268 - 2,268
- Currency transaction differences - EHESEE — 54,268 — 54,268 5,849 60,117
- Change in fair value of financial -BARBEALMEARA
asset at fair value through other LEBEEANEEEY
comprehensive income (Note 22) (MizE22) — (1,454) — (1,454) — (1,454)
Total comprehensive income 2EKAEE — 53,951 65,503 119,454 3,785 123,239
Transactions with owners in their ~ EBEANEEAAZ
capacity as owners SRETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves RRETRE — 396 (396) - - -
Shares repurchased (Note 33) RRin mEE (R 33) (82) 82 (322) (322) - (322)
Dividends paid to a non-controling [ F—EMBAERHIKE
interest of a subsidiary ErzRE — — — — (1,179) (1,179)
Dividends paid (Note 12) BERRE(H12) — —  (16,018)  (16,018) —  (16,018)
Total transactions with owners in their ~ #EAUEEEAZEH
capacity as owners ETNRHBE (82) 478 (16,736)  (16,340) (1,179)  (17,519)
As at 31st March 2022 R-Z--%=F=1-H 64,041 627,649 299,145 990,835 123,393 1,114,228
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
s i T E

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HEZ - =-=F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARRAES

Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital  reserves  earnings Total interest equity

Rx  Hitfkeg  RERA AR FEENEE ERAR

HK$'000  HK$°000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TER ThR Thn TARL TARL TEL
(Note 33)  (Note 35)  (Note 35)
(ME33)  (MHEss)  (Ri&Ess)

As at 1st April 2022 RZE-—#mE-H 64,041 627,649 299,145 990,835 123,393 1,114,228
Profit for the year FERA - - 82,846 82,846 (663) 82,183
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  Ett2ERA/(BHE)
- Net fair value change of -ReRamrz M hER
cash flow hedge 2838 - 484 - 484 - 484
- Currency transaction differences -REEREE —  (98,909) —  (98,909)  (10,126)  (109,035)
- Change in fair value of financial -BARBEALMEARA
asset at fair value through other LEREELANEERE
comprehensive income (Note 22) (MizE22) - 1,903 - 1,903 - 1,903
Total comprehensive income 2EKAEE —  (96,522) 82,846  (13,676)  (10,789) (24,465
Transactions with owners in their ~ FAANEERAZ
capacity as owners SRETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves RRETRE - 43 (43) - - -
Lapse of share options BERELN - (257) 257 - - -
Dividends paid to a non-controling [ F—EHBAERHIKE
interest of a subsidiary ERZRE = - - - (1,100) (1,100)
Dividends paid (Note 12) BRRE(H12) - —  (16,010)  (16,010) —  (16,010)
Total transactions with owners in their ~ BEBEANEEBAZHH
capacity as owners ETNRHBE - (214)  (15,796)  (16,010) (1,00)  (17,110)
As at 31st March 2023 RZEZ=£=A=+-H 64,041 530,913 366,195 961,149 111,504 1,072,653

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity FilARA e B R FE ELPE I A B 5 — BETRE -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLlDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n‘/-.R Iﬁa%/)lbi%

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HE T -_=F=A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EB-=HF —E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FEx
Cash flows from operating activities RETHZRERE
Cash generate from operations KEEBEEZRE 37(a) 83,935 145,814
Interest received BUFLE 755 1,066
Interest paid BERFLE (75,230) (60,455)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBFGH (4,568) (4,297)
China corporate income tax paid ERPBECERER (1,688) (3,442)
Net cash inflow from operating activities REFH L RERANFE 3,204 78,686
Cash flows from investing activities RETBZRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEREE (2,020) (8,715)
Proceeds received from disposals of property, HEWE  BEREEFEZ
plant and equipment FT18 A 37(b) 10 6
Capital expenditures for investment properties  REWE 2 EAFHS 15 (764) (382)
Capital injection to an investment accounted FETERERE
for using the equity method AR ZIGE 20 (8,429) (7,201)
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BERAABEMABREY
through profit or loss SREE - (3,908)
Dividend received BB E 394 657
Net cash outflow from investing activities REESH R e ML FHE (10,809) (19,543)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

an\ IE/@UH:E%%

For the year ended 31st March 2023 HEZ - =-=F=A=+—HILFE

2022
—==-=
HK$'000
FEx
Cash flows from financing activities METHZRERE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZFTEHE 318,007 472,732
Repayment of bank loans BRBITER (542,028) (496,284)
Payment for lease liabilities and hire HEaBERMEEEENR
purchase liabilities (including interest) (BIEFS) (10,880) (8,889)
Government subsidy on property, mE - BERESEZ
plant and machinery BT 458G 217 —
Net increase in trust receipt bank loans SEBIRRITE 2L INF 5 191,529 46,800
Decrease in pledged bank deposits ERBIT TR 28,370 12,960
Repurchase of ordinary shares LR E R — (322)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company BERARREBEAZES (16,010) (16,018)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BT IS 2 S (1,100) (1,179)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from MEEBHREORE)RA
financing activities FEE (31,895) 9,800
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRkReEELZ
cash equivalents FORAD),/ 8 (39,500) 68,943
Cash and cash equivalents, FzRE R
beginning of the year Be%E 188,931 119,098
Currency translation differences B N =5 (1,946) 890
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year FRZBENREEE 147,485 188,931

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be Fiatsras

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

B R e B BEPM 0 P i — GFBARE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

wN

e B ERAR A

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted
company under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended). The shares of the Company have been
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 18th February 1994. Its
registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place
of business in Hong Kong is located at Rooms 1103-
05, 11th Floor, East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in distribution
and processing of construction materials such
as steel products; trading of sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets; and property investment and fund
management businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.
These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue on 29th June 2023 by the board of
Directors of the Company.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA”) and disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by financial assets/
liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") and other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”) and investment properties, which are
carried at fair values.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in
the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

Note 4.

2.1.1 Going concern basis

As at 31st March 2023, the Group's current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$555.2 million. Among
the total current liabilities, bank borrowings
amounting to HK$475.7 million was classified
as current liabilities as the borrowings will
be due for repayment in December 2023,
while the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$147.5 million.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group, the potential capital contribution to the
investment in a joint venture and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain plans
and measures have been taken to mitigate the
liquidity pressure and to improve its financial
position which include, but not limited to, the

following:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

In view of the current portion of bank
borrowings of approximately HK$475.7
million will be matured within a 12-month
period from 31st March 2023 (the
“Existing Bank Facilities”), the Group is in
advance negotiations with various banks
for financing options. Subsequent to 31st
March 2023, the Group has received
indicative term sheets for financing the
aforementioned Existing Bank Facilities
for facilities amounts totalling HK$578.5
million (the “New Bank Facilities”). The
Group is in the process of finalising
the terms of the binding credit facilities
agreements with the banks. The directors
have a reasonable expectation that the
Company will obtain all the necessary
approvals and the binding borrowing
agreements will be signed in due course;

Besides the Existing Bank Facilities
which will be matured within a 12-month
period, as at 31st March 2023, the
Group had unutilised banking facilities
of HK$453.0 million (excluding the
undrawn banking facilities of HK$237.0
million related to the Existing Bank
Facilities) that is subject to standard
annual review process by the banks.
Management maintains on-going
communication with the relevant banks
and these facilities are under normal
utilisation in accordance with their
terms and conditions. In the opinion of
the directors, these unutilised banking
facilities will continue to be available to
the Group for supporting its operation for
the next twelve months from 31st March
2023; and
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1 Going concern basis (Continued)

° In addition to the New Bank Facilities,
management is actively negotiating
with other various existing banks for
increasing the credit facilities amounts
as well as new banks for new credit
facilities. Subsequent to 31st March
2023, the Group has received signed
agreements for facilities amounting to
HK$108.0 million. Moreover, the Group
has received an indicative term sheet
from a bank for facilities amount of
HK$70.0 million, and the Group is in the
process of finalising the terms of the
banking facilities agreements with the
bank.

The directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections prepared
by management and the cash flow projections
cover a period of not less than twelve
months from 31st March 2023. They are
of the opinion that, taking into account the
anticipated cash flow generated from the
Group’s operations, the possible changes
in its operating performance, the continued
availability of the Group’s bank borrowings
as well as the Group’s ability to draw down
from its existing banking facilities, the
Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall
due within twelve months from 31st March
2023. Accordingly, the directors consider
that it is appropriate to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 Amended standards, improvements and

accounting guideline adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments to standards, improvements
and accounting guideline for the first time for
their annual reporting period commencing 1st
April 2022:

Annual Improvements Annual Improvements

Project to HKFRSs
Standards 2018 -
2020
HKAS 16 Property, plant and
(Amendments) equipment:
Proceeds before
intended use
HKAS 37 Onerous contracts —
(Amendments) Cost of fulfilling
a contract
HKFRS 3 Reference to the
(Amendments) conceptual
framework
Hong Kong Merger Accounting
Accounting for Common Control
Guideline 5 Combinations
(Revised)

The newly adopted amendments to existing
standards, improvements and accounting
guideline listed above did not have material
impact on the results and financial position of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.3 New and amended standards and interpretation

e R R M

2 FEESTBRMEE)

21 WEEEE)
2.1.3 RN Z F 5] RABIEETERI K a2

not yet adopted

The following new standards, amendments
to existing standards and interpretation have
been issued but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on or after 1st April
2022 and have not been early adopted:

7

W -

VAT #raT 2281
AIRREBERKEHMG ER-F
T FWUA-BRERZENE
BFEERARER - TFREIERIER

HRTEAZE

HKFRS 17

BB EWEERE 7R
Amendments to HKFRS 17
BBV EWMEENET7IR2AEET
HKFRS 17

Y BRELENFEATHR

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
EA G ENE 1R ERBE B RS

LR EBMESE 295 2187]
Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ETERE 8 Z1ERT
Amendments to HKAS 12

BRGRERFE 1258 27T

HK (IFRIC) — Int 5 (Revised)
H8(AREMBRE2REEES)

—REELR(KERT)

Insurance Contracts
REEE A
Amendments to HKFRS 17
BABMBWELRE TR IER]
Initial Application of HKFRS
17 and IFRS 9 -
Comparative Information
MR ER BB R EENE 175
Ko PR B 765 R 5 AE RN 58 9 5% —
LR E R

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
BHEHZ BT

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

BEEZEE

Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from
a single transaction

HE-RGEFXCEAENBE
MR IR E T 18

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

MBHRERZ 25— BRAER
AIBER ESRER G Z
THERZNH

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning

on or after
LU B HABI A,
ZEZETHBEEX

1st January 2023
1st January 2023

—E-=F—H—H
1st January 2023

—E-=F—H—H

1st January 2023
—E-=F—H—H
1st January 2023

1st January 2023

—E-=F—H—H

1st January 2024

—E-MF—H—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETBERHSEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEEE)
2.1.3 New and amended standards and interpretation 2.1.3 BRI 2 F AT RAZIE T ERI R 2
not yet adopted (Continued) (&)

Effective for

accounting
periods beginning
on or after
R B BB R
ZEZEFTHBEN
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities 1st January 2024
as Current or Non-current
BERGFTERIE R 2IER] BESERREIERD —EZmFE—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities 1st January 2024
with Covenants
ERGFTERIE R 2IER] MR HERIERB A E —E-mME—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale 1st January 2024
and Leaseback
BBV EmEERE 1658 2185T BREADNASERE —EoE—H—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture
ERVBEWMELRNE10RREBGE KEERABENEERNAZ F5E
HRIE 285k 2 15T HNEEHESTE
The Group will adopt the above new standards, NEFBR Fl FHaT R~ ¥H3]
amendments to existing standards and THEBZEFTRZ2EBARE T
interpretation when they become effective. The Hip o REBEFIBF MM L
Group has already commenced an assessment W ETHER| - BT RREBZEH
of the related impact of adopting the above 2. MESAH I e A ER 2
new standards, amendments and interpretation, SEMEHRRESTETATE -

none of which is expected to have a significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has right to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

()

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held
interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Consolidation (Continued)

()

(1)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to
conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions - that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying amount of net assets of the
subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date
when control is lost, with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. It means the
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount
of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’'s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group’s share of the aggregate fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that
the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount
adjacent to “share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method - net” in
the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associate are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 - Joint
Arrangements to all joint arrangements. Under
HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures depending on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.4

2.5

Joint arrangements (Continued)

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investments in joint ventures include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint
venture, any difference between the cost of the
joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the
Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM"),
who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
and has been identified as the Executive Directors
that make strategic decisions. Information relating
to segment assets and liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not separately reported to
the CODM.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the profit or loss. All foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within
“other gains- net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as
financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyper-inflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into
the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the date
of that statement of financial position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in
a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation or a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit
or loss during the financial year in which they are
incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

2% to 20%
20% to 33%
15% to 33%
10% to 25%
10% to 20%

— Buildings

— Leasehold improvements
— Furniture and equipment
— Machinery

— Motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’'s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and
are recognised within “general and administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair
value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the
fair value of the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs”"), or groups of CGUs, that
is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Each unit or group of
units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of
goodwill is compared to the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values
at the acquisition date. Customer contracts
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is calculated using the utilisation method to
allocate the cost of customer contracts over
their estimated useful life.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate the costs of leasehold land
over their terms. Land use rights are presented as
right-of-use assets on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

2.10 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are measured initially at
its cost, including related transaction costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are
carried at fair value, representing open market
value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active
market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not
available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections.
Changes in fair values are recorded in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life - for
example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (CGUs).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or
through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election
at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date
— the date on which the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in the consolidated income statement.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the
Group classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss
and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest,
are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
and recognised in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in other gains/(losses) and
impairment expenses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
income statement.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit
or loss and presented in net within other
gains/(losses) in the period in which it
arises.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in “other gains - net”
in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal
of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI| are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking
basis the expected credit losses (“ECL")
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(d)

Impairment (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group calculates
the ECL of financial instruments in different
stages. Stage 1 refers to financial instruments
that have not had a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition; Stage
2 refers to financial instruments that have
had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition but that do not have
objective evidence of impairment; Stage
3 refers to financial assets for which there
are objective evidence of impairment at the
reporting date since initial recognition. For
these assets at Stage 1, 12-month ECL are
recognised and for assets at Stage 2 and 3,
life-time ECL are recognised. For financial
assets with low credit risks as at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial
position, the Group recognises 12-month
ECL based on the assumption that the credit
risks have not significantly increased after
initial recognition. The Group determines the
level of credit risks according to their internal
and external investment grade credit rating
and the ages of financial assets. For those
financial assets are more than 30 days past
due, they would be classified as Stage 2
and 3, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage
2, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the asset, that
is, without deduction for credit allowance,
and the effective interest rates. For financial
assets in Stage 3, interest income is
calculated on the net carry amount, that is,
net of credit allowances, and the effective
interest rates.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(d) Impairment (Continued)

The Group recognises the provision and
reversal of ECL in profit or loss. For debt
instrument at FVOCI, the Group makes
relevant adjustments to other comprehensive
income at the same time as recognising ECL
in profit and loss.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

Impairment on bill receivables, other receivables
and deposits are measured as either 12-month
ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL, see
Note 3.1(b) for further details.

2.13 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of
the company or the counterparty.

2

FTESTBRRUE(E)

212 MEER)

(d) BifE ()
AEEREBaERRREEERE
Bk - IRAREERA
HizmBANBEBTAMS
AEEREBaERRREEERE
HRE - HEMmEEEAELA

HREERME  ARERBE
BB REEREIFMATTLZ
BE ERREERE2HER
B 8 U R SR ) 4 T R B AR
Htp 15 RMEES.1(b) °

FEUN YR - HEWERR RIES
ZREE+TZEREREEREE
g2 HEHEEEENE 8T
BYIRERUAREERKRE G HE
ZELF - MEKRERZEERR
BB ERAREE EF - AR
B2 BB EEFEBTE  #
—FFBE RT3 1(b) °

213 EHEmT A

REZTERFMABHECHRSE - BA
EREAFEFEEIRSEREENR
BEAER  EREENMBEDTUE
o YNERAEPBHANKR2HELFE -
EERFAFHORNAREN - MaEE
—REBBRTRITRMEARREF A
—BHBRL - EEEE AW ER -
VREBHRT -

2022/23 Annual Report | 4

115



116

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

2.15 Trade and other receivables

Trade and bill receivables are amounts due
from customers for goods received or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised
initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
bill receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for
impairment. See Note 2.12(d) for a description of
the Group’s impairment policies.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original
maturities of three months or less.

2.17 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Accounts
payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially
at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on
the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of each reporting period.

The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so,
the nature of the item being hedged. The Group
designates certain derivatives as either:

e hedges of the fair value of recognised assets
or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value
hedges),

. hedges of a particular risk associated with
the cash flows of recognised assets and
liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

e hedges of a net investment in a foreign
operation (net investment hedges).

At the inception of the hedging, the Group
documents the economic relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, including
whether changes in the cash flows of the hedging
instruments are expected to offset changes in the
cash flows of hedges items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking its hedge transactions.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued)

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when
the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
more than 12 months; it is classified as a current
asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than 12 months or if
the counter party has the right to terminate the
hedging instruments anytime. Trading derivatives
are classified as a current asset or liability.

Cash flow hedge that qualifies for hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value
of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
cash flow hedges is recognised in hedge reserve
within equity. The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss within “other gains — net”.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in
the periods when the hedged item affects profit or
loss, as follows:

e Where the hedged item subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset,
both the deferred hedging gains and losses
and the deferred time value of the option
contracts or deferred forward points, if any,
are included within the initial cost of the
asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately
recognised in profit or loss as the hedged
item affects profit or loss.

e The gain or loss relating to the effective
portion of the interest rate swaps hedging
variable rate borrowings is recognised in
profit or loss within finance cost at the same
time as the interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Derivatives and hedging activities (Continued)

Cash flow hedge that qualifies for hedge accounting
(Continued)

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold
or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets
the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative
deferred gain or loss and deferred costs of
hedging in equity at that time remains in equity
until the forecast transaction occurs, resulting in
the recognition of a non-financial asset. When
the forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred
costs of hedging that were reported in equity are
immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

2.20 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisitions, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year
is the tax payable on the current year's taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate
for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation
and considers whether it is probable that a
taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to
investment property that is measured at fair
value is determined assuming the property
will be recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where
the Company is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets and liabilities and
where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets
and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution plan.
The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-
administered funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension
plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligation (Continued)

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or
voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.
The Group recognises termination benefits
when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment
of current employees without possibility of
withdrawal. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on
the number of employees expected to accept
the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period
are discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonus. The Group recognises
a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting
date. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

(e) Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of
long service payments to its employees
upon termination of their employment or
retirement when the employees fulfil certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current and
prior periods.

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled,
share-based compensation plans, under which
the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments (options) of
the Group. The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of the options
is recognised as an expense. The total amount to
be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

e including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued)

. including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number
of options that are expected to vest. The total
expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees
may provide services in advance of the grant date
and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense
during the period between service commencement
period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and
share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertaking in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant
date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary
undertaking, with a corresponding credit to equity
in the parent entity accounts.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 Provision

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when:
the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and
employee termination payments. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts receivable for goods supplied
and service rendered, stated net of discounts,
returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured; when it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group;
and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below.

(a)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the
customer, the customer has full discretion
over channel and price to sell the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products. Delivery occurs until the products
have been shipped to the specified location,
the risk of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers, and either the
customers have accepted the products in
accordance with sales contracts, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the products.

Revenue from these sales is recognised
based on the price specified in the contract.
Accumulated experience is used to estimate
and provide for the returns, if any, using
the expected value method, and revenue
is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal
will not occur. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with
credit terms that are consistent with market
practice.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Service income

Revenue from providing service is recognised
in accounting period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to stage of
completion of the specific transaction and
assessed on the basis of actual services
provided as a proportion of the total service
to be provided.

A contract liability is the obligation to
transfer of goods or render of services to a
customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or renders services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognised
when the payment is made or the payment is
due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

Rental income

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the period of the relevant leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the
transfer of the promised goods or services to
the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction
prices for the time value of money.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHHEBEE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Interest income 2.27 FI E WA

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.29 Leases

As a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-
lease components. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the
following lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that

option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security

and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions

since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost

comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of

lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease

incentives received;
° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use assets.

2

FTESTBRRUE(E)

229E (&)

1ERAA ()
ERREEATREEZAEAFHNL
M (ABREE RE)RALBEETE
MAKE S B HEERTE —REERE
B AERREENEREEZAI(E
REHRIFTE -

HERHENEEEEEHERE N
FRABRENBETER R - BH]
HEEEMAT _EAKNUT2HE -

T & AT GRM - AIRKESHEEERT
ER—EEBHHEETERRE

o RERIBBINAYH-HAKZIHAM
MEEMEREEARERE:
K

e MHERESBRENBFHEHEE
Mz BEERRRREE S QR
LEBEREAREZHE -

BRTMEA-EEBHEETE KRR
MBEEER] - AEFTNEMAY » K&
BERELETHENES  BBRERK
ERTRE IR RSB AT E R I TR IR
NEBHAEBHERE -

AEBEHHERBETENE XY
AR R EEETHERE -

2022/23 Annual Report | %

131



132

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.29 Leases (Continued)

As a lessor

Lease income where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The respective leased assets
are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position based on their nature.

2.30 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
the Company’s financial statements in the period
in which the dividends are approved by the
where

Company’s shareholders or directors,
appropriate.

2.31 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they

are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to assets are deducted

against the carrying amount of the assets.

2.32 Hire purchase liabilities

Property, plant and equipment acquired under
hire purchase are capitalised in the consolidated

financial statements and depreciated

accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.7
above. The corresponding outstanding obligations
due under the hire purchase after deducting
finance expenses are included as liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements. Finance
charges are allocated to profit or loss over the
period of the hire purchase agreements on a

straight line basis.
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3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including price risk,
foreign exchange risk, and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central
treasury department (group treasury) under
policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group treasury identifies, evaluates and
hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as
well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk
and credit risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity
price risk because certain subsidiaries
of the Group are engaged in the trading
of steel products. As at 31st March 2023
and 2022, the Group had committed
sales orders for steel products for
which the selling price is fixed, which
exceeded the aggregate amount of
on-hand inventories. As the prices of
steel products can fluctuate materially,
the Group’s results may be affected
significantly by future fluctuations in
steel prices (Note 4(c)). To manage
its commodity price risk arising from
committed sales orders, the Group is
closely monitoring the market price
of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(1)

Price risk (Continued)

The Group also exposed to price risk
mainly arising from investments held
by the Group and classified on the
consolidated statement of financial
position as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and financial asset
at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Management considers that its
price risk is insignificant.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar
(“US$") and the Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB"). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to
require group companies to manage
their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currency.

The Group has certain investments
in foreign operations, of which the
net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. Currency
exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group's foreign operations is
managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign
currencies.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(1)

(ifi)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31st March 2023, if HK$ had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2022:
5%) against RMB with all other variables
held constant, profit before income
tax would have been approximately
HK$478,000 (2022: HK$89,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange (losses)/gains on translation
of RMB-denominated monetary assets
and liabilities.

As HK$ are reasonably stable with
US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management considers the
Group’s foreign exchange risk arisen
from US$ is insignificant. Thus, no
sensitivity analysis is presented.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

The Group’'s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates as
the Group has no significant interest
bearing assets except for cash and
bank deposits, which earn low interest
rate. The Group’s interest rate risk arises
mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk
except those under hedge accounting to
change from variable rate to fixed rate
and the hire purchase arrangement for
machineries purchased.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk (Continued)

As at 31st March 2023, borrowings of
HK$56,000,000 (2022: HK$98,000,000)
are converted from quarterly variable
interest payment to a quarterly fixed
rate payment through interest rate swap
arrangements. The interest rate swaps
and the corresponding bank borrowings
have similar terms, such as principal
amounts, currency, interest period,
maturity dates and the counterparty, and
the directors consider that the interest
rate swaps are highly effective hedging
instruments and are designated as cash
flow hedging instruments from floating
interest rates to fixed interest rates.

As at 31st March 2023, if interest
rates on floating rate borrowings had
been 100 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant,
profit before income tax for the year
would have been approximately
HK$13,774,000 (2022: approximately
HK$14,011,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

The credit risk of the Group mainly
arises from trade and bill receivables,
deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks
which are leading and reputable. The
Group has not incurred significant loss
from non-performance by these parties
in the past and management does
not expect so in the future. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at
bank is assessed to be immaterial and
no provision was made as at 31st March
2023 and 2022.

The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to reputable
and creditworthy customers with an
appropriate financial strength, credit
history and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other
monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Majority of the Group’'s revenue is
received from individual customers in
relation to trading of building products
and distribution and processing of
construction materials. As at 31st
March, 2023, top 10 customers of the
Group accounted for approximately
31% (2022: 28%) to the total trade
and bill receivables of the Group. The
Group has set up long-term cooperative
relationship with these customers. In
view of the history of business dealings
with these customers and the collection
history of the receivables due from
them, management believes that there
is no material credit risk inherent in
the Group's outstanding receivable
balance due from these customers
saved for the debtors related to the
impaired trade receivable disclosed
below. Management makes periodic
assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on
historical payment records, the length
of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the debtors, the overall
macro-economic environment and
whether there are any disputes with
the debtors. The Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances and the directors
are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible receivables
has been made in these consolidated
financial statements.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

— trade receivables;

— cash and cash equivalents and
pledged bank deposits; and

— other financial assets measured
at amortised costs (including
deposits, other receivables and bill
receivables).

While cash and cash equivalents
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the directors
consider that the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables.
The Group measures the expected credit
losses on a combination of both individual
and collective basis.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

The expected loss rates are based
on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 24 months before 31st
March 2022 and 31st March 2021 and
the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this year.
The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables. For customers
relating to the trading business in the
PRC, the Group has identified the CPI
inflation and nominal GDP of China
to be the most relevant factors. For
customers in Hong Kong, the Group
has identified the real GDP levels, CPI
inflation of Hong Kong, nominal GDP
and annual current account balance as
a percentage of nominal GDP of Hong
Kong as the most relevant factors for
trading and manufacturing business in
Hong Kong, respectively. The Group
adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors
accordingly.

To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been
grouped based on the nature of
customer accounts, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e M EE IR AR MY AT

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiEMREIE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEAKREE(E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEEEREE(E)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EAMEEHREE)
On the above individual and collective R B ER R EREET -
basis, the loss allowance as at 31st RIEBE_=FK-FE_—
March 2023 and 2022 were determined —A=t—HZEBEREE
as follows: TFR

61-120 121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days EVH [ EVE] [ EVE] 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due Total
=8 1-60 H 61-120 H 121-180 H 181-365 H 365 H £
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FTET FTERT FTET FTET FTET FTET TR
At 31st March 2023 R-B-=F
=ZA=+—8
Gross carrying amount — BRI A8 (8 —
trade receivables e BR R 368,163 28,533 5,640 3,783 7,365 27,456 440,940
Loss allowance R (3,758) (412) (103) (663) (1,609) (12,384) (18,929)
Net carrying amount — REFE—
trade receivable JE Wi BR 3R 364,405 28,121 5,537 3,120 5,756 15,072 422,011

61-120 121-180 181-365 Over
1-60 days days days days 365 days
Current past due past due past due past due past due
bt bt bt bt BHEA
B 1-60H  61-1208  121-1808  181-365H 365 B
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31st March 2022 it St - 3
=ZA=t-H
Gross carrying amount — BRI A8(E —
trade receivables YB3 348,567 74,731 31,310 8,290 14,513 21,941 499,352
Loss allowance BiERE (771) (140) (709) (810) (1,785) (12,321) (16,536)
Net carrying amount — REFE—
trade receivable G 347,796 74,591 30,601 7,480 12,728 9,620 482,816
Impairment losses on trade receivables EREFREBELLE
are presented as “impairment loss on i N A DAT & B & B RLE B
financial assets - net” within operating B2 IR2Y - HlD
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts BEMEZEESRE—IB
previously written off are credited against BARR -

the same line item.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

Other financial assets at amortised costs

Management considers that its credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical default
rate and current financial position. The
impairment provision is determined
based on the 12-month expected credit
loss which is considered insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in
the operating entities of the Group and
aggregated by group finance. Group finance
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs
while maintaining sufficient headroom on its
undrawn committed borrowing facilities (Note
32) at all times so that the Group does not
breach borrowing limits or covenants on any
of its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting
takes into consideration the Group’s debt
financing plans, covenant compliance
and compliance with internal ratio of the
consolidated statement of financial position
targets.

Surplus cash held by the operating
entities over and above balance required
for working capital management are
transferred to the Group’s treasury. The
Group’s treasury invests surplus cash in
time deposits, marketable securities, and
other instruments with appropriate maturities
or sufficient liquidity to provide sufficient
head-room as determined by the above-
mentioned forecasts. At the reporting date,
the Group held cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$147,485,000 (2022:
HK$188,931,000) (Note 28) and trade
and bill receivables, net, of approximately
HK$430,674,000 (2022: HK$509,598,000)
(Note 26) that are expected to readily
generate cash inflows for managing liquidity
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at
the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are

the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

o,

.4-"5‘

e B ERAR A

3 HHBEREEGE)
3.1 MBEBREE(E)

(c)

mEEZERE ()

TREINAEBZEREE R
BRBESAZAOEMBZHBT
R EASIHERET O -
TREBEZEHERAKNRMRR

ol

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years
DPR1E 1225 2Z58
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET THET FTET
At 31st March 2023 R=Z2==
=R=+—-H
Trade and bill payables ERERERE 204,056 — — 204,056
Other payables H PR BR X 28,829 2,358 5,777 36,964
Borrowings BE 1,369,124 63,374 1,494 1,433,992
Interest payable JERTFE 56,854 2,100 58 59,012
Lease liabilities HEERE 4,565 151 — 4,716
1,663,428 67,983 7,329 1,738,740
At 31st March 2022 R-E-Z
=A=t+-~H
Trade and bill payables ERERERE 433,562 — — 433,562
Other payables H A FETBR 3K 31,711 4,314 6,089 42,114
Borrowings BE 736,990 696,498 66,842 1,500,330
Interest payable FEAFILE 53,127 17,140 2,108 72,375
Lease liabilities HEAE 18,306 4,742 — 23,048
Derivative financial PTEZ R
instruments TH 18 — — 18
1,273,714 722,694 75,039 2,071,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 &I EREE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management 3.2 E2RKRER
The Group’s objectives when managing capital KREBTEES 7 BIRARENEEHF
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue B e AIREIRERR N A
as a going concern in order to provide returns for HiismERENZE - WIRE —(ERE
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders BAREHB LR D B o

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital AEIF A EANEE  AEB A
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of FREIRM 2B €5« REEARTI
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to B BITHRM S EEELRIE -

shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group BHREEX - ANEFREBEELABELL
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. REEWER o ZHRIFABHRIUE
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total REZEAEEYE - FRENUEELHA
capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings EaEBBRERFRITFEFRANRS
and lease liabilities less pledged bank deposits FIREEENE - MGEEUMBERNERT
and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is T~ BAREREAREZS (T IEE )t
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling R IFaEstsE -

interests), as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios as at 31st March 2023 and RTE-=FR T —F=A=+—
2022 were as follows: AZERBELEEROT
2023 2022
—E-= —FE=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FTHET
Total borrowings (Note 32) BE®E(ME32) 1,433,319 1,498,958
Total lease liabilities (Note 16) HEBERE(HE16) 4,620 22,414
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and & : & MRS EE UK
pledged bank deposits EHEFRITIER
(Note 28) (FF5E28) (159,165) (232,002)
Net debt FER 1,278,774 1,289,370
Total equity (excluding Rz BEE
non-controlling interests) (TREIEEH R 961,149 990,835
Total capital B4R 2,239,923 2,280,205
Gearing ratio BEREEFEN R 57% 57%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .-

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

3.3

n =

This section explains the judgements and
estimates made in determining the fair
values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in
the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has
classified its financial instruments into the
three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards. An explanation of each level

follows underneath the table.

e B ERAR A

M EREE(H)

IREELE

A

AEESR

RETE A E N B S R NEE R
AREEEANGTENERTA
Z XSt BB PTIF o T R fh
te REHEBEAREBEMAZ
WABBOAERERERSR A%
BRESHEAKEESHTAED
R-EEBHR - EBMZHAAMT
=R e

Level 2 Level 3 Total
BB BB k]
At 31st March 2023 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
R-B-_=€=H=+—H FET FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial asset ZAREBEEA
at FVOCI EfrmEmBAz
TREE
- Listed equity — EmRA
securities B 4,652 — — 4,652
Financial asset ZAREBEEA
at FVPL BRZemEE
— Unlisted securities —FELMEF — — 3,701 3,701
Derivative financial PTHESRE
instruments =t
— Interest rate swap — H & 47 A = 1,668 = 1,668
4,652 1,668 3,701 10,021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiREMBREE(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 MAEEME(E)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () AREEZRGE)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—F EfE E£=E Fok]
At 31st March 2022 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZB--F=H=+—H BT FTiET T T TiBT
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial asset BAREERTA
at FVOCI Hiv2EBAZ
TREE
— Listed equity — EWRA
securities BH 2,749 — — 2,749
Financial asset BAREERTA
at FVPL BRzemEE
— Unlisted securities —FELMESH — — 3,908 3,908
Derivative financial TESE
instruments IA
— Interest rate swap — F| =4 5 — 1,202 — 1,202
2,749 1,202 3,908 7,859
Financial liability cRERE
Derivative financial PTHEE R
instruments TA
— Interest rate swap — Fl| &5 5 — (18) — (18)

There were no transfers between level 1, 2
and 3 during the year (2022: Same).

RERNE—B - F_EBLE=E
2l EEsEg( - - —
R -

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment
properties that are measured at fair value
which is included in level 3.

ERRE=ZEBzAAEBENEZ
KREMEZHEER  F2HM
150
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 HIRREKREE(EF)

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable
inputs). This is the case for
unlisted equity interests.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised
cost approximate their fair values as at the
reporting date since either the instrument are
with short maturities or the interest rate is
close to the current market rate.

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAEBEMAE(E)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () RAAEEZR(E)

Level 1:  The fair value of financial instruments F—E: REBRMSEEZS
traded in active markets (such as MTEWMARKS
publicly traded derivatives and BIDTAE T A RRAE
equity securities) is based on quoted HFIZ N BENIER
market prices at the end of the R E R T5H
reporting period. BitE o

Level 2:  The fair value of financial instruments FE: VYEREFEMESEE
that are not traded in an active Eze@m T A
market (for example, over-the- BITETR)  E
counter derivatives) is determined NABEEERME
using valuation techniques which FIEEE - mZEE
maximise the use of observable B EEREERA]
market data and rely as little as R MBEE I
possible on entity-specific estimates. N f&?ﬁi 22 E
If all significant inputs required to fair fhEt e METE—ES
value an instrument are observable, RMITAZAREBER
the instrument is included in level 2. EZFBEERE AR

BRI BREE - RliZ
SRTAREES =
.

£ZE: BEIABILFKE
ABEMGEEEH
AGERIBEBA) -
LM AEDER
BB -

AN [ 2 P A S B 3 PN B R 2
ERMITAR®RE AHNEDER
HEAnBEMASE  BRZIAN

3R 2 2 5 3K S A 45 )

2022/23 Annual Report | 4




148

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation techniques are used
to value of the aforementioned financial
instruments include:

e for listed equity securities - the quoted
market prices for similar instruments

e for interest rate swaps - the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
based on observable yield curves

e for unlisted securities - backsolve
option pricing model and reference to
the underlying net asset value of the
investee companies

All of the resulting fair value estimates are
included in levels 1 and 2 except for unlisted
securities where the fair values have been
determined based on present values and
the discount rates used were adjusted for
counterparty risk.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)
The following table presents the changes in

level 3 item - unlisted securities for the years
ended 31st March 2023 and 2022:

3

M EREE(HE)

ARBEEBEE)

3.3

(iii)

FIREE R B EE BRI

BEHERTEANRET Lile
MTEEE ZZT2T AR
o

s LTRAESF-RFEFEITA
Z TS HRE

o FEEH-REABEREW=
KHRHEARRESREDN
HiE

e JFEMELZ-GIHEMEEE
B WS ERRE QTN
A EFE

ENAREBERFEREES
REIBRFE2EYT BIRERE
NEANFAER SRR 8RR
REENAEBENIELTESA
G\ o

EHEA T JEZGAEFFEAR
BE(E3E)
TRENHE-_FT-_=FK_F
T F=A=+—HIFEEES3
[BIEE —JELMESZEE

2023 2022
—E=-= —g-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

At 1st April REA—H 3,908 —

Addition NE — 3,908
Unrealised fair value loss on BAREEFABRZ

financial assets at fair value TREEREN
through profit or loss (Note 23) AAEAEBE(E23) (207) —
At 31st March R=A=+—H 3,701 3,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEMEIE(E)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAREEMLE(HE)

(iv) Valuation process and inputs

(iv) 1EERERBASHE

The Group engages external, independent
and qualified valuer, Kroll (HK) Limited,
to determine the fair value of the unlisted
securities as at 31st March 2023. The
Group’s finance department performs/
reviews the valuations for the aforementioned
financial instruments as included in financial
assets at FVPL (including derivative financial
instruments) and FVOCI required for financial
reporting purposes, including the level 3
fair values. These valuation results are then
reported to the Group’'s management for
discussions and review in relation to the
valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable
inputs used in level 3 fair value measurements
(see (ii) above for the valuation techniques
adopted):

AEBEEFINBBLAERME
fE RLEREERAAF
NEEFEMEFRN _T_=F
ZA=t—RZaR{EE A&
BB EPIRM B R RET
FEH LAY RIEAREEFT AR
2ERETESRIA)RER
AEEAAEMEZEKRAZ SR
BEZAE BREFEIBEARE
B fAESRERAAREERE
EBIERIA T wmhEHEERER
HESRNAIEKE -

TRBAEBEIBLAABER
EMREATAEREABEN
EEER(R EX (i) FrERmefh
Bl -

Unobservable
inputs
LIk S
WAHE

Fair value

HK$'000
AnEE
TET

As at 31st March 2023
R=-ZB=-=F=ZH=+—H
3,701 Equity volatility
of comparable
companies
A LB A
% 1 5%
Risk free rate
2 3 B 1) 2R

Range of
unobservable

Relationship of

unobservable
inputs  inputs to fair value
TABE FTAHRBAHE

WAHBEE HEARBEENER

55.0%  The higher the volatility, the
lower the fair value
BEEE - ARNEEBEBE

3.3%  The higher the risk free rate,

the lower the fair value
ERRAEES  AAEEBE
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value
of investment properties was determined by using
valuation technique and management updates
their assessment of the fair value of each property,
taking into account the key valuation assumptions,
including adjusted market yield. Details of the
judgements and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 15.

(b) Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when trade and other receivables are
impaired. This determination requires significant
judgement and estimation based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rates. In
making this judgement and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration of
receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration
of factors such as general economy measure,
changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details
of the assumptions and inputs used are discussed
in Note 3.1(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives and depreciation expenses for
property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives, and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
useful lives and therefore depreciation expense in
future periods.

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes
in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Significant
judgement is required in determining the
worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made. Deferred
income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future
taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact
the recognition of deferred income tax assets and
income tax charges in the period in which such
estimates have been changed.

4

EEGTHEER A (&)

(c)

(d)

ME - BERKBZAERFHR
B

AEECEREETHEYE BEE&
WZEFTAMERFEY  UREBITER
A o MR IRBRE RIEERLUZY
¥ BELMEEZERUERAFH B
EERAE - BREEFHREGFA]
ERFHRIENR - FHieat R EH
A AR E - RRHEZ T EX
hEREMm IR #E

EEFFSHREERR

AEE T BRHME B NP BEAEZ PR
B  EETE2HAEHERER T2
TEHEAHE - REEEBEBED R
ZRXPRFABEZHRETBIABEE WK #E
E o ARERZAKRESABMBINGIA
MERAE - WEEFEEZHRERIBE
REFVRHEZEE/IR - HEFEZEK
TEZETHREAZAEHRELERS
i - WEEER S BARKER
Mo M AST e B = Rk B I E 1R - Bl
EHREETREZRLNAEERR
ZIERFSHEE - HMEMGERERT
ZHETR  WEEZRBEERLTHFT
HMEERALEREELREHHHA
ZIISHERBREE -
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(e) Onerous contract provision

®)

(9)

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had committed
sales orders which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories and committed
purchase orders. If the cost of certain future
purchases to fulfil these sales orders exceeds the
contracted selling prices of the sales orders, a
provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of
purchases are expected to exceed sales prices of
committed sales orders, management takes into
account the cost of on-hand inventories and the
forecast market price of future purchases where
that can be reliably estimated.

Provision for impairment of property, plant and
equipment

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group reviews internal and external sources
of information to identify indications that the
property, plant and equipment may be impaired
or an impairment loss previously recognised may
be reversed. If an indication of impairment is
identified, the Group is required to estimate the
recoverable value, representing the greater of
the asset’s fair value less cost to sell or its value
in use. Changes in any of these estimates could
result in a material change to the assets’ carrying
amount in the consolidated financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and variable
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes
in customer demand and competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses the estimations at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue consists of the following:

e B ERAR A

WA R D EHER

REBZWABREINT

Recognised at a point in times -

R B B R —

2022
—E-

HK$'000
TET

Sales of goods BEmiHeE 2,546,875 2,710,794
Recognised over time - £ —BREEAER—

Service income ARFE WA 63,313 47,096
Rental income WA 48,293 50,010
Total revenue U A 4B %8 2,658,481 2,807,900

The Group’s businesses are managed according to
the nature of their operations and the products and
services they provide.

Management has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the CODM that are
used to making strategic decisions. The CODM is
identified as the Executive Directors of the Company.
The Executive Directors consider the business from a
customer perspective and assess the performance of
the operating segments based on the segment revenue
and segment results for the purposes of allocating
resources and assessing performance. These reports
are prepared on the same basis as these consolidated
financial statements. The CODM considers the Group
operates predominantly in three operating segments:

(i)  Steels Distribution and Processing Business;
(i)  Building Products Distribution Business; and

(iii) Property Investment and Fund Management
Business.

The CODM assesses the performance of operating
segments based on a measure of profit before income
tax.

AEBERAECEHERARTEER MRS Z
MEABTBHES -

BHEECREE 22 ERKE A ASE R
WREZREMEBTELEDH - TELER
REWRERARANITES - PITEFR
EFARZEXE  WRED BEARD
EEFEHEESMOKRE  AUMEEERK
AR o I FRE RS FREPBREE
RA—EERFH - TELERRERRAE
BErEge=AeEnsa -

(i) S HRIMTEY
(i) FEMBDHES &

o

(i) FHERERESELEL

T BRERREUREHADGE N KA EE
LEDRHOKRIE
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

The revenue from external parties reported to the
CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in
the consolidated financial statements.

Segment assets by geographical market consist
primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, right-of-use assets, investments accounted
for using the equity method, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables. They exclude financial instruments
and deferred income tax assets.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to investment
properties and property, plant and equipment for the
year ended 31st March 2023.

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for
the year ended 31st March 2023 is as follows:

5

NOTEST()THE(]DNSCHMDATEDFWNANKNALSTATEMENTS

WA R 7 EREFR ()
MEEEBREEEROBMN - HitE
FERGARBRR K -
B HTIBHI 2 BEAEZERENE

BEREE REME ERREE  H#
SAARZKE  EANFA - BEREME
W - M TAREEAEHEENTE

REMDHEEN -

BE_ZT_=—F-A=1T—BLFE &R
X BRMNEZRENEURDE  BE M

=
AaxX

AEERBE T _=F=A=+—HIF
BIREBDEBZEEIIOT

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution Management
Business Business business Unallocated Total
e EEmE EERE
RNT ¥ DHEY RESEEXK AOE Fot]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx FTERT TER TEx FTER
Revenue from contracts with customers REREAHZEMA
- Recognised at a point in time -EX-HERER 2,221,336 325,539 — - 2,546,875
- Recognised over time and rental income ~ —#&— BRI AR
JTEEAL N 27 - 111,579 — 111,606
2,221,363 325,539 111,579 — 2,658,481
Operating profit/(loss) MEEF/(BR) 123,127 36,987 73,150 (52,486) 180,778
Finance income B 334 130 280 11 755
Finance costs BBER (39,313) (5,107) (31,359) (1,073) (76,852)
Share of results of investments ElhiREREAR
accounted for using the equity method ZIRBTEE - — (11,297) - (11,297)
Profit/(loss) before income tax WA SR ATEF, (B18) 84,148 32,010 30,774 (53,548) 93,384
Other (losses)/gains - net Hity(B518), /Wi — 3% (515) (375) 3,552 1,141 3,803
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEZ ARBEEBR - — (4,206) - (4,206)
Capital expenditure EARY 496 671 1,164 453 2,784
Depreciation and amortisation e R (4,244) (5,072) (446) (7,105) (16,867)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e M EE IR AR MY AT

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDHBER(E)
(CONTINUED)

Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for REBRBE-_E-_—_F=A=+—H81It=E
the year ended 31st March 2022 is as follows: F?;z%i‘%"%z%?f“*ﬁlzu"l—

Steels Property
Distribution Building Investment
and Products and Fund
Processing Distribution Management

Business Business business Unallocated Total
WED ¥ BEMH FERE
RINTER PHEYR RESESEH RO ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTER TEx FTERT FEx

Revenue from contracts with customers REEPEHZHA

- Recognised at a point in time X -BEER 2,317,125 393,669 — — 2,710,794
- Recognised over time —E—RERANRER
and rental income RiESWA 29 — 97,077 — 97,106
2,317,154 393,669 97,077 — 2,807,900
Operating profit/(loss) WEEF/ (B8) 107,177 48,217 57,523 (55,925) 156,992
Finance income BIEBA 830 71 160 5 1,066
Finance costs BBER (19,649) (5,192) (35,151) (2,510) (62,502)
Share of results of investments EihZEREANE
accounted for using the equity method ZREZEE - — (12,550) - (12,550)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BAEHATER /(B518) 88,358 43,096 9,982 (58,430) 83,006
Other gains/(losses) - net Hivlizs/(BE) - 58 (1,588) 1,792 3,057 2,463 5,724
Fair value gain on investment properties ~ #EW%E 2 AnEEKHE — — 832 — 832
Capital expenditure BARX 7,263 302 574 958 9,097
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (4,081) (4,885) (1,417) (6,617) (16,980)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDHBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
The Group’s main business is domiciled in Hong Kong REBTEEBRENEARDPRE AR - K&
and Mainland China. Analysis of the Group’s revenue B2 W AR ST

by geographical market is as follows:

2022
—s-—
HK$’'000
T
Hong Kong aBH 2,094,021 2,078,884
Mainland China PR B K B 564,460 729,016
2,658,481 2,807,900
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and BeomTARREMSHEENUIINZIERD
deferred income tax assets, by geographical market is BERMEMSELT
as follows:

2022
—®E-=
HK$’000
TERT
Hong Kong BB 365,018 423,543
Mainland China B K B 1,386,534 1,493,999
1,751,552 1,917,542
(a) Revenue recognition in relation to contract (a) FRAESHEBEZBARER
liabilities
As at 31st March 2023, contract liabilities RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H 5t A&
included receipts in advance and deferred HEEZTBWRIERE LH&)\Z%
revenue amounting to HK$38,979,000 (2022: %5 /38,979,000 T(ZE = =
HK$78,080,000). The following table shows how 78,080,000/ 7T ) ° Ti‘%ﬂﬁmﬁzﬁ&i
much of the revenue recognised in the current HREEHERAN S HBEEIRKRAZ
reporting period relates to carried-forward contract B
liabilities:

2022
—Z—=
HK$'000
FiExT
Revenue recognised that was RETFFAENEE
included in the contract liabilities WEERE
at the beginning of the year WA 2 & 58 78,080 53,537
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R E

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(CONTINUED)

WAR 7 RER (&)

(b) Unsatisfied long-term contract (b) KREFTZRHEHN

The following table shows unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term
sales contracts recognised at a point in time:

TRETKRE - EAFHEMERZEEE
BRABEGHNMEEZRBITRAOR
7%

Aggregate amount of the transaction

2023 2022
g —m——

—_= B —

HK$'000

HK$’000
TRT THET

REZA=T—ROBEHIHK

price allocated to long-term sales EEARBITZRABESD
contracts that are partially or fully LR ERETE

unsatisfied as at 31st March

1,119,521 671,568

Management expects that 89.2% (2022: 65.9%)
of the transaction price, totalling HK$998,195,000
(2022: HK$442,690,000) allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations as of 31st March 2023
(2022: 31st March 2022) will be recognised as
revenue during the next reporting period. The
remaining 10.8% of approximately HK$121,326,000
will be recognised in the 2024/25 financial
year (2022: remaining 34.1% of approximately
HK$228,878,000 will be recognised in the 2023/24
financial year).

All other contracts are for periods of one year
or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

EEER BHE_T-_=ZF=A
=t+—RB(zZTE=-——_%:
—AZt+—B)oBEXRBETRERASR
B2 R(EZ2892% (- T — — 4
65.9%) * #&5+998,195,000/& ;L(— &
~ T~ 4F 1 442,690,000 7T ) B HE T —
B AR ARA - R THI10.8% °
#121,326,0008 T £ — T =M/
THEBEERR(CE-F BT Y
34.1% » #7228,878,000/8 TR — &
=/ S RFEEER) °

Fra A KR B —EFIAT o B
ERRBHE RS SRFALT -
SRERERBITZANZRZERE
DITHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

6

OTHER GAINS - NET

6 Hfttlzm —FEE

2022
—==-=
HK$'000
F57
Dividend income AR B U A 394 657
Net exchange losses RIE 1R (4,784) (1,466)
Gain on modification of lease HEBR 2 W= 1,290 1,141
Penalty income from tenants in REEPIEAILR L
relation to early termination of HE M=
rental agreements SIEN PN 2,059 2,671
Release of exchange reserve upon Bt 1 Bl R A
deregistration of subsidiaries 2 VEH R = 1,131
Unrealised fair value loss on BARBEGFABRZ
financial assets at fair value CRIEEMNRER
through profit or loss (Note 23) BAEBEEE(ME23) (207) —
Income from selling solar energy REHEKNHRE 2 WA 449 —
Government subsidies B i ARG 858 584
Sundry income IR A 3,744 1,006
3,803 5,724
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEI\/IENTS.

EXPENSES BY NATURE 7

\

e B ERAR A

BHEE D 2

Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and HANEERA] [HEESESYEH] T8/

distribution expenses”, “impairment loss on financial
assets — net” and “general and administrative
expenses” are analysed as follows:

BERERE—F8 ] R —RRITBSH IR
Bse o B

2022
—==-=
HK$'000
FET
Cost of finished goods sold LK oh 88 B R 2,204,338 2,362,219
Reversal of written-down of inventories GFERER # (71) (1,051)
Reversal of onerous contracts (Note 31)  BER#A) 2 B (FizE31) (8,380) (213)
Depreciation of property, plant Y - BE L&
and equipment (Note 14) ZITE (M 14) 6,600 6,470
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEEZINE
(Note 16) (FzE16) 10,267 9,800
Loss on disposals of property, plant HEME - BER&#EZ
and equipment (Note 37(b)) E518 (FsE 37(b)) 36 96
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) R EE 2 # 4 (M52 17) — 710
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) EERFZ L (MIzEs) 117,708 133,802
Expenses relating to short-term or FHRHREEEEE
low-value leases (Note 16) ZE (M 16) 1,946 3,153
Property tax for investment properties WEMEZMER 6,459 7,996
Provision for impairment of trade and FEW R R BIBRE
bill receivables — net (Note 26) B FE (T 26) 3,634 601
Auditor’s remuneration ZE NN &
— Audit services — ZBURTS 2,669 2,667
- Non-audit services — RS 230 275
Legal and professional fees FENEEER 3,904 5,489
Freight charges BB 82,236 79,556
Storage and handling charges ERELREE 8,519 8,373
Others HAfth 37,205 37,521
Total HEE 2,477,300 2,657,464
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR A

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (INCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

8 EERMNXH(BESEEZME)

2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FBT
Salaries and allowances (Note a) e REM(MFFa) 79,664 86,501
Bonus TE4T 22,818 31,811
Pension costs RIRE KA
- defined contribution plans (Note b) — A E KA S (FiFE D) 7,682 7,611
Welfare and benefits & e ) m= 7,544 7,879
117,708 133,802

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31st March 2023, wage subsidies of
HK$1,056,000 and HK$2,198,000 granted from the Employment
Support Scheme under Anti-Epidemic Fund was recognised
in “cost of sales” and “general and administrative expenses”,
respectively, and had been offset with the employee benefit
expenses. No wage subsidies were received by the Group for
the year ended 31st March 2022.

(b) The Group maintains two defined contribution pension schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO Scheme and the MPF
Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held separately from
those of the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the related companies and their
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5%
(2022: 5%) of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of
employees who have terminated employment could be utilised
by the Group to reduce its future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, the related companies and their
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5%
(2022: 5%) of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
Both the Group's and the employee’s contributions are subject
to a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for
employees of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated with
reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their length of
service in accordance with the relevant government regulations.
The Group has no further obligations for the actual payment of
pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond these contributions.
The state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees.

During the year ended 31st March 2023, the aggregate
amount of the Group’s contributions to the aforementioned
pension schemes was approximately HK$7,682,000 (2022:
HK$7,611,000). As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, there is no
unutilised forfeited contribution which could be utilised to reduce
future contributions of the Group.
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(a) HEZZTZ=F-A=-+—BLFE RAEESE
TRIRSEE A BIFTE H ) T E#RE 1,056,0008 7T
122,198,000/ 7T * B BIR[HE KA | K[ —&
RITHREZE IR HBR - TEREEENEERAX
H-HE-ZT - —F=-A=1+—HIEFE  XEH
S TEHHEL -

(b) AKERHAMELTERSHAFETEEZE
B A EIRAREETE - KMEFEZE
EOBRAKEZEESRNE  THBIESE
E

BEATESHE - HEARAKEEERS BRZIE
BEF e 5% (ZTZZF :5%) Mzt E8EEA
TR RIEAZEERBBZ NS mAEER
TER A ARHMPEK ©

BERESHE - HEARAREEERSERES
A ATRE A BIEPIPT R ERZIERARBRAZ
5% (=ZT= =% : 5%)MZ%atEIfET AHER - A%
EREER ZHRERYBEH1,50087T © #5K
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A B REERSOERARE - AEBARER
STR R B R R 2 Y A )R B AR (B 5 A B R IRET
B - REERESEAS  2R2RESRK
B EAHERRBFBRAEBBMERAES
H e BREEHRFO AEBMBASTINERER
RASSGRRREN - ZEEREBRNGEIER
BEPRINEE T2 RRARSD -

HE-Z-_=F=-A=+—ALFE AEEYH L
HRIN S FTEIEL 2 AR TEAY & 7,682,000 7 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERSAREEAENSE
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=ME
The remuneration of every director for the year BE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—HItFE -
ended 31st March 2023 is set out below: BMNESHNOT
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note) scheme
ExXY
[l RIER
e FERER (HY&E) STEZHR Fet ]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TAT TART THAT TAT THT
Executive Directors HITESR
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew HhiaE L - 5,593 1,950 18 7,561
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu A%t = 1,245 150 62 1,457
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRTES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERIEEE 225 - - — 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao B EEE 207 - - - 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike HREEE 180 - — - 180
Mr. Li Yinquan FoIREE 180 - — — 180

792 6,838 2,100 80 9,810
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 EERSHAEEAEME(E)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME (&)
The remuneration of every director for the year HE_SE-_—_F=A=+—BHItEE -
ended 31st March 2022 is set out below: S ESEHMmT -
Employer’s
contribution
toa
Discretionary retirement
Salaries and bonuses benefit
allowances (Note) scheme
ExH
SN RHKEF
e HEREE (FfaE) STEIZHR k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TET TEx TEx TR
Executive Directors BOEZF
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew PR LA — 4,908 1,950 18 6,876
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu BFEEsE — 1,236 153 64 1,453
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFRITES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE 225 - — — 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHELE 207 — — — 207
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BB E 180 — — — 180
Mr. Li Yinquan Fo|REE 180 — — — 180
792 6,144 2,103 82 9,121
Note: PEE -
The Executive Directors are entitled to discretionary bonuses HMITESAWEBIEIEL A2 EERE RAE
which are determined with reference to their performance and FEKIFET
the performance of the Group.
No incentive payment as an inducement for joining RBEE-_E_=FK_ZE__F=AH4
the Group or compensation for loss of office was =+—HIFEE  HED2NNES FEM
paid to any director during the years ended 31st EEESEIINA RS B kBB E -
March 2023 and 2022. Also, no directors waived 1i|;$7|\ THEEENEE S -_=FK_
their emoluments during the years ended 31st T F = A=+ —HIEFEREEN
March 2023 and 2022. % o
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9

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received any retirement
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2023
and 2022.

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received any termination
benefits during the years ended 31st March 2023
and 2022.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available of directors’ services

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and
2022, no consideration was paid by the Company
to any third parties for making available of
directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and/or any
entities connected with such directors

During the years ended 31st March 2023 and
2022, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
bodies corporate controlled by and any entities
connected with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
Director has a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2023
and 2022 or at any time during the years ended
31st March 2023 and 2022.

9 ESKERAEEAEME(E)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

U]

EERNER

MESENHE T —Fr T -
FZAZ+— B IEFE D WETAEERK
&F) o

EERIEERER

MEEENHEE TS _=FF_T_—
FZA=Z+T—BIEFEDWET AR
BfEEH -

RERUZEERBAE=SM
ZE

RBE-_E =Kk _FE_-__F=H
=+ —HIEFE  ARRBEIERYE
CEERBMEME=ZFZMRIE -

FRLES ZZFESFEFZE
ABRE HRSES MR
BERAZBACER BLUERK
HitbRZRH2ER

REEZZE_=ZFRk=ZT-__F=A
=t+—HILFE HMEFHANERE X
ZEEETHANERERZEES Y
TREBEEAT=AZER - BUE
HREMRSTHE -

EENRG  REHEHNPZEK
s

RCE- =R - E-_—F=Zf=+—
HFERINBE_TS=FR_FT=-=
F=Z A=+ B IEFEAERKEETT
FEASEEBABARQGTERETLD
FTREEEERNEEREEEAEGNE
ARG~ BHEREH °

2022/23 Annual Report | 4 5

163



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

9 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 9 ESKEAREEAEME(E)

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Five highest paid individuals (9) EEBBEHAL
The five individuals with highest emoluments in REEREERSMEATBE—REE
the Group include one director (2022: one) whose (ZE-—F: —8)  BEaeR M
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented F9(a) A DT Bk « REEBD,
in Note 9(a) above. The emoluments paid/payable ENES®NUZ(ZE-_—_F: mZ)At
to the remaining four (2022: four) individuals ZE&mT

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —2-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FET
Salaries and allowances e KoER 7,489 7,447
Bonus TE4T 5,734 2,812
Pension costs RIRE KA
— defined contribution plans — I EHAREE 326 332
13,549 10,591
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFATEHE :

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—g=-= —E=-=

- HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 —1,000,001 &L=

2,000,000/ 7T — 1
- HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 —2,000,001 &L=

3,000,000/ 7T 2 2
- HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 —3,000,001 &L=

4,000,000/ 7T 1 1
- HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 —4,000,001 &L=

5,000,000 % 7T 1 —
No emoluments were paid/payable to the five AEFWESN EAEAME FHE
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join =8 A T LAVESR B N A A SR B sk VB
the Group or as compensation for loss of office BmE(ZZ-_—F - ER) -

during the year (2022: Same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

11

10

e R R M

MBWARER

2022
—E-=
HK$'000
T
Finance income IR N
Interest income: FEWA -
— short-term bank deposits — R HIRITIE R 755 1,066
Finance costs % ER
Interest expenses: FEXZH
- bank borrowings and —BEK
hire purchase liabilities HEAE (73,688) (56,921)
— transfer from hedging reserve — —REREEPELY
interest rate swaps designated —EBERBESRE R
as cash flow hedges (Note 24) M= ER(B5E 24) 952 (794)
- lease liabilities (Note 16) —HEa & 16) (472) (477)
Bank charges RITE A (3,644) (4,310)
(76,852) (62,502)
Net finance costs BB AR (76,097) (61,436)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% except for one of the Hong Kong incorporated
subsidiaries which is subject to 8.25% for its first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits under the two-
tiered profit tax regime during the year (2022: Same).
Subsidiaries established in Mainland China are subject
to China corporate income tax at 25% (2022: 25%).

11

FreBix i

AEBERKEMERR 2 BITHERARFE
T ERBOE AT BN 2 FRE -

ERBMERIIRHE16.6% (EL B - HE—
BEE B MK Z KB AR - RAE
ERBEM A HFSHHE - 2 EH 2,000,000
78 TR R Tt F 3R K 8.25% tF i B (=
T HR) o R BIARREERI 2 HIEAR
AR E25% (Z T =4 : 25%) Bt E
RMEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 11 el (&)
The amount of income tax expense recorded in the REEEBERTPIRZIEH I HBHE -

consolidated income statement represents:

2022
—s=-=
HK$'000
FET
Current income tax & HRFT IS AL
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBENEH 5,503 5,068
— China corporate income tax — B EMERH 719 2,913
Deferred income tax (Note 21) REFTEH(FEE21) 6,042 11,415
(Over)/under-provision in prior years TF(HBRERE) BETRE (1,063) 171
11,201 19,567
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs NEBBRBADGEAN 2 R IBEIRGE S 2%
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the A IMETBR R AE BB E
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the B8 EBOT

consolidated entities is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —Z=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FiExT
Profit before income tax B TS T AT 93,384 83,006
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates 25 B s A FriE A
applicable to profit in the respective ZEHMBERGTE
countries ZTHIA 15,182 10,120
Income not subject to tax BAEZRRZBA (2,111) (1,725)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes a[H1Fi2 i 5,322 4,932
Tax losses not recognised as deferred W EERBLEAMSTHEE
income tax assets ZRiIBEE 2,026 6,032
Recognition of previously unrecognised RITBIARMER BIELEFTSH
tax loss as deferred income tax assets BEHBEER (7,119) —
Deferred income tax liabilities in respect  mtA B A BE R 7R Z 7
of withholding tax on Mainland China ZTER
unremitted earnings ZIBREFSHAaE 572 423
Utilisation of previously unrecognised A BT ARFERR A
tax loss M EE (1,608) (386)
(Over)/under provision in prior years TF(BERE) BETR (1,063) 171
Income tax expense Frisfisz 11,201 19,567

166 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE&EAIERAR AR




12 DIVIDENDS

e B ERAR A

12 RE

Interim dividend of HK1.00 cent
(30th September 2021: HK1.50 cents)
per ordinary share (Note a)

1.507810) (Fizta)

A ERRR BB A E B A% 1.00 8L
—E-—FAB=+H:

=

6,404 9,606

Proposed final dividend of HK1.50 cents 2% & HIA% B &A% 3@ A% 1.50 1Ll

(81st March 2022: HK1.50 cents)
per ordinary share (Note b)

—E-_F=A=+—8":
1.5078(L) (M s b)

9,606 9,606

Notes:

(a)

(0)

An interim dividend in respect of the six months ended 30th
September 2022 of HK1.00 cent per ordinary share (six months
ended 30th September 2021: HK1.50 cents per ordinary share)
was paid in cash on 30th December 2022 to shareholders whose
names appeared on the Register of Members of the Company on
14th December 2022.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31st March 2023
of HK1.50 cents per ordinary share (2022: HK1.50 cents per
ordinary share), amounting to approximately total dividend of
HK$9,606,000 (2022: HK$9,606,000), is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The amount
of the proposed final dividend is based on 640,414,315 ordinary
shares in issue as at 31st March 2023 (2022: 640,414,315
ordinary shares). These consolidated financial statements do not
reflect this proposed final dividend payable for the year ended
31st March 2023.

L

(a)

AARRZFZZF+-A=tHARZZE==
+ZA+HBEINARBRELM 2 REUES
EEEZEZFE—_FAA=FTHILEXNEAZHEHRK
BERTAEBR1.00BWEE=_Z=_—FALA=1
BIEANEA - SRE®AR1.50%840) ©

ARFIEREERRAFEAERERE-_T_=F
A=+ RALEFEZARERESREBR1.50
BI(ZZZ=F : SRLTAEK1.5081L) - RS
#8584 59,606,000 7% 7L (=T = =4 : 9,606,000
BIL) - ZEZARPREMNSEDNENR T ==
F=ZA=+—H2640,414315REETZ LB
(ZZ = =4 : 640,414,315 REER) - ZEHA
MHREIRRRBEE-_T-_=F=F=+—A1
FEMEZETRPRE -
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13 EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE 13 SRTERER

(a) Basic (a) BEX
Basic earnings per ordinary share is calculated FREBBRERNGZH VIR AQRER A
by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the e FIBR A E B BT E @AM INE
Company by the weighted average number of FHEGETE -

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Profit attributable to owners of RARHEB NG ET

the Company (HK$'000) (F%&1T) 82,846 65,503
Weighted average number of B BT AR I T 8L

ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F1) 640,414 640,889
Basic earnings per ordinary share BREBRERRT

(HK cents) (B 12.94 10.22

(b) Diluted (b) #%

Diluted earnings per ordinary share is calculated FIREBIROEERN RRE B TS
by adjusting the weighted average number of SEME 2 LR E S e MR E SR
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion BITHEIINE BIR 2 IEFEEETE -

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company's dilutive potential ordinary shares ARG ABAEETEE 2 L@ EER
arising from share options, for which a calculation is EmMEL @ EFTERE M ARITEERE
done to determine the number of shares that could PR B EEEL - BUERE
have been acquired at fair value (determined BRIENAREBEBE(ETEAERARTRDZ
as the average annual market share price of the 2EFHMBRE)RECRMNEE -
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value ¥ it AT E MM H B A5 RBERRT
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding (FRARE M TAMR M BB EITHE -

share options. The number of shares calculated as
above is compared with the number of shares that
would have been issued assuming the exercise of
the share options.

Diluted earnings per ordinary share for the years HE_Z-_=Fk-_FT__F=H
ended 31st March 2023 and 2022 equal to basic =+—HIEEE  BARZMEFERLT
earnings per ordinary share as there were no BABRGEBENE 2 ERR  BERER
potentially dilutive ordinary shares as at both S E RN BERSREBARHER
years end. A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e M EE IR AR MY AT

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% -  BERSE
Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor
Buildings equipment Machinery vehicles
HEWE
£ B
BF PET Hes AE am
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEx TET TER TER
(Note ii)
(BrEEii)
At 1st April 2021 RZEZ—%NmA—A
Cost AR 169,775 57,417 47,859 5,950 281,001
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
and impairment RAfE (160,618) (53,286) (20,581) (4,834) (239,319)
Net book amount EEF8 9,157 4,131 27,278 1,116 41,682
Year ended 31st March 2022  HE-ZE-—%
ZA=+-HILFE
Opening net book amount BEmTE 9,157 4,131 27,278 1,116 41,682
Additions (Note iil) B (PizEii) — 1,228 7,487 - 8,715
Disposals HE — (100) — (2) (102)
Depreciation e (548) (1,725) (3,753) (444) (6,470)
Currency translation BHEER
differences =5 273 20 — 23 316
Closing net book amount HREETFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141
At 31st March 2022 RZE--F=A=+—H
Cost A 170,059 57,967 55,266 6,076 289,368
Accumulated depreciation ZEE
and impairment RAfE (161,177) (54,413) (24,254) (5,383) (245,227)
Net book amount FRFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% - BERRZRE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor
Buildings  equipment  Machinery vehicles
BENE

£ - &R
gF SE Hes i fm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx S TEx TEx TEx
(Note ii)
(B=Eii)

Year ended 31st March 2023 ~ EZ-Z=-=%

ZA=T-RIER
Opening net book amount BURBFE 8,882 3,554 31,012 693 44,141
Additions (Note iii) B (zEii) - 1,147 103 770 2,020
Government subsidy (Note i) B Mz ) = (217) = = (217)
Disposals HE - (46) - - (46)
Depreciation & (523) (1,251) (4,493) (333) (6,600)
Currency translation BHEN
differences =8 (457) (46) - (29) (532)
Closing net book amount BREMFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
At 31st March 2023 RZZ_=%=RA=1—H
Cost A 169,566 57,452 55,369 6,597 288,984
Accumulated depreciation ZEAE
and impairment R (161,664)  (54,311)  (28,747) (5496)  (250,218)
Net book amount REFE 7,902 3,141 26,622 1,101 38,766
Depreciation expense of approximately HK$3,693,000 r & & 1 #93,693,0008 T(Z T = =
(2022: HK$3,240,000) was charged to “cost of sales” 3,240,000/ 7T ) & 492,907,000 jo(=Z &
and approximately HK$2,907,000 (2022: HK$3,230,000) Z 4 : 3,230,000 ) p AR A EBREK
was charged to “general and administrative expenses” STATSHERAR IR — M RATHSZH A -

in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Note:

(i) There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies
attaching to the grants.

(i) A property under “Buildings” of approximately HK$5,731,000
(2022: Nil) was pledged as collaterals for certain of the Group’s
bank borrowings (Note 32).

(iii) ~ Acquisition of property, plant and equipment during the financial
year were financed by:

e B ERAR A

14 Y% - BERFRE ()

MRE

() EEMHBEMSEHRBETOGREXEMIES
IH o

(i) AMEFITH—EEELNS731,0008 (=%
CZoF @B ZMECHEARERE TRITEE (K
FH32) ZEAME o

(i)  AMBFEEBRMEREZIE - BEREE -

2023 2022

—BC-=HF —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FiEx

Payment by cash DBRE XA 2,020 2,643
Hire purchase liabilities fEasE — 6,072
At end of year RER 2,020 8,715

Net book values of certain machinery which are under hire
purchase arrangements are as follows:

MBLZHRT 2B THEZREEFENT

2023 2022

—EBC=HE —EC-CF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT T

Cost %N 6,072 6,072
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (607) —
5,465 6,072

The terms of the hire purchase arrangements is for 5 years.

B LPZ BRBEF -
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REY=
2022
—E-=
HK$'000
FET
At fair value BAREE
At beginning of year REAT 1,482,738 1,422,582
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERASBRER 764 382
Fair value (loss)/gain on KEMEZ ANEBE
investment properties (B18), W (4,206) 832
Currency translation differences HHE N (102,305) 58,942
At end of year RER 1,376,991 1,482,738
(i) Amount recognised in consolidated income (i) RGEEREBRITERZRENES
statement for investment properties as follows: T

2023 2022
—8=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TR TERT
Rental income HelwA 48,293 50,010
Direct operating expenses REEAESHA
from properties that ZEEE
generated rental income AR (8,537) (9,576)
39,756 40,434
(i) Non-current assets pledged as security (i) ERHERBEE
Investment property of approximately #71,376,400,0008 T 2R E W % (=
HK$1,376,400,000 (2022: HK$1,482,096,000) T = — 4 : 1,482,096,00078 7 ) K ##
was pledged as collaterals for certain of the B & 7K 22 B 49 380,804,000 ;o (= &
Group's bank borrowings of approximately Z % - R1718 5 £9418,880,000%8
HK$380,804,000 (2022: bank borrowings of 7T ) B E TR AT E R (M 51 32) 2
approximately HK$418,880,000) (Note 32). m °
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15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(iii) Valuation technique

As at 31st March 2023, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,376,991,000 (2022:
HK$1,482,738,000) were stated at open market
value based on valuations assessed by an
independent professional qualified valuer and
reviewed by the directors.

The following table analyses the investment
properties carried at fair value, by valuation

method.

Fair value hierarchy

15 REWE(HE)
(iii) {HEHA

WZEZ=F=A=+—1" %xé?%%
#71,376,991,0008 T(Z&T =~ —
1,482,738,0008 ) IR B HE A
AR EEMTH 2 EELARTEYR
NAEEERH -

TRABEEDTAR R BESIERZER

RAEEER

Description

Recurring fair value KEEQNEE
measurement e
— Commercial units — BT
— Mainland China — R K RE

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2023 using
R-B-_=%=A=+-H
ERATHERETZAAEBERE
Quoted prices
in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
assets inputs inputs
RERT S EXRHM EDN
BREEE CIE £ T BE
ZRE BAHE WAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(%5—F8) (%5=F8) (%5=F8)
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
THET THET THET

— — 1,376,991
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e TSR R M R

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

15 BEY=(E)
(iii) fEE BT ()
AREEERH)

Description

Recurring fair value KEEQAEE
measurement B
— Commercial units —HEET
- Mainland China — PR K

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2022 using
R-ZB-_F=A=+—H
ERATHEBETZAAEBENE
Quoted prices in Significant
active markets other Significant
for identical observable  unobservable
assets inputs inputs
IR ™S BEAHEAM BX
BEEE CIE-7E TAEER
ZRE (PN ¢ WASE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—FE) (F=FE) (=)
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T TExT

— — 1,482,738
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3)

15 REWE(HE)
(iii) fEEM (&)

FE(EZE)

BHEATTEFBARBEZ LA EE

Mainland
China
SN

HK$'000
TR

As at 1st April 2022 R-E-__FWA—H 1,482,738
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERIBRER 764
Fair value loss on investment properties WEME 2 ARBEEEE (4,206)
Currency translation differences EkE S (102,305)
As at 31st March 2023 RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 1,376,991
Total unrealised loss for the year included RZEZ=F=A=+—H

in the consolidated income statement i EENAFEFT AGEEER

for assets held at 31st March 2023 2 AREB BB (4,206)
As at 1st April 2021 R-ZE-—FMA—H 1,422 582
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HERIBRER 382
Fair value gain on investment properties "EYEZ AABEKE 832
Currency translation differences EEIE N =B 58,942
As at 31st March 2022 R_ZT-_—_F=ZA=+—H 1,482,738
Total unrealised gain for the year included RZZEZ=ZF=A=+—H

in the consolidated income statement I EENAFEFTAGEEER

for assets held at 31st March 2022 2 AREBR W B 832
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15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant

unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued)

Information about fair value measurements using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the
investment properties in Mainland China are as

follows:

15 REWFR(E)
(iii) fHERM(E)

2 ERMT :

BHEXT TBFEBABBEL LA EE
FrE(E=F) ()

BERARPBEAENREYMEERERT
AIBREARER(E=F) 2 AREE:

Fair value

(HK$’000)
ANEE
(F&x)

As at 31st March 2023
R-ZZE-=5=A=1-H
1,376,991

As at 31st March 2022
R-ZE-—%=A=+—H
1,482,738

Valuation
technique

fh {5

Income capitalisation
approach

W EA(LE

Direct comparison
approach

EREBE

Income capitalisation
approach

W ER{LE

Direct comparison
approach

EREBE

Range of
Unobservable unobservable
inputs inputs
T & FUBE
BAYE BANEBER

Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00%
market
yields
BRENS 4.00% Z 5.00%
s %
Adjusted Car park:
units’ rates RMB300,000/space
BRBEMER FEg !
AR¥300,000 T/ Ef
Adjusted 4.00% to 5.00%
market yields
REmG 4.00% £5.00%
Ka%
Adjusted units’ Car park:
rates RMB300,000/space
EHEENER B2
AR 300,000,/ EfiL

Relationship of
unobservable inputs
to fair value
FABEEAARER
NEEZEE

The higher the adopted
yields, the lower
the fair value

RESIEES
DMAEEBE

The higher the adopted
units’ rates, the higher
the fair value

ERGENERES
NEESES

The higher the adopted
yields, the lower the
fair value

ERBREXES
RABERE

The higher the adopted
units’ rates, the higher
the fair value

BRMEfERER
RBEES
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and
qualified valuer to determine the fair value of the
investment properties at the end of each financial
year. As at 31st March 2023, the fair value of the
investment properties owned by the Group was
determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2022:
Same).

The Group’s finance department reviews the
valuations performed by Knight Frank Petty
Limited for financial reporting purpose. These
valuation results are then reported to the Group's
management for discussions and review in relation
to the valuation processes and the reasonableness
of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is
derived and evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yields

The adjusted market yields have been determined
by making reference to the investment returns
implied from recent sale transactions, with
adjustments to reflect the differences between
the comparables and the investment properties
in terms of location, building quality and other
factors.

Adjusted units’ rates

The adjusted units’ rates have been determined
by making reference to the comparable market
transactions of similar properties, with adjustments
to reflect the differences between the comparables
and the investment properties in terms of time,
location, environment and other factors.

15 REWHE(E)
(iii) fHERM(E)

REYWEN A EBE
REBREIINDIB Y M A BREEME
TREVBREEREBEDEZANE
B -R-ZE-=ZF=ZA=+—H @K
SEBEBEZREMEZ ANEBEER
R AEBMITAERAREBEE(ZE=_Z
F - MER) -

7 B 2 B 7 0P 9t 0 7 5 5 2 B
Y8 BT AR A FIEE 2 (518 - AR
HEARAEEAAEREEEER -
DA k1 R I R A (A MO A SRS
SRR ©

AEBFRANETEFE = ARKRE M
R

RPETHWRRERTIE2ENMEER
SEERENREHEARKRALR
MEREREMEENE  BFEERE
AR EZEZR) TAERE °

BABENER
KRPABRBMNERDE2ERORENE
Z AT BT 45 AR (R S B A RBR AT L
BWERREMEERRE  LE  RE
REMARTEZZR) TRETE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FIN
e RS R AR MY AE

16 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

ANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 #HE
AHEREEE (S ARBAREA) 2 EH -

(i) REEUBRRREIZESHE

RAEMBHARREINATEBEREZ
A

2022
—s-—

HK$'000
T

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land use rights + x5 P AE 8,211 8,413
Sites, outlets, offices and warehouses T & - BAEREE 2,785 19,976
10,996 28,389

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current D 4,482 17,772
Non-current IERE 138 4,642
4,620 22,414

No additions to the right-of-use assets during
the year ended 31st March 2023 (2022:
HK$33,166,000).
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NOTEST()THE(]DNSCHMDATEDFWNANKHALSTATEMENTS
e R E

16 LEASES (CONTINUED) 16 HE (&)
(ii) Measurement of right-of-use assets (i) FAREEFE
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the EHRNEAEEERTSEERRE
following types of assets: B -

Sites, outlets,

Land offices and
use rights warehouses Total
Tih - B -
TiERE BRAERER e
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TR FH T
At 1st April 2021 RZEZ—FWHA—H 8,615 4,638 13,253
Additions NE — 33,166 33,166
Depreciation e (202) (9,598) (9,800)
Modification of lease HEED
contracts (Note) 1EET (BI5E) — (8,232) (8,232)
Exchange differences MEH Z58 — 2 2
At 31st March 2022 and i ——
1st April 2022 =A=+—HEK
—E--FMA—H 8,413 19,976 28,389
Depreciation e (202) (10,065) (10,267)
Modification of lease HEEH
contracts (Note) 1EET (BFEE) — (7,091) (7,091)
Exchange differences e ZR — (35) (35)
At 31st March 2023 i
=HA=+—H 8,211 2,785 10,996
Note: 5T
During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022, the Group HE-—T-——ER-—T--—E=-H=+—HI&
has entitled rental concession from the landlords. For a lease B AEEEZARAETINHESER - YATIES
modification that is not accounted for a separate lease, the —EEBESETeRE Y MEELT  EEITH
Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of EMEE  AEERECETESNEE BB
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments ST B IR R S A T S R E R TR L E 5
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the HEEEEE o AEBEBYAEEEREEEET
modification. The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease AERE  YWEEaGETENE HEaEMm
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant CRAREAERAR Y MNEAEERGABARIE
right-of-use assets. Any differences between the adjustments of 25 — 258 R (M 6) o

lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are recognised in “other
gains - net” in the consolidated income statement (Note 6).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(iii)

(iv)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

16 HE (&)
(i) NrEEBERBERZEHE

FeBaRIINTEEERBE S

Depreciation of ERAREEZRE

right-of-use assets
Land use rights T A 202 202
Sites, outlets, offices T pEJE -

and warehouses PAERER 10,065 9,598

7 10,267 9,800

Interest expense for GiEN==R

lease liabilities 2 FBRHX 10 472 477
Expenses relating to ERRPHEE

short-term leases 53 7 1,946 3,153

The total cash outflow for leases for the year
ended 31st March 2023 was HK$9,853,000 (31st
March 2022: HK$8,378,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various sites, retail outlets,
offices and warehouses. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 year to 3
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JE/#&Ht AR AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 BLEE
Customer
Distribution contracts
Goodwill rights (Note)
EFEHN
[k 5 o R (HyaE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx TET TET
At 1st April 2021 RZE-Z—FNMA—H
Cost D& 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation 2T
and impairment SRS (13,158) (7,939) (3,993) (25,090)
Net book amount REEE — — 710 710
Year ended 31st March 2022 HE-—T-—4
—A=t+—BLEE
Opening net book amount HIRARES 58 — — 710 710
Amortisation ey — — (710) (710)
Closing net book amount HIRARTES — — — —
At 31st March 2022 RZZBZZFR
and 2023 —E-=F=ZA=+—H
Cost D% 13,158 7,939 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation RETH#H
and impairment KoR{E (13,158) (7,939) (4,703) (25,800)
Net book amount RmEFE — — — —
Note: P EE -
Customer contracts were acquired as part of a business combination, BEANTIEREBE MO — oIS - WiNUkEE R HE
and are recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition and are REAARBERER  HERBEAOANGAIERFHAINE
subsequently amortised based on the timing of projected cash flows of HIE SRR -

the contracts over their estimate useful lives.

Amortisation expense of customer contracts has been included in the RO T HE S AGSEBERTN B RITHRE
“general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income H o
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 18 €T ESE
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AREBHAN TR ITA
2022
—&-=
HK$’'000
FHET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REERAY RS REE
— Trade and other receivables — FEUBR SR R EL Ath PR UL BR 5K
(excluding non-financial assets) (TBiEEEmEE) 463,164 558,312
- Pledged bank deposits — BRI ER 11,680 43,071
— Cash and cash equivalents -BekReEE 147,485 188,931
Financial assets at fair value through BAREERFABRZ
profit or loss CREE 3,701 3,908
Financial assets at fair value through RARBEFAEZMEEIRA
other comprehensive income ZERMEE 4,652 2,749
Derivative financial instruments TEemT A 1,668 1,202
632,350 798,173
Financial Liabilities eMas
Liabilities at amortised cost REIER AR 2 BtE
- Borrowings — &8 1,433,319 1,498,958
— Trade and bill payables —ERERREE 204,056 433,562
- Other payables (excluding — B A TR
non-financial liabilities) (TBiEFEamafE) 36,964 42 114
- Lease liabilities —HEaE 4,620 22,414
Derivative financial instruments PESBIA = 18
1,678,959 1,997,066
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e M EE IR AR MY AT

19 SUBSIDIARIES 19 MYB A A
Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March RZE-_=F=A=1+t—"HBHNTEMBERA
2023 are as follows: HENMT -

Particulars of
issued share capital/
registered capital
BRIRE/
HMER 2 #E

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
HEMAL/ R %

Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
KRR
BARGEAL

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TEXH
REEHY

Name of entity

Ly 5 REAERME

2023
==

g ——

2022
—E-CE

Asia Infrastructure Resources ~ Cayman Islands, HK$0.2 100% 100%  Investment holding
Group Limited limited liability company in Hong Kong
TMEREREEARAR FEHE  ARAA 0.2%7 REBRERR
Fanrich Consultants Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Provision of investment
(Shanghai) Limited” limited liability company consultancy services in
Mainland China
KEREFA(LE)RRAR mEAKE  BREEAF AR 10,000,000 R BAREREREFARS
Hongkong and Shanghai Cayman Islands, US$s 100% 100%  Fund Management outside
Land Capital Ltd. limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEREERERAA REHS ARELAR S REBRPEAREN
HEESEE
Hongkong and Shanghai British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in
Land Group Limited limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEMESEERAA ERBAES  BREMLA 1%7T REARTEAERELER
Hongkong and Shanghai Land  British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Fund Management outside
Management Limited limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
BEBEERERAA RERKES  BRAEMLATA ES REERPEARSEN
HEESEE
HSL Asset Management Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of management
(HK) Limited limited liability company services in Hong Kong
BEEEEE(ER)BRAA &% BRALLF 1A REBRUEERG
HSL Investment Advisory Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Provision of investment
(HK) Limited limited liability company advisory services
in Hong Kong
BAREHA(EE)RRAR &% BARELAF 1A REBRHEREFARE
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% 62% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong
and Mainland China
BHERRA ABRAES  AREMARA 100%7T REARTEAERELER
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang Mainland China, RMB26,700,000 83.3% 83.3%  Stockholding and trading
International Trading Co., Ltd.* limited liability company of steel in Mainland China
LBEEEREREHARAR REAKE  BREEAT ARE RAEAEFEREERE
26,700,000 7T
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

19 HE2A R ()

Name of entity

ER2R

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
AR/ R

RiERERME

Particulars of
issued share capital/
registered capital
BRTRE/
EMER 2 #E

Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
RAAES
RAERB A

2023
e

— ==

2022
—E——

———

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TERH
REEHH

Top Bloom Group Limited British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and
Mainland China
RERAES  AREMARA 1%7T REARTEREREER
Van Shung Chong (B.V.1.) British Virgin Islands, USse 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited (i) limited liability company in Hong Kong
ERRLES  AREMARA E REBREZR
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary and 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
EIBETRB AR &% AREARH 2,000 BT LB RERREERRE
210,000,008 7T
ERFEELERN
VSC Building Products Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company and kitchen cabinet
in Hong Kong
EIRSREMBARRA &% ARELAA 2B REBEERAZEREHE
VSC Building Products (Macau) Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
Company Limited limited liability company in Macau
BIREREMH(RM)ERRA  RF ARELAT 2% 30,0007 REMEEEAZE
VSC Construction Steel Hong Kong, HK$156,568,000 100% 100%  Provision of steel
Solutions Limited limited liability company processing services in
Hong Kong
BIRSRERETRARRA B8 BREELR 156,568,000 57T RERREAE TR
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary and 100% 100%  Stockholding and trading
limited liability company HK$20,000,000 of steel in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
BIREHE AR AT B BREMATA 38,0007 & R REBFHEREERE
120,000,000/ 7T
BRFEELERN
VSC Steel Processing Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Holdings Limited limited liability company Kong, and provision of
logistic and management
service of steel
EIBE MM MIARBRAA &% ARELAA 1B REBREERR AHEE

RENARERRE

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited |
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

19 HE2A R ()

Name of entity

ER2R

Place of incorporation/
establishment and
kind of legal entity
MR,/ B 5

RiERERME

Particulars of

issued share capital/

registered capital
BRITRE/
EMER 2 #E

Percentage of
equity interest attributable
to the Company
RAAES
RAERB A

2023 2022
I P

— == ———

Principal activities
and place

of operations
TERH

REEHH

VSC Steel Processing Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Operation of the land
limited liability company situated in Tsing Yi
EIBEBHMIERAR 78 EREALH AT EefiRER T
LENREZERAF Mainland China, RMB479,130,000 100% 100%  Property investment
limited liability company in Mainland China
REAE - BREELA AR#479,130,0007 RABREEITHERE
HEIRELEARAT Mainland China, RMB92,835,165 100% 100%  Property investment in
limited liability company Mainland China
PEARE - BREEAA AR 92,835,1657T RABEREEITYERE
LERZEEERERAR Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of asset and
limited liability company investment management
services in
Mainland China
MEAKE  BREEAF 20,000,000 &7 RPEAERHEEER
REEBRK
LENEEHELLBRAR Mainland China, 1$$2,000,000 100% 100%  Property agent in
limited liability company Mainland China
PEAE - BREEAA 2,000,000 7T R EREREDEAE
FlRRERE Z(LE)BRAE  Mainland China, 1S$6,500,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
MEAKE  BREEAF 6,500,000% T RABREEEGARA
BIES(LB)P£EEARAR  Mainland China, US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company service and trading of
sanitary wares and
kitchen cabinets
in Mainland China
MERE - EREELAF 7,280,000% 7T R B AR REERRE
DREEGAZARER
RE-SBMBRAF Mainland China, RMB 10,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares
limited liability company in Mainland China
PEAE - BREELA AR%10,000,0007C RAEAEEEGARA
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19 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

Note:

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly
by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held

indirectly.

* The English translation of these entities is for reference only. The
official names of the companies established in the PRC are in

Chinese.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

Set out below are details of the principal investments in
an associate and a joint venture of the Group as at 31st
March 2023 and 2022. The entities listed below have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which
are held directly by the Group.

20

BESEANRZKRE

LATE#HIAEER - E_=F R =T

“A=Zt+—Hz—HBERFTL—HAEA
RIZEBREFHG - LTAHE
BRZEA  AAEEEREEFS -

T REARE

Place of
business/country % of Nature
establishment/ ownership of the Measurement Carrying
Name of entity incorporation interest relationship  method amount
EENE/
EREH AR LE R BEREEZAIL BEMEE stRA FEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EC= —ECC —EC= —ECC
HK$’000 HK$'000
TA% | Thn
HSL Shanghai Office Mainland China/ 15% 15%  Jointventure  Equity method 258,557 289,056
Partners | Limited British (Note i)
(*HSO") and its Virgin Islands
subsidiaries
(collectively as
*HSO Group*”)
HSL Shanghai Office REARE/ AEDR B
Partners | Limited HEERTHE (M)
(THSO) REMB AR
(BHBIHSO£E"])
Skyline Holdings (BVI) Mainland China/ 5% 5%  Associate Equity method 54,561 58,719
Limited (“Skyline”) British (Note ii)
and its subsidiaries Virgin Islands
(collectively as
“Skyline Group*”)
Skyline Holdings (BVI) ~ HEIARE,/ NG| R
Limited ([ Skyline ) HERETHS (F&E )
REMEAF
(5:78[ Skyline £+ )
Total investments 313,118 347,775
accounted for using
the equity method
WEREARNREEE
* HSO Group and Skyline Group are private entities with no quoted * HSO % B K Skyline EE AL EEE  WEAA

price available.

FIRE o
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

HSO Group is principally engaged in property investment and
fund management business in Mainland China and is owned as
to 15% by Plentiful Praise Limited (“Plentiful”) (an indirect 62%
owned subsidiary of the Company) and 85% by Reco Wisteria
Private Limited ("RECQO”) (an independent third party).

As at 31st March 2023, HSO Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$586.9 million. Among
the total current liabilities, bank borrowings amounting to
approximately HK$609.6 million was classified as current
liabilities, of which HK$512.0 million and HK$97.6 million
will be due for repayment in July 2023 and September 2023,
respectively, while HSO Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$30.0 million.

In view of the current portion of bank borrowings of
approximately HK$609.6 million will be matured within a
12-month period from 31st March 2023, HSO Group is in
advance negotiations with various banks for refinancing options.
Subsequent to 31st March 2023, HSO Group has received a
signed agreement for facility amounting to HK$500.0 million. In
addition, HSO Group has received an indicative term sheet from
a bank for facility amounting to HK$97.5 million. HSO Group
is in the process of finalising the terms of the binding credit
facilities agreements with the bank. The directors of HSO Group
have a reasonable expectation that HSO Group will obtain all the
necessary approvals and the binding borrowing agreements will
be signed in due course.

According to the shareholders agreement of HSO Group, in the
event that further capital is required for the operation of HSO
Group, the Group would have to contribute up to approximately
HK$122,389,000 upon request.

An indirect subsidiary of the Company has entered into a
management service agreement with HSO for providing
management service of its properties. The management service
income is disclosed in related party transaction (Note 39).

Skyline Group is principally engaged in property investment
and fund management business in Mainland China and is
owned as to 95% by Apollo Skyline Holding Limited (“Apollo”)
(an independent third party) and 5% by Top Bloom Group
Limited (“Top Bloom”) (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company). Apollo and Top Bloom have committed to make
a contribution to Skyline in the form of shareholder loans of
US$190,000,000 and US$10,000,000, respectively. As at 31st
March 2023, Top Bloom has contributed capital, aggregated
to US$9,645,000, equivalent to approximately HK$75,744,000
(2022: US$8,570,000, equivalent to approximately
HK$67,315,000). An indirect subsidiary of the Company has
entered into the management service agreement with Skyline for
providing management service. The management service income
is disclosed in related party transaction (Note 39).

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had commitment in respect
of investments accounted for using equity method, if called, of
approximately HK$125,179,000 (2022: HK$133,243,000).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited | JEBEAIERERA
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(iii)

HSOSRBFZRFBEAENEEMERERES
BEER  HAMWMAERAR([ER] BEAQF
% 562% < @ #% I & 1~ 8 ) % A 15% & B Reco
Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] - BB E=
77 )HEH 85% °

R-T-ZF=ZA=+—H HSOL£ERHEE
BAHERBEELNSCIEEBT RRBBER
o BITIEEE6EEE T EARDE
& HF51208 88T R76EEETED A
RZEZ=F+ARZZS-_=FNAZHEE M
HSOSEMR & MRS FELAI0.08EHT ©

ER4609.6 BEEBTIRTEENRHRI BN
E == A=+ B+ @A BRI -
HSOSRBEIRATHEZHMRITMBRE S RETHE
e RZZT_=F=FA=1+—H% HSOKEE
BEEEMNE  HptESHIES00.088BT - It
ShHSORERE B —MRITHIGREESREI7TSA
BB TR R M IEFHEE - HSO £ B [E 8% R1T
%Hﬁmﬁﬂmméﬂémﬁmﬁﬁﬁ éﬁme
HSOSBEE=ABBEHHSOEEBSREME L
ZHE B BENRNINEE W H hﬁm%ﬂ%

RIBEHSO R B B R 15 3% - fHEHSORE R &
BEREZAT WAKEARERLESEZN
122,389,000/ 7T

KRR — R E AR BHSORT LB 2R
i - REYERHEERY - EERBRAR
BRI 25 (FHEE39) -

Skyline EEFZRFBEAERETEHERE R
H 4B L E HfApollo Skyline Holding
Limited ([Apollo] * B 28 =757 ) B 95% &
/M Top Bloom Group Limited ([Top Bloom] *
BARNREE2ENB AR )HEAB 5% ° Apollo &
Top Bloom 7 & LA B 3 B 3k /2 3\ 1@ Skyline 7 3
H & 190,000,000 3% 7t } 10,000,0003 JC » 7 =
T_=F=HA=+—H Top BloomBE& #H#&
9,645,000 Tt (B E R 475,744,000 70 ) (=&
Z =% : 8,570,000 % T + HHE 467,315,000 75
JT) o ARARM— KB A R 2 £ Skyline 532
EBRGHE - NRHEBRYE - ERRBEAR
BHsE 5 22 SR R (MIE39) ©

RZEZ=F=ZA=+—8 AEEREREFE
iR A AR 2R E 2 &IEX 125,179,000 7T
(=== — 4% :133,243,000/87T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 20

EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

The movements of interests in associate and joint
venture are as follows:

e R R M

BREBSEARZRE(E)

—E-= —E-C
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER TAT
At beginning of year REH 347,775 337,430
Share of loss of investments accounted JE(RIRIELRAARZ
for using the equity method KA EE (11,297) (12,550)
Contributions (Note) & (FEE) 8,429 7,201
Currency translation differences BEE R ERE (31,789) 15,694
At end of year RER 313,118 347,775
Note: Fsx -

Apollo and Top Bloom committed to make a contribution to Skyline in
the form of shareholder loans of US$190,000,000 and US$10,000,000,
respectively. During the year ended 31st March 2023, Apollo and
Top Bloom have together contributed US$20,425,000, equivalent to
HK$160,158,000 (2022: US$17,557,000, equivalent to HK$136,821,000)
and US$1,075,000, equivalent to HK$8,429,000 (2022: US$925,000,
equivalent to HK$7,201,000) into Skyline, by way of interest-free
shareholder loans, respectively. These shareholder loans are interest
free and the repayment of which requires an unanimous approval of all
directors of Skyline. As such, these shareholder loans are regarded as
part of the investment in the associate.

Apollo 82 Top Bloom 4 5 Bll LARR 3 & 71 = A Skyline
¥ & 190,000,000 % 7T 5 10,000,000 % ¢ » REE-F
Z=F=ZA=+—HILFE ' Apollo & Top Bloom E % 7l
LA B AR B 72 2 2[R M Skyline 7+ & 20,425,000 %
TL(HE% 1 160,158,000 7T ) (== = — 4 : 17,557,000
FE 00 8% 7% 136,821,0007% 7t ) & 1,075,000 3% Jt (48
£708,429,000 L) (T4 : 925,000%7‘5 sk
7,201,000870) - ZERRERARS - MEBEREE
Skyline2BEFE—BRE - Bt - %Z%H&‘%Eﬂ%&ﬁz%
REEREHRE 2 —5D -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

20 BEZEARZKRE(HE)

Summarised financial information for a joint
venture and an associate

BELARRBENRAVBERME

The tables below provide summarised financial
information for the joint venture and the associate that
are material to the Group. The information disclosed
reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the relevant joint venture and associate
and not the Group’s share of those amounts.

TERERBASEMEBEZZAZAALK
BERRZHBEHRME - IEREZEHRKR
BREJINIERE G E D E MBS R R M B HRE
A2 MIAKREZEBESE -

190

HSO (Note (i)) Skyline (Note (ii))
HSO (Ff & (i) Skyline ( Kz (ii)
2023 2022 2023 2022
31st March 31st March = 31st December = 31st December
—2-= —E-C —E-= —EB-C
SHSEH BIEEE t-A=1-F N
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T TAT TR TR
Summarised statement of HBRRERE
financial position
Cash and cash equivalents BeRHe5E 30,036 1,842,626 78,535 86,280
Other current assets Hip e EE 37,884 52,324 35,512 42,536
Total current assets RBEEEE 67,920 1,894,950 114,047 128,816
Financial liabilities and total SEARR
current liabilities THEEER (654,860) (1,923,989) (191,640) (203,944)
Investment properties REME 4,076,438 4,384,688 1,687,185 1,807,574
Other non-current assets EERBEE 1 6 1,963,563 2,233,946
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 4,076,439 4,384,694 3,650,748 4,041,520
Other non-current liabilities EfERmaE (1,765,784) (2,428,617) (2,528,958) (2,838,805)
Net assets BEFE 1,723,715 1,927,038 1,044,197 1,127,587
Summarised statement of PABGAME
comprehensive income
Revenue WA 127,043 142,120 157,341 179,191
Fair value gain/(loss) on REMEZ AR
investment properties EEkE/ (BB) (6,183) 4,333 23,524 135,845
Finance income BISU A 748 1,040 — —
Finance cost HBER (119,647) (123,480) (127,579) (137,927)
Loss before tax BREiAIEE (46,247) (43,815) (101,203) (96,850)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBiEe/ (%) 1,546 (1,083) 9,355 (19,451)
Loss for the year FEFBA (44,701) (44,898) (91,848) (116,301)
Currency translation differences ERERER (158,625) 91,327 (160,007) 39,875
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ FEZ2EMA,/
for the year (B1E)adE (203,326) 46,429 (251,855) (76,426)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint venture
and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information for
individually material joint venture and associate
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information

presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s
interests in the joint venture and the associate.

e R R M

20 BEFEARZKRE(H)

SERNAIRBEARAMBERNME (&)
EFIEAEERARBERAZHBEEHHE
#Hir

FIERVBENBMEREAKERE
BENR e 2 RES U -

FNETDS3

2023 2022
—8-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET T
Summarised financial information HBEEREE
Net assets at beginning of year REN 2 BEFHE 3,101,404 2,987,381
Capital injection by shareholders BERZFE
(Note (iii)) (P =E (iif)) 168,580 144,020
Loss for the year FEEE (136,549) (161,199)
Currency translation differences HHE N ERE (318,632) 131,202
Net assets at end of year RERZEEFE 2,814,803 3,101,404
Investments accounted for using fFAREREAR
the equity method ZIE
— Carrying value —REE 313,118 347,775

Notes:

(i) HSO engages external, independent and qualified valuer to
determine the fair value of the investment properties at the end
of the financial year. As at 31st March 2023, the fair value of
the investment property was determined by Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (2022: Same).

As at 31st March 2023, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of HSO’s subsidiaries in Mainland China
amounted to HK$227,451,000 (2022: HK$229,637,000). Deferred
tax liabilities of HK$11,373,000 (2022: HK$11,482,000) have
not been recognised in its consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of the withholding tax that would be payable
on the distribution of these retained profits as HSO controls the
dividend policy of its subsidiaries in Mainland China and it has
been determined that it is probable that such retained profits will
not be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Bt

(i) HSOZEHNEBIE L & EHZ (L EAD - LAEE R BT
FEFERIEEMEZANBE R-ZTE=-_=F=A
=t+—8 BEMEZANBEOMERITLET
ERBHABRARBEE(ZT=4F : fiRA) °

RZZTZ=F=A=+—H HSORF HEKX
EZHBARISRAD RGN ZEREZEA
227,451,000/ jt( = T = — 4 : 229,637,000
TT) o B HSO # ihll 3% 55 R B K BE M B A Rl HI AR 2
EsE - BEBRETER RS R AT RE IR %@?;Zsﬂ%%
wH - A RS MR R R ERATEE DR
52%1%%hﬁ%IJFﬁﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁ?ﬂﬁlﬁiﬂﬁ%&a’aéﬁﬁmlﬁﬁ
&11,373,0007 jL(= & = = F : 11,482,000/
JT) °
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20

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a joint
venture and an associate (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information
for individually material joint venture and associate
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

The financial year of this associate is not conterminous with
that of the Group and the financial statements used for equity
accounting are for the years ended 31st December 2022 and
2021. This associate uses 31st December as its financial year
end, which is conformed with its holding company’s reporting
date. Subsequent to the financial year ended 31st December
2022 (2022: 31st December 2021) and before the Group’s year
end date of 31st March 2023 (2022: 31st March 2022), Top
Bloom has further injected US$300,000 which is equivalent
to HK$2,351,000 (2022: US$300,000 which is equivalent to
HK$2,340,000) to Skyline which contributed to the net assets
shared by the Group as at 31st March 2023 (2022: 31st March
2022).

As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, Skyline engaged external,
independent and qualified valuer, Cushman & Wakefield Limited
(2022: Same), to determine the fair value of the investment
properties as at 31st December 2022 (2022: 31st December
2021) and 31st March 2023 (2022: 31st March 2022). No
significant change in fair value during the subsequent period to
31st March 2023.

During the year ended 31st March 2023, Top Bloom and Apollo
made a capital injection in the form of shareholder loans for
Skyline, totalled to US$21,500,000 which is equivalent to
HK$168,580,000 (2022: US$18,500,000 which is equivalent to
HK$144,020,000).
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SENRARBEQAUHERBE(FE)

REIRBER AN BEEHHE
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(if)

(iif)

(%)

ZHERNRZHMBFEAREETR - HB KR
ROVRAERENE REBE_T__FRh-
To—F+A=T—HBILFE - ZBMERAREA
T A=+—BERENBEEFER - LEHE
BARMHREAH - - BHE-_FT-_—F+=
A=Z+—HIMBEE(ZZ== 3

A=+—HB&#B(Z2==F: 2= =-4=A1
=+—H)#1 > Top Bloom & [&] Skyline #f — &+ &
300,000 jT(HH & 742,351,000 L) (=T = =
£F : 300,000 st (40 & 7 2,340,000/8 7)) +

BR=ZZE=Z=F=A=+—RH(=ZZ==
CCFZA=tB)ASERGEEFE -

oE
==

RZEZ=FRkR=ZT=_=_F=R=+—8"
Skyline ZEEANERB L ) & B IS (LB & 1= 217
ARAB(ZZEZ_F: HR)BENR T
TZA=+—RB(ZE==F: ZF=—F+T=A
“—t+—RA)RZE-—=F=-A=+—H(ZZE=Z=
F: T _FZAZ+—RH)REVENLIAE
B RBEE-_Z-_=F=A=1+—-BWEEHH
AREBETESKED -

HE-T-=F=-A=1+—HILFE ' Top Bloom
K Apollo LA i& 3 B X = M Skyline & #£ )+ &
21,500,000 2 7t (18 & 7 168,580,000 7L ) (=&
— Z 4 : 18,500,000 7T (18 & # 144,020,000 &
TT)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERAR A

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/ 21 BEFRBSHEE (BE)
(LIABILITIES)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset EAEKAHMEHEERNMEREE
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset W7 A KRS ETTHE - LARE R — S
current income tax assets against current income tax AR ER Tl NRIERRNEEEL
liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets TS EENMELEMSHEEEWETR
and liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same Hbh E&ES ISR EESTER BT
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different SBHREEREAE A GHEEE BB,
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the T :

balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as

follows:

Deferred income tax assets: REFSHEE
- Deferred income tax assets expected —FAEIER+ AR EBIKE 2
to be recovered after 12 months RIEPMSHEE 21,744 28,538
- Deferred income tax assets expected —JFEHEHR+ —EARWE >
to be recovered within 12 months REFTSHEE 17,150 14,012
38,894 42,550
Deferred income tax liabilities: BEFTEREE
- Deferred income tax liabilities —FBHERN T ZEARBEZ
expected to be settled after EEEHAE
12 months (98,129) (102,587)
Net deferred income tax liabilities RS B EFE (59,235) (60,037)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

21 EEFREHEE (BE) (&)

The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are EIEFSEHAEFBEEE N -

as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= —E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FiBxT
At beginning of year REF] (60,037) (44,755)

Charged to the consolidated BEREREBERF NG

income statement (Note 11) (FzE11) (6,042) (11,415)
Currency translation differences EHEIE N =R 6,844 (3,867)
At end of year RER (59,235) (60,037)

AEREEMEREEN BB ET KR —
MG RDAERAZ EHRIEHE) 2T

The movements in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same
tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

EXLFEHEE -

Deferred income tax assets:

Cumulative Decelerated

194

tax losses depreciation Others
Rt
BIAESE BT E Hity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET TET THET
At 1st April 2021 ANTE-—FMA—H 48,665 9,741 513 58,919
(Charged)/credited to the ERGRAERERT
consolidated income (08),/FEA
statement (11,578) (876) 1,545 (10,909)
Currency translation HEETE 3,
differences =8 192 — 25 217
At 31st March 2022 ﬁé:giiifﬂ =+—H 37,279 8,865 2,083 48,227
Charged to the BERGAERRT
consolidated Mk
income statement (2,843) (827) (1,522) (5,192)
Currency translation BHER
differences =5 (140) — (109) (249)
At 31st March 2023 RZZE-_=F=A=+—H 34,296 8,038 452 42,786
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DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities:

21 ELEFBHEE (&E)

BEEFSHRAE

(#4&)

Investment Accelerated

properties depreciation Others Total
REW*E ETE HAt st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET FET THERT
At 1st April 2021 A—E——%A—H (98,513) (3,634) (1,527)  (103,674)
(Charged)/credited to the BERREBREETR
consolidated income (k) /A
statement (208) (641) 343 (506)
Currency translation EHIE K,
differences =5 (4,084) — — (4,084)
At 31st March 2022 RZEZZF=A=+—H (102,805) (4,275) (1,184) (108,264)
(Charged)/credited to the BERREEREHR
consolidated income (08),/FTA
statement (1,908) 562 496 (850)
Currency translation 5 HEEHE 3,
differences | 7,091 — 2 7,093
At 31st March 2023 RZEZ=Ff=H=+—H (97,622) (3,713) (686) (102,021)

As at 31st March 2023, investment properties located
in the Mainland China amounted to HK$1,376,991,000
(2022: HK$1,482,738,000) are held by certain
subsidiaries with a business model to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time, rather than through
sale. The Group has measured the deferred tax relating
to the temporary differences of these investment
properties using the tax rates and the tax bases that
are consistent with the expected manner of recovery of
the investment properties.

At 31st March 20283, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiary companies
amounted to HK$265,776,000 (2022: HK$284,606,000).
Deferred tax liabilities of HK$13,289,000 (2022:
HK$14,230,000) have not been recognised in respect
of the tax that would be payable on the distribution
of these retained profits as the Group controls the
dividend policy of these subsidiary companies and
it has been determined that it is probable that such
retained profits will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

R-ZE-=F=A=+—H0 AETHEIRF

BURFPEREZRENES

(2 F

}E,7E(

1,482,738,0007% 7T ) -

£11,376,991,000
H%

BEAREERREARENEBAR D LHE
M MIEBBYWERLE - AREHEZRF

REMFECHAZEREZH

EREEKE

WETAH R — BB R R

RZB-_=ZF=A=+—8 WERFMS

&

IR S5 ) 2 BB 1 2= %8 & 265,776,000

BIT(ZE = =4 : 284,606,000 7T) ° B

RASEZHZEMNBEARNKERE - A
ﬁEJ&mETﬁH#PMTT JL?%%EZ%%
Ea}ﬁT'lﬂ B ARERA 7R 7% F R

m%'JFFrFEH%RIEﬁﬁ#/F&E’J EHRERE

13,289,000 t(Z & = =

BIL)

14,230,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES) (CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. As at 31st March 2023, the deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$32,755,000 (2022: HK$35,259,000) can be carried
forward indefinitely. The remaining deferred income
tax assets recognised from tax losses of approximately
HK$1,541,000 (2022: HK$2,020,000) will expire in five
years from the year they were incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of approximately HK$44,209,000 (2022:
HK$50,132,000) and approximately HK$7,419,000
(2022: HK$10,909,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to approximately HK$267,936,000 (2022:
HK$303,828,000) that can be carried forward
indefinitely and approximately HK$29,675,000 (2022:
HK$43,637,000) that will be expired in five years from
the year they were incurred respectively.

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

21

22

ELEFEHEE (BE) (&)

BEFBREENEEHBEREANZBAR
RERH MR M ATEE 2 HIEEIBE
R -R_E_=F=A=+—H BEp#M
JHBEER CIELEFTS & E 432,755,000
B (— T = — 4 135,259,000 JT ) 7] KA
ERHETE - BT EEIBER ZLLF)’T
BRMEEHN1541,0008 (- T - =
2020000,%71)%1#75’\§$¢r“££¢f§9%
e

7N £2 [E 3 #E 5L 4 267,936,0008 T (- B = —
£ : 303,828,000/ Ju ) A LA SR HR A5 88
T IB 718 LA ] £929,675,0008 T(— & — —
F 143,637,000 L) 2 HEBEB(ZER
HEREEFERBAFERII) D AIERL
44,209,000 JL(=Z & = = 4 : 50,132,000
BIT)A ML 7,419,000 L (ZFE - =
10,909,000 70) Z IEEFT SR EE -

BARBEFAHMZEHBAZEH
aE

2023 2022

—B-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
Fix TER
At beginning of year REF] 2,749 4,203

Change in fair value recognised in other E’\‘/\@IEH&)\EPTJE%%Z

comprehensive income (Note 35) AREEZE(MFE35) 1,903 (1,454)
At end of year RER 4,652 2,749

Financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive
income, which is stated at fair value and denominated in
HK$, represents shares listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 23
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

e B ERAR A

BARBEFABSEZSHEE

2023

—E-=

2022
B

HK$'000
THET

HK$’000
TET

Unlisted securities FEETRES
At beginning of year REF] 3,908 —
Addition NE — 3,908
Unrealised fair value loss on financial BRARBEFABGR EHEE

assets at FVPL KEBRAABESE (207) —
At end of year RER 3,701 3,908

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
which is stated at fair value and denominated in
US$, represents the Group’s investments in a private
company incorporated in Hong Kong. For information
about the fair value measurement, please refer to Note
3.3 to the financial statements.

24 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24

BARBEFABGZEREERAAER
SRR AR TCRTHE - IEARBRN BB MK
VZIARBINERE - BAAREENEZ
R F2RMBHERMESS

PTESmIA

REEE
e Py
b - B

Current asset
Interest rate swaps — cash flow
hedges, at market value

2023
 p

— =

2022
B

HK$'000

THET

HK$’000
TERT

1,668 1,184

As at 31st March 2023, the notional principal amounts
of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts were
HK$56,000,000 (2022: HK$98,000,000), which has been
designated as the hedging instrument for the committed
interest payment of bank borrowing. Gains and losses
recognised in the hedging reserve in equity (Note
35) will be continuously released to the consolidated
income statement until the settlement of the interest.

(i) Fair value measurement
For information about the fair value measurement

of the derivative financial instruments, please refer
to Note 3.3 to the financial statements.

RZFE_=ZF=ZA=1+—H KREEWHNxX
WHIG #) 2 %% N £ % /56,000,000 7T
(ZZF = =% :98,000,000/&7T) * EHIEE
RITEFABN BT TE - 1
w2 Eh R RS R EE
B)K T BEERAIEER  BEENEE
BRIk -

(i) D2REEFE

ERANAEZRIARARBEFNEZE
# o F2RMEEWKRMESS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

25

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(ii) Hedging reserves
The Group’s hedging reserves disclosed in Note

35 to the consolidated financial statements relate
to the following hedging instruments:

TTHEEMTIA (&)

(i) HHEE

AEBERGAPMERRM AT HRE
ZEMPREEATE R T AERH -

FREH

Interest rate swaps

2023
g

— =

HK$’000
TERT

2022

—E-=

HK$'000
THET

At beginning of year REH] 1,184 (1,084)
Add: Change in fair value of hedging i : REMEEWAF
instrument recognised in R AT A
other comprehensive income NREBEZSH 1,436 1,474
Less: Transfer from hedging reserve  J : TﬁE”T/qﬂf%{%ﬁﬁé‘iEE
to profit or loss — included — 5t A% E R
in finance cost (Note 10) (3£ 10) (952) 794
At end of year RER 1,668 1,184
INVENTORIES
2023 2022
—E-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FET
Finished goods SURK 469,672 543,927
Work in progress TR 3,385 3,539
473,057 547,466
The costs of inventories recognised as expenses #92,204,338,000/% Jn(= T = = 4F:

and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated
income statement amounted to approximately
HK$2,204,338,000 (2022: HK$2,362,219,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete
inventories and write-down of the inventories to net
realisable value. As at 31st March 2023, there is a
provision of HK$9,254,000 (2022: HK$9,600,000) netted
off with the inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position. A reversal of provision for write-down
of inventories of HK$71,000 (2022: HK$1,051,000) was
included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES

e B ERAR A

26 BEWERAREE

2022
— g

HK$'000
TR

Trade receivables FEURBR TR

— from third parties —EB=7 433,347 499,352
— from an associate (Note 39) — B AR (FT3E39) 7,593 —
Bill receivables FEW =R 8,663 26,782
Less: Provision for impairment W R ERE (18,929) (16,536)
Trade and bill receivables — net FEUREBR A =45 — /558 430,674 509,598

Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open

account with credit terms of 0 to 90 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice

date is as follows:

HEHUEREXAGER R AE
7 EESMNFOEWRTE -

EWEREREBRBREBEZEZAH ZRESITN
T

2023 2022

—E-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FExT
0 to 60 days 0F60H 358,802 338,506
61 to 120 days 612 120H 29,443 101,857
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 4,154 35,368
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 17,810 23,729
Over 365 days B3® 365 H 39,394 26,674
449,603 526,134
Less: Provision for impairment W R ERE (18,929) (16,536)
430,674 509,598

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected
loss provision for trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the aging from billing. See Note 3.1(b) for further
information about expected credit loss provision.

AEETAERAYHRELENEIRRA™
EFHRRBEEEE - EhAFRHEKRER
REREHEHBERE YA ERAEE
iR I FERUERERAREERRRE
LREERERE ARBHEERERE L
E—TEREKE3 (D) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

26 TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES 26 EWERAKREE(H)
(CONTINUED)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade and FEWERRNZERE 2 REREEZSHNOT -
bill receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TERT
At beginning of year REH) 16,536 20,791
Provision for impairment, net B FRE 3,634 601
Write-off during the year as uncollectible 4 AH$4 &7~ 7] 4 (@l (194) (1,726)
Write-off upon deregistration BSE—EIKT B A A A
of a subsidiary i = (3,887)
Currency translation differences BHE L ERE (1,047) 757
At end of year RER 18,929 16,536
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables FEWEANEEFHE EAeREER -
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2023 TERZEF=A=+t—HZAREE
and 2022. FEE -
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables FERERREEFECERMSEUTIER
were denominated in the following currencies: EHE :

2022
B
HK$'000
TERT
RMB AR 110,993 173,208
HKS$ BT 312,088 336,298
Uss$ E 7,593 —
Others Efb — 92
430,674 509,598
Bill receivables of approximately HK$6,767,000 (2022: TEWZ4E 46,767,000 (T = —F :
HK$20,729,000) was pledged as collaterals for certain 20,729,000 7o) I BMIE AR S B E T EN
of the Group’s bill payables. SEERR -
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27 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

an\

.
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-

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB ERR M

27 FEMNRE -

BE R H MW RN

2023
—E-=

HK$’000
TET

2022

—E==

HK$'000
THET

Prepayments for purchases TR EREE IR 63,822 65,300
Rental and other deposits HekEMmEse 12,975 12,794
Value-added tax recoverable AJ Y Bl EE R 7,305 11,689
Others Hb 21,637 35,920
105,739 125,703
Less: Non-current R FERNES (11,681) (14,499)
Current BN ER 94,058 111,204
The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables ReENEMERERZRESELAEN T

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2023
and 2022 and were denominated in the following

currencies:

—ZFERZBEZ_FZA=Z+—HZA
BERE - WATRYEEE

L,E

2023 2022
:g:z :‘%E::

HK$’000 HK$'000

THx TR

RMB AR 18,346 10,976

HK$ BT 14,131 37,668

us$ ETT 13 70

32,490 48,714
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e R R M

28 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH 28 CIEABTER BERRESE
&

EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022

—g-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Cash on hand FERS 167 150
Cash at bank SRITIER 158,998 231,852
159,165 232,002
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BIEIRIRITIE R (11,680) (43,071)
Cash and cash equivalents HelReEE 147,485 188,931

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents
were denominated in the following currencies:

BERRITERRA SRR SE T
WA

HK$ BT 47,094 132,560
RMB AR 87,175 80,165
Us$ ETT 24,847 19,227
Others Hib 49 50

159,165 232,002

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and
cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair
values as at 31st March 2023 and 2022.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 1.1%
(2022: 0.43%) per annum. These deposits have an
average maturity of 10 days (2022: 31 days).

As at 31st March 2023, the Group’s bank deposits of

approximately HK$11,680,000 (2022: HK$43,071,000)
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.
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29
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

As at 31st March 2023, pledged bank deposits and cash
and bank deposits totalling approximately HK$76,814,000
(2022: HK$77,719,000) and HK$337,000 (2022:
HK$39,000) were kept in banks in Mainland China and
denominated in RMB and HK$ respectively. These funds
are not freely convertible in the international market with
exchange rate determined by the People’s Bank of China.

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of
credit or open account with credit period of 30 to 180
days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice
date is as follows:

28

29

e B ERAR A

BEARTER HERREE
B (&)

R-ZTE-_ZF=ZA=+—8 BHEFARTE
FARIR & MIBITFHRA £476,814,000
B (& — — F 177,719,000 7T ) &
337,000/ ;o(=Z = = & : 39,000/ 7T )
GBI RERITIE D BIAA R KB TTET
B WEEBTTREEREMEEHLRR
HIEKBABHARBITERT °

BN ERRRRE

B ER 2 MK A EBE S A EE
ZREFN#ET EEHNT30=180HT

ENEREEEREBEZEZ A RE DT
T

2023 2022

:g:z :g::
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
0 to 60 days 0&60H 178,746 358,632
61 to 120 days 61% 120 H 630 5,273
121 to 180 days 1212180 H 24,645 68,900
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 11 498
Over 365 days 838 365 H 24 259
204,056 433,562

The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2023
and 2022. They were denominated in the following
currencies:

ENERLEEEEEEER -_T-=F
FZEZF=A=t+—BZ2AEEMR
o BNERRZBATIEEE :

2023 2022
—EC-= —E

HK$’000 HK$'000

THx TR

RMB AR 34,369 79,674

HK$ BT 9,108 17,615

Uss$ EVe 160,579 336,270

Others HAith — 3

204,056 433,562
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30 ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER 30 ErFEEREMEMNER
PAYABLES
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTET
Accrual for employee benefit expenses JEFTHEEEAIS H 28,673 27,258
Accrual for operating expenses JERHE B 24,898 25,532
Rental deposits received BWHERS 12,066 16,582
Value-added tax payables FERTIGERE 3,589 2,644
69,226 72,016
Less: Non-current R FERNES (8,136) (10,403)
Current BNER 61,090 61,613
The carrying amounts of financial liabilities in accrued EiEAENEMENERZERAEERR
liabilities and other payables approximated their fair SHHEHEN-_E_—"FR_E-__F=H
values as at 31st March 2023 and 2022 and were =t+t—HBZARBEHEE WA TNEET
denominated in the following currencies: B :

2023 2022
:g:z :%::

HK$’000 HK$'000

THx TR

HK$ BT 12,069 12,405

RMB AR 24,834 29,552

Uss$ ETT 61 157

36,964 42,114
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PROVISIONS 31 #&fE
2022
—E-=
HK$'000
FTHET
Provision for onerous contracts BERL 2 BiE 24,687 33,067
Others EHAth 1,189 1,295
25,876 34,362
Movements on the Group’s provision are as follows: RNEFEE ST -
Onerous
contracts Others Total
BEEYN Hth et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THERT
At 1st April 2021 RZEZ—FHA—H 33,280 2,018 35,298
(Reversal)/addition of FRN(EE),
provision during the year REONE AR (213) 397 184
Utilisation A — (1,120) (1,120)
At 31st March 2022 RZEBEZ_F=A=+—H 33,067 1,295 34,362
Reversal of provision FA
during the year B e B (8,380) — (8,380)
Utilisation A — (106) (106)
At 31st March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+—H 24,687 1,189 25,876
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o

BB EwR M

32 BORROWINGS

32 fB&

Current BIEA
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) —(EFEBURRITE () 785,127 593,598
— Short-term bank loans (i) —RHASRITE R () 100,707 86,099
— Current portion of long-term —REARITERZANEBAES -
bank loans, secured (ii) BEA (i) 475,741 49,856
— Current portion of hire purchase —HBEAaREZANEES
liability, secured (iii) B (iii) 892 862
— Other loans (iv) —HEMER (iv) 6,322 6,304
1,368,789 736,719
Non-current JEBNER
- Long-term bank loans, secured (ii) —RHESBITER - HEMAE () 55,910 746,444
— Hire purchase liability, secured (iii) —HBEaE - HEM i) 2,432 3,320
— Other loan (iv) —H i EH (iv) 6,188 12,475
64,530 762,239
Total borrowings EE8% 1,433,319 1,498,958
Notes: MsE -

(if)

As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, trust receipts bank loans
were secured by corporate guarantee. The short-term bank loan
of approximately HK$3,441,000 was secured by the Group's
property of approximately HK$5,731,000 (2022: Nil) while the
remaining short-term bank loans of approximately HK$97,266,000
were secured by corporate guarantee.

As at 31st March 2023, the long-term bank loans of
approximately HK$380,804,000 (2022: HK$418,880,000) were
secured by the pledge of the Group’s investment property of
approximately HK$1,376,400,000 (2022: HK$1,482,096,000)
(Note 15) and corporate guarantee. The remaining long-term
bank loans of approximately HK$150,847,000 were secured
by corporate guarantee and Group’s equity interests in certain
subsidiaries (2022: approximately HK$377,420,000 were secured
by corporate guarantee and Group’s equity interests in certain
subsidiaries and in which HK$40,000,000 was further secured by
floating charge on all of the assets of a subsidiary).
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(0

(if)

R-B-=FR-_FE-_—_F=A=+—80 " K
BIETEFEBARERERE  SHRTER
JIE 493,441,000 BB AL EYE Z ERL
5,731,000 (Z T = =4 « @) {EHET - ME
#197,266,000 7% 7T 2 f2 HRER 1T E R A 2 AR
VR4 -

RZZTZ=F=H=+—H " £380,804,000%
JL(ZZF = 4 :418,880,000/87T) 2 RHIRITE
HEREEREYE 2 EH41,376,400,000 % 7T
(ZZ == :1,482,096,000/8 1) (FIzE 15) B
RIERIEE A - F#R%) 150,847,000 8 T R HIIR
TEFRCERREASEENE THEBEA A ES
EIRE( =2 = — & : 4)377,420,0008 T A D%
BRENEERE THBERRREERE - 2
40,000,000/ L — @MW B R R B B & E Fil
— R EIEIR) -
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32 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32 RE(&)

Notes: (Continued) BiaE - (48)

(i)  The Group has certain machinery financed by hire purchase (i) AEEHRGETHEBLZHREABENHKSE - HE
arrangement. The rights to the assets will revert to the ENEFRERZEBHRETHRIRS SHET
financier only in the event of a default of the terms under these BMEA
agreements.

HK$'000

FHT
Gross hire purchase liabilities HEaERE
— minimum lease payments —REEERK
Not later than 1 year TIER1F 1,035 1,023
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years ER1FETERSF 2,588 3,580
3,623 4,603
Future finance charges on hire purchase BRI ARSI E A (299) (421)
3,324 4,182
Total present value of hire purchase HEEENERE
is as follows: mE
Not later than 1 year TERAF 892 862
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years ER1FETERSF 2,432 3,320
3,324 4,182
(iv)  As at 31st March 2023 and 2022, other loan represents a loan (iv) RZZZ=FR-ZT-_—_F=F=1+—H0 HEt&
from a financial institution denominated in US$, unsecured TIERESRMEE 2 AETIMEZ B - EERL
and repayable by quarterly instalments in accordance with the BERE RGBT ERETESBAR
repayment schedule as stipulated in the loan agreement until HEZZ-_AF=A - BRIRZHFERTE -
March 2025. The loan bears interest at floating rate.
The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance AEEEREERERFHRREX ZIHBERN

with the repayment schedule: ™~

2023 2022

—EC-=8 —E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year 1FR 1,368,789 736,719
Between one and two years 1224 63,036 695,784
Between two and five years 2E 54 1,494 66,455
1,433,319 1,498,958
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32 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 32 HE (&)
Borrowings were denominated in the following EBEEUTHEEE :
currencies:

2022
:g::
HK$’'000
FHET
HK$ BT 939,298 886,825
RMB AR 481,511 504,979
Us$ ETT 12,510 107,154
1,433,319 1,498,958
The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) NEfE R EEZERANXR(GE)0T -

at the reporting dates are as follows:

RMB AR 5.4% 5.9%
HK$ BT 4.7% 2.4%
US$ ET 4.0% 2.6%
All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2023 RIE-_=ZFR-_FE-_—_F=ZA=+—8"
and 2022 are on floating rate basis and the carrying NEBRMAEEELE IR REEZ
amounts of the borrowings approximated their fair BREeSEEE A EEMES -

values.

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn REBBUTARRERZFEEERE -

borrowing facilities:

2022

—®-=
HK$'000
TERT
— expiring within one year ——FRNEH 619,441 205,778
— expiring beyond one year —— &£ 5 70,541 84,000
689,982 289,778
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33 SHARE CAPITAL 33 B
Authorised Issued and fully paid
(Ordinary shares of (Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each) HK$0.10 each)
EE ERTRAR
(BR0.10BTZEER) (B8R0.10EBITZEER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value CLHETCH value
&g 4= H{E R EE H{E
’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000
T FB T T
As at 31st March 2021 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 641,232 64,123
Less: Repurchase B Bl = = (818) (82)
As at 31st March 2022 N-_E-——F
and 2023 —E-=#=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,414 64,041
During the year ended 31st March 2022, the Company HE—_Z-_—F=ZA=+—HBItEE AR
repurchased and cancelled the ordinary shares on The AN EEBMEXIMAR AT O E RTHYE
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited as follows: BEEZIOT

Aggregate
Number Highest Lowest consideration
of shares price paid price paid paid (before
Month of repurchase E A 7 repurchased per share per share expenses)
ERRE
(e i BRXZAM SR b
R E B REE  (HMEREAXAD
’000 HKS$ HKS$ HK$°000
Tk BT BT THET
September 2021 —E-—FNA 318 0.300 0.300 95
November 2021 T -F+-A 346 0.450 0.435 153
December 2021 T -F+ZA 154 0.450 0.450 69
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34 SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company at the annual general meeting held on 11th
August 2021 and the previous share option scheme
of the Company adopted on 11th August 2011 (the
‘2011 Share Option Scheme”) was expired on 10th
August 2021, notwithstanding that the share options
which have been granted and remained outstanding
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to
and in accordance with the terms on which the share
options were granted, the provisions of the 2011 Share
Option Scheme and the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
terminated or amended, the 2021 Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 11th August
2021) and will expire on 10th August 2031. The
purpose of the 2021 Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/or to retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. Eligible participants of
the 2021 Share Option Scheme include any employee
(whether full fume or part time), executive or officers
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (including
executive or non-executive directors of the Company)
and any business consultant, financial or legal adviser
of the Company or any of its subsidiary or any other
person, who satisfies the criteria prescribed by the
terms of the 2021 Share Option Scheme. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted no later than
twenty-eight (28) days from the date of grant, provided
that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after
the expiry of the period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date of the 2021 Share Option Scheme or after
the 2021 Share Option Scheme has been terminated.
The amount payable by each grantee of options to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of
options is HK$10.00.

The subscription price in respect of any option under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme shall be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of
the grant of the relevant option and must be at least
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company's
shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the options, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited’s
daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares of
HK$0.10 each. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Board of Directors but
in any event, not more than ten (10) years from the date
of grant.
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34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

The total number of the Company’s shares issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options under 2021
Share Option Scheme and the options granted under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries to each grantee (including both
exercised or outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue for the time being. Where any further grant
of options to a grantee would result in the Company’s
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and proposed to be granted to such
person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of Company's shares in issue,
such further grant must be separately approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and
his close associates (or his associates if the grantee is
a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme, together with all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries
(including the 2011 Share Option Scheme), must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the 2021 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company and/or its subsidiaries if this would
result in the 30% limit being exceed. In addition, the
total number of Company’s shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company and/or its subsidiaries must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme (“General Limit"). Options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating the General Limit.

Unless otherwise imposed by the Board and stated in
the offer letter, the exercise of an option is not subject
to any performance target which must be achieved
before the options can be exercised or any minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can
be exercised.

The 2011 Share Option Scheme expired on 10th August
2021. No options were granted or exercised, and
2,343,649 share options were lapsed under 2011 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31st March
2023. The terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of options, if any, granted
prior to its expiration.

4 EkE(E)

RRARETE T - —FERETEETH
B RIBEARE R, E B A RME
] L 4th i IR A 51 &1 ) 35 AR A B B0 B AR
(BIREETE S ARITEANERAE) M MEWA
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SHEB A ARR D ETRMNE 1% © A&
BRAE—TREBERESERARAHITE
—E - —FBRESEIRARE R REN
BRBMEAEMBRESSE TSR
PRAERBIE MR AEBA TR ENBERE(S
BETE - SEHEIHARTEBBRE) MR
T EAAREEE(BR)ZE-—FELBH
EBTRBETHORN A REARARFSHT
Btn 1% PA L - BIRZHE — PR B ZARBRERR
BRAE FE@itE  MAEREARAREER
FHMEA(K(HZARARBBEAL) HBER
NIBRERS °
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BAREETRNAB0% © fiE K HBHE
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A ISR R E) R ok HOBT B N ) A (E AT E A
RS BRI BAE - btHh - RITRRIE
—E - FBREAEIRARR R REN
JB A A AR L A B A A 81 TR A AT
BREREMAEETHARRIRNDBEBART
THBE T - —FRERESEERAAN
NEBETRNDNI0% ( [—RERE] ) -
—RRBENAETERERE T —F8
PR =+ B AR R R R, ok HL BT B 1 ) 9 (AT
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34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 34 BREE)

Movements of share options granted under 2011 Share HE_Z_—4r_ZF-_—_F=-A=+—H
Option Scheme for the year ended 31st March 2023 EE T —FEREEE IR
and 2022 were as follows: BiREZFSHOT

Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at
price per price per i Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period Notes share Granted lapsed  Exercised

BFR% RHRH W SROGR i B HE/AN BfTE
HKS 000 000 '000
BT 7 i i Th

For the year ended 31st March 2023
BE-B-=EZA=1-BLEE

16th November 2012 16th November 2012 1,2 0.670 0.537 2,344 = (2,344) = =
15th November 2022
—5-CF I WAY:E
T-ATrH ZEICET-ATHR
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to 1 1.300 1.043 1,246 = = = 1,246
26th November 2023
:2-5@ _E- ¢+ —+ =E
T-AZTtA ZRIZET-AZTAA
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 3 0.928 0.928 2,100 = = = 2,100
19th January 2025
“E-1F ZE-n5-A-tHE
-A-TH ZECRE-ATAA
5,690 = (2,344) = 3,346
For the year ended 31st March 2022
ax BICE= ﬂ:+—ﬁ¢$§
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 1,2 0.670 0587 2,344 - - - 2,344
15th November 2022
E-C “E2-"FE+-A17EE
+ ﬂ‘f/\ﬁ ZZ::ﬁ‘l‘ ﬂ+ﬁ5
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 1 1.300 1.043 1,246 — — — 1,246
B 26th November 2023
- _E_‘ﬁﬂ'_ﬂ ttA%
TASTER CEoEt-AIAR
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to 3 0928 0928 2,100 — — — 2,100
19th January 2025
“E-1fF “5-1F-f-fRZE
-A=tH ZEZRF-ATNR
5,690 — — — 5,690

Notes: P&

1. The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 1. R-E—NMFE+ A ++HARE-_Z——FEK
17th December 2014 under the 2011 Share Option Scheme were AR E BN ETFELAEEE R T —F
adjusted for the open offer completed in December 2014. + ARk AR EEEL AR

2. The share options were vested in five tranches, with each 2. BIRESTHRE - & — 55 R = HEERER
tranche covering one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable A2 —(AISRZAfTEREERIEN RS 2 —) -
to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant options and with the 1st, F— FZ F= FUEBEREAIR=Z—Z=
2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable from 16th FNZT—=F - ZFT-NFE - _T-HEKE_Z
of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 —NEN+— A+ NBERAFTE BEE-T -
respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022. F+—H+HHIE

3. The share options were vested in four tranches, with each 3. BRSNS E - &—H0 R R = AR ES
tranche covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. Moz — (A& TERAEREN TS 2 —)
exercisable to the extent of one-fourth of the relevant options F— F- FE=RENHSBN-ZT—RFE =
and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming exercisable T—+F . B N\ER-_T-NEFHN—HA=-+H
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 A FIE BEE-Z-_RAF—At+hBLE-

respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.
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34 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

35

No options were granted under the 2021 Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31st March 2023 and
2022.

The total number of shares available for issue upon
exercise of all outstanding share options already
granted under the 2011 Share Option Scheme and
2021 Share Option Scheme is 3,346,622 shares (2011
Share Option Scheme: 3,346,622 shares and 2021
Share Option Scheme: Nil), representing 0.52% (31st
March 2022: 0.89%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st March 2023.

The maximum number of shares available for issue
upon exercise of share option not yet granted under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme and 2021 Share
Option Scheme is 64,123,231 shares (2011 Share
Option Scheme: Nil and 2021 Share Option Scheme:
64,123,231 shares), representing 10.01% (31st March
2022: 10.01%) of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31st March 2023.

RESERVES

e B ERAR A

34 BERREE)

35

BHE_Z-_=FKR-_F-_—_F=A=+—H
HFE  TERBE - - —FEBREFTIIR
AR o

BEZT——FEREFEER-_ZT=—F
BREANS SEEREMMARTEZ
BREETER BT ZRMDEHEE
3,346,622 (=& — — F & W& 5 &) -
3346622)%&&_2:—¢ﬁ%ﬁﬂié*+iu'

) (ERARFR-_TE-_=F=ZA=+—HZ
B 271 Hﬁﬁmosz% —E-__F=ZRA=+—

H:0.89%)

BE_Z——FERBEAER T _—F
BREAS SHAREOERERTE
B A PRI 2RO EAEE 564,123,231

BR(ZE——FERETE  BR_T——
FHEBREE 641232310 ) FA A

ARZE-_=F=ZA=+—HZEBBTK
AE1001%(ZE-_—F=A=+—8:
10.01%) °

it

Cumulative
Financial foreign
Share Capital assefs at currency
Share option ~ redemption Statutory Capital Hedge Other FVoCI {ranslation Retained
premium resenve  resenve (i) reserves () reserve reserve reserve reserve resenve camings
BMEE
tARRRE
EXER Az 2tk
BhiEdR Rl EEREG) EXlif bapilc 1 Hfif  SHEERE EDfE RER
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tir TEn Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén TEn Tn
As at 1st April 2021 H-E--ERA-A 426,253 1,067 80,64 19,390 30,744 (1,084) (12,145) 569 18,812 250378 823,598
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - - - - - 66,503 66,503
Otter comprehensive incomelloss)  E#EEHA/(BE)
Net fair value change of ReNBHR DNEE
cash flow hedge 2958 - - - - - 2,068 - - - - 2,068
Currency tranlaton diferences ~ SXERZE - - - - - - - - 54,268 - 54,268
Release of exchange resenve upon  HEATHERE
deregistraton of subsidiaries EiGHEL - - - - - - - - (1,131) - (1,131)
Change in financiel assefs BOABETAZRRERAR
2l FVOCI (Note 2) SRER (D) - - - - - - - (1454) - - (1454)
Tansaction withowngrs intheir - EREANEEEAHSH
caoaciy & owners EiHs
Shares repurchased FhIEL (240) - kr2) - - - - - - (322) (240)
Dividend paid #ithe - - - - - - - - - (16,018) (16018)
Appropriation of statutory reserves  REETHE - - - 3% - - - - - (39) -
At 315t March 2022 W=EZZE=f=1-A 426,013 1,067 80,46 19786 39,744 1184 (12,145) (885) 71,949 299,145 926,794
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BB EwR M

35 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

35

(&’

Cumulative
Financial foreign
Share Capital assets currency
Share option  redemption Statutory Capital Hedge Other atFvoCl  translation Retained
premium reserve  reserve (i) reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings
BOAEE
HARMEE
KARE YAz 2ith%
ROEE  BREERE i) tREE() Fubi bl EhRE  SREERE EiRE REREH
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn TEn Tén Tn Tn TEn TEn TEn TEn
As at 1st April 2022 RZEZZERA-A 426,013 1,07 80,046 19,786 39,744 1,184 (12,145) (885) 71,949 299,145 926,794
Proft for the year i) = - - - - - - - - 82,846 82,846
Otter compretensive incomeyfloss) 26284/, (55)
Currency tranlation diferences ~ SXEjZE = - - - - - - - (98,909) - (98,909)
Change in financial assets BAABEAZBRENAR
atFVOC! (Note 22) SREEZFY(MR) - - - - - - - 1,903 - - 1,903
Net far value change of BeiTRYRIANER
cash flow hedge P - - - - - 484 - - - - 484
Tansaction with owners in their - EEEANAREAHFH
caoaciy & owners EiHEs
Lapse of share option BhEH - (287) - - - - - - - 21 -
Dividend paid ke - = - - - - - - - (16,010) (16,010)
Appropriation of statutory reserves  BEETERE - - - 4] - - - - - (43) -
At 31t March 2023 W-FZZ§=A=1-R 426,013 800 80,046 19,829 39,744 1,668 (12,145) 1,018 (26,960) 366,195 897,108
Notes: Bzt -
(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund (i) EEHBRPEAESE THEBARR I ¥

(i)

Hong Kong S

and general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in
Mainland China. As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China,
the subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are
required to appropriate a portion of their after-tax profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise expansion reserve
fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined by their
respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may
be used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the
enterprise expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing
capital.

The capital redemption reserve has been established upon
repurchase of shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Set out below is summarised financial information for a
subsidiary that has non-controlling interests (“NCI”) that
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for
the subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

BB ERR M

an\

36 FIERER

TR EAHARE M S EEAOIHEY
Rz ([ FFIER s ) R P B & Bl 1O B 75 B kL
BE - BARKENERARAREMEE
HIHAT

ummarised balance sheet

EERBEREERE

Plentiful Praise Limited
BRERAT

2023

—E=E

HK$’000

TERT

2022
T

S —

HK$'000
THET

Current assets MENEE 20 20
Current liabilities TENBE (180,769) (180,759)
Current net liabilities REFEE (180,749) (180,739)
Non-current assets IERBEE 258,557 289,056
Non-current net assets FEREFEE 258,557 289,056
Net assets FREE 77,808 108,317
Accumulated NCI REtIEER R 97,786 109,380

ummarised statement of
comprehensive income

Plentiful Praise Limited

FEWMARBE EHMARLD T

2022
—E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FiBx
Loss for the period and total HRABRRGEEE

comprehensive loss g (6,715) (6,745)
Loss allocated to NCI DEFIFERER ZEE (2,552) (2,563)
Dividends paid to NCI TR FHRERESEZRE — —

ummarised cash flows

REREBHE

Plentiful Praise Limited

BHMARATF

HK$'000
TET

Cash flows from operating activities KEEE RESRE (10) (10)
Cash flows from investing activities KREESCHESRE — —
Cash flows from financing activities BEERH RERE 10 9
Net change in cash and ReRBRESEEZFEEY

cash equivalents

(1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R AR MY AE

37 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37 ZEREMER
FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax (a) BRFSHRANEAELERE RS
to net cash generated from operations is as HEEYERMT
follows:

2022
—E-=
HK$'000
T
Profit before income tax B TS H A A 93,384 83,006
Share of results of investments JEfL R A
accounted for using the AR ZIE
equity method CEE 11,297 12,550
Interest income FLEMA (755) (1,066)
Interest expenses FEXZH 76,852 62,502
Dividend income g S A (394) (657)
Depreciation of property, plant LE Y
and equipment e 6,600 6,470
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 10,267 9,800
Loss on disposals of property, HEME - REREE
plant and equipment pd it 36 96
Gain on modification of lease MEE 2 kam (1,290) (1,141)
Unrealised exchange gain RETE H Yz 3,988 2,378
Release of exchange reserve I)EPNCIE S Eis R i
upon derecognition of subsidiaries ZIEH EERELD — (1,131)
Amortisation of intangible assets BIZEE 2 HHE = 710
Fair value loss/(gain) on WEMEZAREEB
investment properties B8, () 4,206 (832)
Unrealised fair value loss on financial AR EBEFABREREE
assets at fair value through RERQAAEBE
profit or loss [E518 207 —
Provision for impairment of trade FEMER R & RRR(E
and bill receivables - net B — 35 3,634 601
Reversal of write-down of FERE
inventories [o] 45 (71) (1,051)
Reversal of onerous contracts BIERA 2 B (8,380) (213)
Operating profit before working LEESEHR 2
capital changes e W 199,581 172,022
— Inventories —-FE 67,078 (99,551)
— Trade and bill receivables —EWEE T M E 63,264 (140,113)
- Prepayments, deposits and —TENRIE - me RHA
other receivables FEUBR X 14,827 (10,773)
— Trade and bill payables —EMERER N EE (224,642) 182,518
- Contract liabilities —&REaE (35,580) 23,094
- Accrued liabilities and —EEBEER
other payables HAth fEATBR 5K (593) 18,617
Net cash generate from operations LEMS 2S5 83,935 145,814
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
iR e M EE IR AR MY AT

37 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH mERSRER(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REFEERERERT  HEWE -
proceeds from disposals of property, plant and BERREZRERESE

equipment comprise:

2023
—Eg-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
Flx TR
Net book amount (Note 14) BREFRE (T 14) 46 102
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE  HERREZ
plant and equipment (Note 7) BB (HE7) (36) (96)
Sales proceeds of disposals of HEME - BWERERE
property, plant and equipment $HE P15 IR 10 6
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) MEETEB2ABHIER
activities

Liabilities from financing activities

RMEEHEE
Borrowing  Borrowing Hire
due within  due after Lease purchase

1 year 1year liabilities  liabilities Total
—FR —F%
IMefRE IMoEE  HERE HEER BE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
TET TEr TBT TBT TET

Net debt as at RZE-—F

31st March 2021 —B=T—HZFEK 674893 779,749 6,519 — 1,461,161
Proceeds from borrowings & EFTEHA 95,680 372,452 — 4600 472,732
Repayment of BERT

bank borrowings BE (116,516)  (379,768) — —  (496,284)
Net increased in trust B ITE

receipt bank loans TEERLE N 46,800 — — — 46,800
Additions RE — — 33,166 — 33,166
Interest expenses FETH — — 477 93 570
Payment for lease liabilites/ HE&E HEEE

hire purchase liabilities 5% — — (8,378) (511) (8,889)
Other non-cash movements EfJEE & &5 30,241 (29,695) (9,373) — (8,827)
Foreign exchange N

adjustments HE 4,759 16,181 3 — 20,943
Net debt as at RZE-—F

31st March 2022 —B=t—HZ%E% 735857 758,919 22,414 4,182 1,521,372
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e RS R AR MY AE

37 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37 ZEBREREXR(E)
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing (c) METBH2EEHERE)

activities (Continued)

Liabilities from financing activities

MEEHAR
Borrowing Borrowing Hire
due within  due after Lease purchase
liabilities liabilities Total
3 HEARE HBEE meE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER THET TER TER
Net debt as at i
31st March 2022 =RA=+—-R2FEH 735,857 758,919 22,414 4,182 1,521,372
Proceeds from borrowings fEEMiGsIR 138,007 180,000 - — 318,007
Repayment of 1aLfE
bank borrowings )= (159,362)  (382,666) = —  (542,028)
Net increased in trust Bl RITE R
receipt bank loans SRR 191,529 — - - 191,529
Interest expenses FExH - — 472 169 641
Payment for lease liabilities/ HME&E /HEERE
hire purchase liabilities E — — (9,853) (1,027)  (10,880)
Other non-cash movements E’rﬁz#fﬁ% ‘) 466,565  (465,866) (8,381) — (7,682)
Foreign exchange SNE
adjustments HE (4,699) (28,289) (32) = (33,020)
Net debt as at B’\_Eiiﬁ
31st March 2023 =t+—BZFEH% 1,367,897 62,098 4,620 3,324 1,437,939
38 COMMITMENTS 38 AEiE
(@) Commitments under operating leases (a) EXEERRE
(i) Lessor () HEA
The Group leases investment properties under Z’SEEETFTT%I@%%*H"@FH
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. ﬁ&é{@% Ei‘gﬂ&iﬂiﬁﬁ
The lease agreements are renewable at the B ATISTHEERS - Eé\—Ygf
end of the lease period at market rate. As f:ﬁﬂ:ﬂ——ﬁ "ZK’K@E” Al
at 31st March 2023, the Group had total ﬁl ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁ@ﬂfg}ﬁé@
commitments receivable under various non- EXMH \fg%zg‘%igﬁ’
cancellable operating lease agreements in 27,658,000,%@(_ L
respect of rented premises of HK$27,658,000 29,800,000/ 7T) °
(2022: HK$29,800,000).
(ii) Lessee (ii)  AHEA ‘
The Group leases various retail outlets, $%@*ET§ZEH§H¢’Z R

offices, warehouses and sites under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The
majority of lease agreements are renewable
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at the end of the lease period at market rate. ﬁﬂiﬁﬁ&m °

See Note 16 for further information.

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had total e EHE—'_—_E' 'K

commitments payable under various non- SEC R ZAA MEMNE LK E
ERENTAIREZERELY K

cancellable operating lease agreements in
respect of short-term and low-value leases
of HK$622,000 (2022: HK$638,000) which
will be recognised as an expense in the
forthcoming consolidated income statement.

BB AR

el NC]

<} i 4888 25 622,000 75 52 (—
T -4 :638,000/87T) © #HR
BRMGE BT RPERBRY -



38 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Capital commitments

As at 31st March 2023, the Group had total capital
commitment of approximately HK$130,874,000
(2022: HK$133,324,000), mainly includes
contracted but not provided for in respect of
property, plant and equipment and investment
property of approximately HK$5,695,000 (2022:
HK$81,000) and commitment in respect of
investments accounted for using equity method, if
called, of approximately HK$125,179,000 (2022:
HK$133,243,000).

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The major shareholder of the Company is Mr. Yao Cho
Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”), who directly owns 0.61% of
the Company’s shares and indirectly owns 13.95% and
29.73% of the Company’s shares through his controlling
companies, namely Perfect Capital International Corp.
(“Perfect Capital”, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and 100% owned by Mr. Yao) and
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Island, in which Mr. Yao directly holds
approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect
Capital owns approximately 42.86%), respectively. The
remaining shares of the Company are held by general
public.

Mr. Yao is the Chairman of the Board of Director of the
Company.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the significant related party
transactions are disclosed below. The transactions
with related parties were conducted in the ordinary
and usual course of business in accordance with terms
agreed between the Group and its related parties.

38 &I (&)

(b) BEAEE

RZZBEZ=F=A=+—H ~&E#%
ﬁ%éﬁ%ﬁ&waw«wmﬁﬂ_
T~ — 4 : 133,324,000/ 7T )
aﬁah,ﬂﬂrﬁﬂiﬁéﬁz%% J*}%
A R B W FE %) 5,695,000 7 7T
(:;::E : 81,0007 7T ) B AEAE R
BETRIREDS ﬂ&)\ﬂﬁz&é&éz;%
FE#) 125,179,000 (T = =
133,243,000 7T) °

39 MBARS

RATEZERR AEREE(T#EE]) -
WEEFEBEARRT0.61%KM A KRB B
H 42 B% A A Perfect Capital International
Corp.(TPerfect Capital] * —HIREBRX
HeadMmizAd - Bk ERB100%
#%5) & Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (—RER 5
BREZBESEMKZ AR AkTERR
F5 B %) 48.81% #E m [ i 8 Perfect Capital
BB L42.86%Em) D RHEEE AR

7]13.95% [ 29.73% & fn - AR FIEA TG

BARFEE o

MEERRRREESIE -

BREMBHREREMBBOMABEESI  EX
BHMARXSWENT - BERHARSEAEE
HEBAMIRECERAR —REBEEKR
e i
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e MR A

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Related parties balance and transactions

Balances with related parties

39 BEARSZ (&)

(a) BABLERRERS

EARFRE )T 2 Ktk

2022
—Z=-=
HK$'000
FET
Trade receivables JE U BR 5K
- an associate —EER (i) 7,593 —
Contract liabilities aHatE
- a joint venture ——fEe% (i) — 6,019
— an associate ——[HE AR (i) 1,420 1,258
1,420 7,277

The balances with the related parties are included
in “Trade and bill receivables” and “Contract

liabilities”.

Transaction with related parties

The following is a summary of significant related
party transactions, which were carried out in the
normal course of the Group’s business:

BARARE 5 2 B ERET Al MR A R R 1%
MlataE] -

BEELTZXE
RASEEREBBIETETZEAR

BORHHMEMT

Management fee income
for services provided to

BIRBWARRMIRSE T

2023
—m— =

— A==

HK$’000
TR

2022
Sy =

S —

HK$'000
TBT

— a joint venture ——BEERQT (i) 24,109 23,938
- an associate ——MBtE A R] (i) 31,619 15,723
55,728 39,661
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R E

39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39 ARG (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Related parties balance and transactions (a) AL EHRRRS (&)
(Continued)
Transaction with related parties (Continued) HEH G 2 X5 (1)
Notes: BT
(i) During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022, (i) RBE_ZT =K _FT__F=A
management services were provided by an indirect wholly- =+—HItFE AR Fz—EEES
owned subsidiary of the Company to HSO, a joint venture BWBARIRENREBEZEBRAAEE—
of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both parties. HEEARIHSO Rt 2 BB o
(i) During the years ended 31st March 2023 and 2022, (i) RBE-_Z-_=ZFR-_ZFT-_—-F=A
management services were provided by indirect wholly- EJr HIEFE  AXRRzHEZER
owned subsidiaries of the Company to Skyline, an RAREFEE 2 ERMAEE—HE
associate of the Group, at prices mutually agreed by both M"\TSkyllnekﬁiZEfiﬁfﬁ%
parties.
(b) Key management compensation (b) ETEEEEHM
2022
—s=-=
HK$'000
FET
Salaries and allowances e KOERh 14,326 13,054
Bonus TEAT 7,834 4,915
Pension costs — defined RIRE KR —H5E
contribution schemes HREE 406 414
22,566 18,383
40 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40 HAREE
In carrying out the ordinary course of business, RAEBEKBES  AEEEEEELERE
the Group is subject to the risk of being named as EU*HEEE’JDJ?’\ RERFEMKABHESE 2R
defendant in legal actions, claims and disputes in B WAKBRL ZEERBFHEEFTERR
connection with its business activities. The nature AEBERTXAEEFRTERL ZEER
of the legal proceedings initiated against the Group R AEEDKRE MBBRBABRE EF
mainly includes claims for compensation by the RER_ZB_=ZF=ZA=+—HB E£%%
Group’s existing or former employees for work related HAEBCCRBREREABEFERAK IS
injuries. The Group maintains insurance cover and, HAEBERERTFMBTE -

in the opinion of the Directors, based on current
available evidence, any such existing claims and legal
proceedings against the Group are not expected to
have significant adverse financial impact to the Group
as at 31st March 2023.

Other than the above, as at 31st March 2023, the Group BrbiiFEIN RZE_=F=A=+—8 "
did not have any material contingent liability (2022: Nil). AEBETEEMNENIABB(ZZT =
7)o
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 4 ERFMBEMRRARRFEES
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2023 2022
—E-= —E==
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THT FiBx
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZIRE 674,803 671,304
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and TENHIE - me Rk
other receivables Ho R YR FR 120 119
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBHEeEE 1,627 3,958
1,747 4,077
Total assets mEE 676,550 675,381
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable RATEE AEA
to owners of the Company AR #E
Share capital [N 64,041 64,041
Reserves s 611,231 609,944
Total equity EREEmE 675,272 673,985
Liabilities =K
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables — fEt & & & Eith fE (S ERRL 1,278 1,396
Total equity and liabilities kBB 676,550 675,381
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e SRR EE

41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 ERRMBERARREEEE
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movement of the Company (a) EQRIREERD
Share Capital
Share option  redemption  Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
RiEE BRERE EXRERE BARS RE&RH ag
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TARL TARL TARL TARL THRL TARL
Note (i) Note (ii)
i (i) Wi (ii)
At 1st April 2021 A 426,253 1,059 80,624 53,986 41,168 603,090
MA—H
Profit for the year T - - - - 23,112 23,112

Transaction with ~ BEANZEEA
owners in their ZEHET
capacity as owners HX5

Shares repurchased 3% (240) — 322 - (322) (240)
Dividend paid ERRE
- 2020/21 special .
dividend ZERRIRE — — — — (6,412) (6,412)
- 2021/22 interim -ZB--/ZCZ%
dividend PERS - - - - (9,606) (9,606)
At 31st March 2022 R-Z==F 426,013 1,059 80,946 53,986 47,940 609,944
=F=t+-H
Profit for the year  FE &7 = - - - 17,297 17,297

Transaction with ~— BEANRBEEAZ
owners in their ShEfT
capacity as owners %5

Lapse of share BREAN - (257) - - 257 -
options
Dividend paid RS

~ 2021/22 final - - - — — (9,606) (9,606)
dividend REBRE

20223 interim  ——F-= /==& - —~ — — (6,404) (6,404)
dividend HHARR S

At 31st March 2023 H-ZE=-=% 426,013 802 80,946 53,986 49,484 611,231
=A=t-8

2022/23 Annual Report | £ 223




224

41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) The capital redemption reserve has been established
upon repurchase of shares.

(i) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal values
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired at the date of
acquisition, over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus
is also available for distribution to shareholders. However,
the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) the Company
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value
of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium account.

42 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any
material events after the reporting period.
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41 ARBMBRARREEE B

(&)

(a) FLTRERE(HE)

(0 AAREERFBEC R EBRNERTL

(i) ARFRABRBIERUWE B HUENEL
Al B An E(E 48 58 BN A B [ AT DAAE
R}z B EEMERZZH -

BREGEMN REABRE-AN-F2
AEEERT)  BABRBTA DK TR
oo ART - il (i) A D B SRR SR R AR A
TREXNEBHzBE  H()ARBZAE
REEBEENEEERDBITRAREN
(B 2 A BIARRTGBMA AR
PEIRSKERS SRR ©

42 IREHEREE

BEeMBRREMBOAREEIN A
BN HRE PR BEMBARER -
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